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PRELIMINARY COPY
FOR INFORMATION ONLY — NO PROXIES ARE BEING SOUGHT AT THIS TIME

Dear Fellow Ceridian Stockholder:

I am writing to you with respect to the upcoming annual meeting of Ceridian at which you will be asked to consider
the sale of the company in a $36 per share cash merger and elect a slate of directors.

After a careful review of alternatives including sponsored-spin transactions, potential sales of HRS, Comdata, and/or
the entire company to strategic or private equity buyers, and standalone leveraged recapitalization alternatives, we
have concluded that the $36 per share cash merger is in light of current market conditions in the best interests of
stockholders. We therefore intend to vote our shares for the merger. We are mindful, however, that in light of current
market conditions, the merger may not close. As a result, we intend to run our full slate of nominees for the Ceridian
board who, if elected, will govern the company going forward in the event the transaction does not close.

We initiated this proxy contest because we were concerned about Ceridian’s future direction. In response to our efforts,
the Ceridian board ran a strategic review process and ultimately agreed to the $36 per share cash merger which you
will be considering at the annual meeting. At the time Ceridian announced the merger, we believed that $36 per share
was inadequate, and we therefore began to pursue alternatives. Since that time, significant deterioration in the credit
and broader markets has made other alternatives less viable and $36 per share more attractive. As a result, we fully
accept the company’s recommendation for the merger and intend to vote our shares in favor of it.

Why, you may ask, are we continuing to run our slate even though we intend to vote for the $36 deal?

The conditions that in our view make the $36 per share transaction the best alternative for all stockholders also

increase the chances, however unlikely, that the transaction may not close. While we believe that the buying group is
acquiring the company on attractive terms with committed financing that is no longer available for new transactions,

they have only $165 million — approximately 3% of the total transaction value — at risk if they choose not to go forward.
If the transaction does not close, we will have a continuing investment in the company in excess of $700 million and
Ceridian will likely be a long-term investment for us and other stockholders. If the company remains public, it is

critical that Ceridian is governed by a board which is well equipped and incentivized to oversee the business going
forward.

For this reason, we are asking that you vote ‘‘FOR’’ the election of the Pershing nominees as soon as possible either by
marking, signing, dating and returning the enclosed GREEN proxy card in the postage-paid envelope or by telephone
or by Internet, whether or not you plan to attend the annual meeting. Instructions are on the GREEN proxy card.

If elected, our nominees plan to fully support the company’s efforts to consummate the merger as soon as possible.
Moreover, pending completion of the merger, our nominees plan to make no changes in management.
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We value your input and support. If you have any questions, require assistance in voting your GREEN proxy card, or
need additional copies of our proxy material, please call our proxy solicitor, D.F. King & Co., Inc., at (800) 431-9642.
I can be reached at (212) 813-3700.

Sincerely,

William A. Ackman
Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P.
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PRELIMINARY COPY
FOR INFORMATION ONLY — NO PROXIES ARE BEING SOUGHT AT THIS TIME

PERSHING SQUARE FUNDS PROXY STATEMENT
2007 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS OF CERIDIAN CORPORATION

This preliminary proxy statement is being furnished to the stockholders of Ceridian Corporation, a Delaware
corporation with its principal executive offices at 3311 East Old Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425,
which we sometimes refer to as Ceridian or the Company, in connection with the solicitation of GREEN proxies by
the Pershing Square Funds! for use at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company (including any
adjournments, continuations or postponements thereof), which we refer to as the 2007 Annual Meeting.

We intend to use the GREEN proxy to (1) vote in the manner you indicate with respect to the merger Ceridian has
proposed, (2) elect our nominees, William A. Ackman, Michael L. Ashner, John D. Barfitt, Harald Einsmann,
Robert J. Levenson, Gregory A. Pratt and Alan Schwartz, as directors of the Company, (3) vote in the manner you
indicate with respect to the proposal to ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as Ceridian’s independent registered
public accounting firm and (4) vote in the manner you indicate with respect to the proposal to approve the
adjournment of the annual meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient
votes at the time of the annual meeting to adopt the merger agreement and approve the merger. If no explicit voting
instructions are given on proxies returned to us, we will vote such proxies for our nominees, for the merger and for
Ceridian’s proposals to ratify the appointment of KPMG and adjourn the meeting if there are insufficient votes to
approve the merger.

We had originally indicated our intention to nominate Michael E. Porter as a director but Ceridian has reduced the
number of director slots up for election to seven. If our nominees are elected, we expect these new directors would
increase the size of the board to eight and fill the vacancy created with Mr. Porter. We collectively refer to our
nominees as the Pershing Nominees.

More information about the Pershing Nominees, as well as Mr. Porter, can be found below in the section titled ‘“THE
PERSHING NOMINEES’. The Pershing Square Funds, collectively Ceridian’s largest stockholder, beneficially own an
aggregate of 21,432,734 shares of Ceridian’s common stock, representing approximately 14.9% of the 144,167,384
shares of common stock reported by Ceridian to be outstanding as of July 27, 2007.

Ceridian has announced that it intends to hold the 2007 Annual Meeting on September 12, 2007, and only holders of
record as of July 27, 2007 will be entitled to notice of, and be permitted to vote at, the 2007 Annual Meeting. A
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majority of the outstanding shares of Ceridian common stock must be represented at the 2007 Annual Meeting in
person or by proxy in order to satisfy applicable quorum requirements.

The date of this preliminary proxy statement is August 14, 2007. We expect to make this proxy statement available to
stockholders with whom we discuss the 2007 Annual Meeting, Ceridian’s proposed merger, and the Pershing
Nominees. This proxy statement will be provided in definitive form to all Ceridian stockholders to whom GREEN
proxies are furnished by the Pershing Square Funds, or from whom GREEN proxies are requested by the Pershing
Square Funds, no later than the time that GREEN proxies are furnished or such requests are made.
1 As used herein, the terms ‘ ‘Pershing Square Funds’’, “‘we’’, “‘us’” and ‘‘our’’ refer to Pershing Square,
L.P., Pershing Square II, L.P. and Pershing Square International, Ltd. (which we collectively
refer to as the Pershing Square Funds or simply Pershing Square), William A. Ackman,
Scott D. Ferguson, Paul C. Hilal and Roy J. Katzovicz. The Pershing Square Funds are
research-intensive, fundamental investors in the public markets and seek to identify
investments where market prices exhibit significant valuation discrepancies compared to our
assessment of intrinsic value. Additional information about the Pershing Square Funds and
the Pershing Nominees, who are also participants in this solicitation, is provided in Appendix
A to this Statement.

No proxy card for use at the 2007 Annual Meeting is included with this proxy statement. A GREEN proxy card will
be provided by the Pershing Square Funds when definitive proxy materials are distributed by the Pershing Square
Funds to the stockholders of the Company.

If you have any questions, require assistance in voting your GREEN proxy card, or need additional copies of our
proxy material, please contact our proxy solicitor at:

D.F. King & Co., Inc.
48 Wall Street
New York, NY 10005

Toll-free: (800) 431-9642
Banks and brokers: (212) 269-5550

3

STOCKHOLDERS CAN VOTE WITH RESPECT TO the merger AND FOR THE PERSHING NOMINEES by
signing and returning green proxy cards.
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Voting by Mail. A GREEN card is enclosed for your use. Whether or not you expect to attend
the 2007 Annual Meeting, please sign, date and mail your proxy card promptly in the enclosed
postage paid envelope.

*  Voting by Telephone or the Internet. If you wish to vote by telephone or by the Internet,
please refer to the voting instructions on the GREEN proxy card. If you vote by telephone or the
Internet, please do not return your proxy card by mail.

Stockholders who have executed and delivered a proxy card may revoke it at any time before it is voted:

* By delivering an instrument revoking the earlier proxy, or a duly executed later dated proxy for
the same shares, to:
o D.F. King & Co., Inc., our proxy solicitor, at 48 Wall Street, New York, New York 10005;
or
o to the Secretary of the Company at its principal executive offices at 3311 East Old
Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425; or
* By voting in person at the 2007 Annual Meeting.
If you hold your shares through a bank, broker or other nominee holder, only that nominee holder can vote your
shares, and only after receiving specific voting instructions from you. Please contact your bank, broker or nominee
holder and instruct them to vote a GREEN proxy card with respect to the Merger and ‘‘FOR’’ the Pershing Nominees.

If you previously voted for the Company’s nominees, you can change your vote by signing, dating and returning the
GREEN proxy card to D.F. King & Co., Inc. at its address set forth above or by making use of the Internet and
telephone voting facilities described above. If you hold your shares through a bank, broker or other nominee holder,
you will need to contact your bank, broker or nominee and follow their instructions if you want to revoke a proxy or
change your vote.

Only your latest signed and dated proxy will count at the 2007 Annual Meeting.

If the Pershing Square Funds receive GREEN proxies that have no explicit voting instructions, the Pershing Square
Funds intend to vote such proxies ‘‘FOR’’ the merger, ‘‘FOR’’ the Pershing Nominees, ‘ ‘FOR’’ ratification of the
appointment of KPMG and ‘‘FOR’’ adjournment if there are insufficient votes to approve the merger. However, the
GREEN proxy card will also allow stockholders to vote individually on each of the proposals, including withholding
authority to vote for one or more of the Pershing Nominees.

We strongly urge you to vote ‘‘FOR’’ the Pershing Nominees.
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Proposal 1: the Merger

Ceridian has recommended that stockholders vote ‘‘FOR’’ the $36 per share cash merger for the reasons they set forth in
their proxy statement. We refer you to Ceridian’s proxy materials for a discussion of the merger terms, the Ceridian
board’s recommendation and related matters.

After a careful review of alternatives, and in light of current market conditions, we fully accept the company’s
recommendation for the merger and intend to vote our shares in favor of it.

We will follow your directions on how to vote your shares on the merger, and if you do not indicate how you wish to
vote your shares we will vote them ‘‘FOR’’ the merger.

PROPOSAL 2: election of DIRECTORS

We intend to nominate William A. Ackman, Michael L. Ashner, John D. Barfitt, Harald Einsmann, Robert J.
Levenson, Gregory A. Pratt and Alan Schwartz as the Pershing Nominees for election to the Ceridian Board at the
2007 Annual Meeting. In addition, if the Pershing Nominees are elected, we expect that they will expand the board
and fill the vacancy with Michael E. Porter.

Our nominees and Mr. Porter have indicated that if elected, they plan to fully support the company’s efforts to
consummate the merger as soon as possible. Moreover, pending completion of the merger, our nominees and
Mr. Porter have indicated that if elected, they plan to make no changes in management.

While we fully and completely support the merger, we believe that present conditions in the credit and broader
markets increase the risk that the merger may not be consummated. We believe our nominees would better serve
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Ceridian’s stockholders’ interests in the event of a failed transaction.

The merger is with shell subsidiaries of Thomas H. Lee Equity Fund VI and Fidelity National Financial. If they cannot
get the financing or otherwise choose not to close, the only obligation they will have is to pay a $165 million reverse
break-up fee. In financial substance, they have a right to walk for $165 million if their financing becomes too
expensive or they otherwise have second thoughts about the deal. We note that the merger agreement contemplates a
period of 30 business days after the stockholder vote to market the debt they need before closing. It is impossible to
predict whether present market conditions will improve, remain the same, or worsen by that time.

In short, while we support the $36 per share cash merger and hope that it closes, we are concerned that it may not. In
the event of a failed deal, we believe that our nominees are far better suited to maximize the value of Ceridian going
forward. We discuss our view of the incumbent board below, and we discuss the credentials of our nominees under
““The Pershing Nominees’’ later in this proxy statement.

We believe the incumbent board has managed Ceridian poorly for the past several years and would be ill suited to
move Ceridian forward in the event of a failed deal. We believe the incumbent board:

* Neglected the HRS division
* Margins have lagged those of its peers for over a decade and despite recent improvements
remain significantly below industry standards

» Failed to spin off all or a part of the Comdata division years ago
*  Overpaid for acquisitions (ABR), poorly executed others (Tesseract)
* Paid 8.1x LTM Revenue for ABR compared to the median multiple of 1.6x for comparable
transactions
*  Purchased Tesseract in 1994 for $54.3 million, invested an additional $37 million as late as
the first quarter of 1997, only to terminate the program later that year resulting in a charge
of more than $200 million associated with the termination and write off of the program
*  Mismanaged the Company’s senior ranks
* Hired the wrong people:

*  HRS management has changed hands seven times in the last decade, with no one
lasting even three years

*  The board appointed one of its own members on two occasions, Bo Ewald (2003) and
Ron James (1996), neither had relevant experience

*  Fired the wrong people:

*  Gary Krow, the head of Comdata, was fired on 5/14/2007 (and was marginalized in his
role months before then) after seven years of phenomenal performance; under his
oversight, Comdata compounded revenue at 6.5%, EBIT at 11% and margins
expanded by more than 875bps

*  Doug Neve, the CFO, was terminated on 3/12/2007 after he implemented cost cutting
measures bringing HRS to profitability, expanding margins from 0% to 10.5% during
his two year tenure
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* Failed to fire underperformers:
*  The former CEO was allowed to continue in his position despite overseeing five
restatements, failing to hire a competent executive to run HRS, and failing to bring
HRS margins to industry standards
* This former CEO’s resignation was catalyzed not by the incumbent board, but by letters
written from other senior executives at the Company
* Failed to properly oversee the Company’s finance and accounting function, resulting in five
restatements in the past three years, erasing millions in revenues and earnings
*  The Audit committee failed to properly oversee the companies financials; they met only
twice in 2001, six times in 2002, and four times in 2003; in 2004 they were forced to meet
20 times to handle the restatements
* Established a pattern of what appears to be retaliation against whistleblowers
* Two former employees, including a former Director of General Accounting, who tried to
alert management to numerous accounting improprieties, were fired
*  The two senior whistleblowing executives who authored the letters mentioned above were
ultimately terminated
* Inappropriately rewarded officers who have underperformed or acted wrongly
* The prior CEO left with almost $10 million in compensation for 2006
*  The former CFO and principle accounting officers responsible for the numerous
overstatements of revenue and earnings which inflated their bonuses apparently were able
to leave without any attempt at recouping these inflated bonuses
According to Ceridian’s proxy statement, if our nominees form a majority of the elected board, each unvested option,
restricted stock unit, share of restricted stock and other equity award issued under Ceridian’s equity incentive plans
would immediately vest, allowing the participants in those plans to recognize the value of those options, share units,
shares and other equity awards. If the top five officers had recognized value based on the closing price of $33.25 per
share on August 11, 2007, we estimate that value would have approximated $16.7 million, but if they wait until the
close of the merger, we estimate that value at approximately $19.7 million. We do not have the information necessary
to compute the values for all executive officers and directors.

The Pershing Square Funds will not control the actions of our nominees, only one of which is affiliated with Pershing
Square (two if Michael Porter is added to the board). If our nominees are elected, any decisions they make, whether as
to personnel matters, spinning off Comdata, or other extraordinary transactions will be made by them in the
performance of their duties as directors, although they do not plan to make any changes in management pending the
closing of the merger. Neither the Pershing Square Funds nor the Pershing Nominees have had any discussions with
any past or present officers of Ceridian with respect to their employment by Ceridian following a successful proxy
contest.

Whether or not you support the proposed merger like we do, we urge you to vote ‘‘FOR’’ the Pershing Nominees.
PROPOSAL 3: RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We will follow your directions on how to vote your shares on Ceridian’s proposal to ratify the appointment of KPMG
as Ceridian’s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2007, and if you do not

indicate how you wish to vote your shares we will vote them ‘‘FOR’’ that proposal.

3
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PROPOSAL 4: adjournment

We will follow your directions on how to vote your shares on Ceridian’s proposal to adjourn the annual meeting, if
necessary or appropriate, for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies to approve the merger, and if you do not
indicate how you wish to vote your shares we will vote them ‘‘FOR’’ that proposal if there are insufficient votes to
approve the merger.

BACKGROUND

We initiated this proxy contest because we were concerned about Ceridian’s future direction. After we delivered notice
of our intention to nominate the Pershing Nominees in January 2007, the Ceridian board ran a strategic review process
and ultimately agreed to the merger.

Our initial view was that the merger price was inadequate, and we engaged Lazard Freres & Co. LLC as our financial
advisor to pursue alternatives. Over the past few months, we and Lazard have engaged in discussions with a number
of potential strategic and financial buyers concerning a variety of potential alternative transactions. Based on this
review and in light of the recent deterioration in the credit and broader capital markets, we have concluded that an
outright sale of the company at $36 per share is the best of the available alternatives. As a result, we fully accept the
company’s recommendation for the merger and intend to vote our shares in favor of it.

On August 13, 2007, William A. Ackman of the Pershing Square Funds called representatives of Thomas H. Lee to
say that we fully support the merger. During that call, Mr. Ackman explained that we are continuing to propose

our own slate of directors because we believe our slate is better equipped to oversee the company if for some

reason the merger does not close, but he emphasized that the Pershing Nominees are fully supportive of the company’s
efforts to consummate the merger as soon as possible.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE PERSHING SQUARE FUNDS

The Pershing Square Funds have been stockholders of the Company since October 6, 2006, and currently hold an
aggregate of 21,432,734 shares of Ceridian’s Common Stock, or approximately 14.9% of the outstanding shares. We
acquired the Common Stock because, in our opinion, the Common Stock was undervalued.

Unless otherwise indicated, percentages of the outstanding shares of Common Stock reported in this Statement were
computed based upon the 144,167,384 shares of Common Stock that Ceridian stated in its proxy statement for the
2007 Annual Meeting to be outstanding as of July 27, 2007.

THE PERSHING NOMINEES

Each of the Pershing Nominees included on our slate is a business leader of national or international standing.
Collectively, the group has substantially more relevant industry experience and independence than the incumbent
board. Our candidates include senior executives from a wide range of industries including executives with directly
pertinent senior management experience in human resource services at ADP and payment processing at First Data.
These individuals have strong relevant business, strategic, and legal experience that should greatly assist Ceridian with
the creation of stockholder value.
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All seven of the Pershing Nominees are independent under Ceridian’s board of director independence guidelines.
Furthermore, six of the seven candidates — those other than Mr. Ackman — are independent of and unaffiliated with the
Pershing Square Funds. As previously noted, we expect that if the Pershing Nominees are elected, they will expand
the board and fill the vacancy with Professor Michael Porter, who serves on the Pershing Square Funds’ Advisory
Board.

Each Pershing Nominee has given his consent to be named in this proxy statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting and
has confirmed his intent to serve on the board if elected. If the Pershing Nominees are elected, they intend to
discharge their duties as directors of the Company consistent with all applicable legal requirements, including the
general fiduciary obligations imposed upon
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corporate directors. The information below concerning the age, principal occupation, directorships and beneficial
ownership of Common Stock has been furnished by the respective Pershing Nominees. Mr. Ackman, in his capacity
as the managing member of the general partner of Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P., may be deemed to
beneficially own the 21,432,734 shares of Ceridian Common Stock owned by the Pershing Square Funds. No other
Pershing Nominee beneficially owns any Ceridian Common Stock.

Name and Age Present and Past Principal Occupation and Directorships

William A. Ackman, 41 Founder and managing member of the general partner of Pershing
Square Capital Management, L.P., a registered investment advisor
with assets under management of approximately $6 billion.
Mr. Ackman also serves as the managing member of certain affiliates
of Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P., including PS
Management GP, LLC (serving as the sole general partner of
Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P.) and Pershing Square GP,
LLC (serving as the sole general partner of each of Pershing Square,
L.P. and Pershing Square II, L.P.). Prior to forming Pershing Square
Capital Management, L.P., in 1992 Mr. Ackman co-founded Gotham
Partners Management Co., LLC, an investment adviser that managed
public and private equity portfolios. In connection with his role at
Gotham Partners, Mr. Ackman was actively involved in the
management of a number of its portfolio companies in a variety of
director capacities, including serving as Chairman of Imperial
Parking Corporation (a parking service company formerly listed on
the AMEX) and Chairman of First Union Real Estate and Mortgage
Investments (now known as Winthrop Realty Trust, Inc., a REIT
(NYSE: FUR)).

10



Name and Age
Michael L. Ashner, 54

John D. Barfitt, 53
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Present and Past Principal Occupation and Directorships
Chief Executive Officer of Winthrop Realty Trust, Inc. (NYSE:
FUR) since December 31, 2003 and Chairman of the Board of
Directors since April 2004. Mr. Ashner has served as the Executive
Chairman of Lexington Realty Trust (a New York Stock Exchange
listed REIT) since December 31, 2006. He has also served as the
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Winthrop Realty
Partners, L.P. (a real estate investment and management company)
since 1996. Mr. Ashner also has been serving as the Managing
Director of AP-USX LLC, which owns a 2.4 million square foot
office tower, since 1998. Since 1981, Mr. Ashner has been the
President and principal shareholder of Exeter Capital Corporation, a
privately held real estate investment banking firm. Mr. Ashner also
serves on the Board of Directors and on the Audit Committee of
NBTY, Inc. (manufacturers and distributor of nutritional
supplements). Mr. Ashner served as a director and Chief Executive
Officer of Shelbourne Properties I, Inc., Shelbourne Properties 1II,
Inc. and Shelbourne Properties III, Inc. (each a REIT) from
August 2002 until their liquidation in April 2004. In addition,
Mr. Ashner served on the Boards of Directors of Great Bay Hotel and
Casino, Inc. (a publicly traded hotel and gaming company), Interstate
Hotel Corporation (a publicly traded hotel management company
acquired by Meristar Hospitality), Nexthealth, Inc. (a publicly traded
resort company acquired by management group), Burnham Pacific
Properties, Inc. (a liquidated publicly traded REIT), and Sizeler
Property Investors, Inc. (a New York Stock Exchange publicly traded
REIT).
Consultant to various private equity and investment firms advising on
potential acquisitions and investments. From 1979 until 2004,
Mr. Barfitt held various positions with Automatic Data Processing,
Inc. (NYSE: ADP), one of the largest providers of computerized
transaction processing, data communication and information services
in the world, including Corporate Vice President from 2003 until
2004 (during which time he helped develop and execute ADP’s
strategy in offering BPO Payroll/HR related services), Division
President of ADP Employer Services International from 2000 until
2003 (responsible for all facets of the employer services business
throughout Europe, Asia Pacific and Brazil. ADP’s employer services
division is the global market leader of transaction processing and
business process management services for payroll, benefits and
human resources), Division President of ADP Claims Solutions
Group (the worldwide leader of claims processing for property and
casualty and related industries in 32 countries) from 1998 until 2000
and Senior Vice President of Automotive Claims Services from 1996
until 1998. Mr. Barfitt also served as a member on Automatic Data
Processing, Inc.’s Corporate Executive Committee from 1998 until
2003.

11
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Name and Age
Harald Einsmann, 722

Present and Past Principal Occupation and Directorships
Harald Einsmann, Ph.D., has just completed a four-year assignment
as the Executive Chairman of Findus AB, the second biggest frozen
food company in Europe, which started with the acquisition by
Findus AB of the frozen food business of Nestle SA. Dr. Einsmann
also served as an Operating Partner and a member of the Board of
Directors and the Investment Committee of EQT (which wholly
owned Findus AB, and has just exited this investment). EQT is a
leading European private equity group sponsored by the Wallenberg
Group of Scandinavia (which includes, among other companies,
Ericsson Telephones, ABB Engineering Group, StoraEnso paper
Company, SKF roller bearings, AstraZeneca, Gambro
Pharmaceuticals, SEB Bank and Skania Trucks). In addition,

Dr. Einsmann serves as a director of Carlson Group (which includes,
among other companies, Regent Hotels and Resorts, Radisson Seven
Seas Cruise Ships and Thank God Its Friday Restaurants) and
Checkpoint Systems Incorporated (NYSE: CKP) (where

Dr. Einsmann also serves as a member of its Remuneration and
Nomination Committees) in the United States, Tesco PLC (LON:
TSCO) (one of UK’s most important and most successful food
retailers) in the United Kingdom, Rezidor AB (a hotel company) in
Scandinavia, and The Bata Shoe Company in

Bermuda. Dr. Einsmann also served as a director of EMI Music
Group (for 13 years until 2006) in the United Kingdom and
StoraEnso AB (one of the world’s largest forest and paper product
companies, retired from the board in November 2005) in
Scandinavia. Prior to his tenure at EQT, Dr. Einsmann was the
Executive Vice President Europe, Middle East and Africa and a
member of Procter & Gamble’s Worldwide Board.

2In the event that Dr. Einsmann is elected as a director of Ceridian Corporation, the Pershing Square
Funds intend to seek to have the Board of Directors of Ceridian amend Ceridian’s Corporate
Governance Policies and Guidelines at the first meeting of the directors of Ceridian following such
election to eliminate paragraph 11 (Retirement) of these guidelines concerning the tendering of
resignations upon any non-management director’s reaching the age of 70.
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Name and Age
Robert J. Levenson, 66

Present and Past Principal Occupation and Directorships
Founder and Managing Member of LENOX Capital Group, LLC, a
private venture capital investment company, focused on early stage
software technology and services. Mr. Levenson began his business
career at Haskins & Sells, Certified Public Accountants
(a predecessor of Deloitte), and then worked for IBM in Cleveland,
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Ohio. In 1966, he partnered with the founder of a then-recently
formed data processing services company, Central Data Systems,
Inc., a start-up that floated its initial public offering in 1968 and that
was ultimately acquired by ITEL Corp. At ITEL, Mr. Levenson was
Group Executive Vice President when he resigned in 1980. For the
following twenty years, beginning in 1981, Mr. Levenson held senior
executive positions at: Automatic Data Processing, Inc. (NYSE:
ADP) from 1981 until 1984 and served on ADP’s Board of Directors
from 1984 until 1990, Medco Containment Services, Inc. (NASDAQ:
MCCS) from 1990 until 1993, including service on Medco
Containment Services, Inc.’s Board of Directors during that period,
and First Data Corp. (NYSE: FDC) from 1993 until 2000 and served
on First Data Corp.’s Board of Directors from 1992 until 2003. His
responsibilities included general management, strategic planning and
corporate development. While a senior executive at ADP (10 years),
revenue grew from $550 million to about $2.5 billion; at Medco (3
years) from just under $1 billion to $2.2 billion; and at First Data
Corp. (7+ years) from nearly $1 billion to almost $6 billion.

Mr. Levenson’s governance experience includes service on several
boards of directors (with committee and chair responsibilities) of
public and private companies as well as not-for-profit organizations.
In addition to the foregoing, Mr. Levenson served on the boards of
directors of the following public corporations: Central Data Systems
(NASDAQ) (1966 — 1975), Comnet (NASDAQ) (1992 — 1993),
Polyvision Corp. (AMEX) (1996 — 1997), Broadway & Seymour
(NASDAQ) (1996 — 1997), Virtual Communities, Inc (NASDAQ)
(1998 — 2000), Superior Telecom (NYSE) (1996 — 2003), Vestcom
International (NASDAQ) (1998 —2002), and Emisphere Technologies,
Inc. (NASDAQ) (1998 — 2005). Mr. Levenson also served on the
boards of directors of the following private corporations: KBT Inc.
(1990 — 1992), Compliance Inc. (1992 — 1994), UCB Services Inc.
(1994 — 1996), FDI/NISA (FDC JV) (1995 — 2005), Chase Merchant
Services (FDC JV) (1997 — 2005), VIPS (1998 — 2005), and Diopsys,
Inc. (2002 — Present). Mr. Levenson was recently elected as a director
of Elite Pharmaceuticals, a specialty pharmaceutical company listed
on AMEX.

Name and Age
Gregory A. Pratt, 58

Present and Past Principal Occupation and Directorships
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of, and from 1998 until
2002 served as the President and the Chief Executive Officer of,
OAO Technology Solutions, Inc. Mr. Pratt further serves as the
Chairman of the Governance Committee of the Board of Directors of
Carpenter Technology Corp. (NYSE: CRS) and as the Chairman of
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of AmeriGas
Propane, Inc. Mr. Pratt founded Enterprise Technology Group, Inc. in
1997 which merged with OAQ in 1998. Mr. Pratt is co-founder of
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Atari Corp., serving variously as Chief Financial Officer of Atari
Corp. and President of Atari (US) Corp. from 1984 to 1991. From
1991 until 1996, he served as the President and Chief Operating
Officer of Intelligent Electronics, Inc. In May 2007, Mr. Pratt was
elected as a director of the Washington DC Chapter of the National
Association of Corporate Directors (NACD), a non-profit association
dedicated to improving corporate governance.

Alan Schwartz, 67 Sterling Professor of Law and Professor of Management at Yale
University. Professor Schwartz’s academic specialties include
corporate finance and corporate governance, mergers and
acquisitions, bankruptcy, and commercial transactions. He has
published numerous articles and books in these fields and has been
identified, by the Institute of Scientific Information, as being in the
top one half of one percent of social scientists worldwide in total
citations. Professor Schwartz has been the President of the American
Law and Economics Association and editor of The Journal of Law,
Economics and Organization. Professor Schwartz also serves as a
director of Cleveland Cliffs Inc. INYSE: CLF), chairs its Finance
Committee and is a member of its Board Affairs Committee.
Professor Schwartz further has served as a director of Rohn
Industries, chaired its Audit Committee and its Board of Directors.

Because we expect the Pershing Nominees to expand the board and fill the vacancy with Professor Porter if they are

elected, we provide the following information with respect to Professor Porter.

Michael E. Porter, 59

The Bishop William Lawrence Professor at Harvard University and Chair of the Institute for Strategy and
Competitiveness, which was created jointly by Harvard Business School and Harvard University to further Professor
Porter’s work. He has been a member of the Faculty at Harvard Business School since 1973. Professor Porter currently
serves as a director on the advisory board of Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P., has a profits interest in
Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P. and is also a limited partner of Pershing Square, L.P. Professor Porter, the
author of 17 books and over 125 articles, is a leading authority on competitive strategy and the competitiveness and
the economic development of nations, states and regions. Professor Porter created and chairs Harvard Business
School’s intensive program for newly appointed CEOs of billion dollar corporations, which guides new CEOs in
assuming leadership, setting their agenda and addressing issues such as strategy, board governance, communication
and value. Professor Porter has served as a strategy advisor to top management in numerous leading U.S. and
international companies, among them Caterpillar, DuPont, Procter & Gamble, Royal Dutch Shell, Scotts Miracle-Gro,
SYSCO and Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company. Professor Porter currently serves as a director of
Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc. (NYSE: TMO) and Parametric Technology Corporation (NASDAQ: PMTC). Professor
Porter plays an active role in U.S. economic policy with the Executive Branch, Congress, international organizations
and private groups, including the U.S. Council on Competitiveness where

9

he is a member of the Executive Committee. Professor Porter has advised national leaders in numerous countries,
including Canada, India, Ireland, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Peru, Russia, Singapore, Taiwan, Thailand and the United
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Kingdom.

Other than Michael E. Porter, who serves on the Advisory Board of Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P., which
serves as the investment advisor to the Pershing Square Funds, there are no arrangements or understandings between
the Pershing Nominees or Professor Porter and any other person pursuant to which they were selected as a nominee
for director. Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P. has agreed to indemnify the Pershing Nominees and
Professor Porter for certain losses, if any, arising from their participation in this proxy solicitation and to reimburse
them for their reasonable out of pocket expenses.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF THE PERSHING SQUARE FUNDS

10
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As of August 14, 2007, Common Stock held for the accounts of the Pershing Square Funds entities was as follows:

Ownership of Common

Pershing Square Funds Entity Stock?

Pershing Square, L.P. 9,219,7124
Pershing Square II, L.P. 135,0954
Pershing Square International, Ltd. 12,077,927

All transactions in securities of the Company engaged in by the Pershing Square Funds and the Pershing Nominees
during the past two years are summarized in Appendix B attached hereto.

RECORD DATE, VOTE REQUIRED AND VOTES PER SHARE

Holders of record of Ceridian common stock are entitled to one vote for each share. According to Ceridian, as of the
record date, July 27, 2007, there were 144,167,384 shares of Ceridian common stock outstanding and eligible to vote

at the 2007 Annual Meeting. A majority of the outstanding shares of Ceridian entitled to vote, represented in person or
by proxy, will constitute a quorum at the 2007 Annual Meeting. Ceridian has stated that it will treat abstentions and
‘‘broker non-votes’’ as shares present at the 2007 Annual Meeting for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum.

According to Ceridian’s proxy statement, approval of the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and approve the
merger requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Ceridian’s common stock.
Based on Ceridian’s Bylaws and Corporate Governance Policies and Guidelines, the nominees for director who receive
the highest number of votes cast at the 2007 Annual Meeting will be elected as directors. Based on Ceridian’s proxy
statement, shares represented by a proxy marked ‘‘withhold authority’’ will not be voted with respect to the director or
directors indicated, although the proxy will be counted for purposes of determining a quorum. Ratification of KPMG
as the company’s independent auditors and adjournment of the meeting require the affirmative vote of a majority of
Ceridian’s common stock represented in person or by proxy at the annual meeting and entitled to vote.

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE PERSHING SQUARE FUNDS
AND THE OTHER PARTICIPANTS IN THE SOLICITATION
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Information concerning the Pershing Square Funds, each of whom may be deemed ‘‘participants in the solicitation’’ as
defined in the proxy rules promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act, and their affiliates and associates, is set
forth in Appendix A attached hereto.

The Pershing Square Funds, and each of their affiliates and associates, intend to vote the shares of Common Stock
beneficially owned by them ‘‘FOR’’ the merger, ‘‘FOR’’ the Pershing Nominees, ‘‘FOR’’ ratification of the appointment of
KPMG and ‘‘FOR’’ adjournment if there are insufficient votes to approve the merger.

CERTAIN INTERESTS IN THE PROPOSAL AND
WITH RESPECT TO SECURITIES OF THE ISSUER

To the knowledge of the Pershing Square Funds, no Pershing Square Fund nor any associates or controlling persons
thereof or other persons who may be deemed participants in the solicitation of proxies for the Pershing Square Funds
for the 2007 Annual Meeting are or have within the past year been parties to any contracts, arrangements,
understandings or relationships (legal or otherwise) with respect to any securities of the Company, except as described
in Appendix A attached hereto.

3The above-named Pershing Square Funds beneficially own the number of shares listed, but because
they do not have investment or voting power over such shares, they do not ‘beneficially own’’ such
shares for purposes of Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Pershing
Square Capital Management, L.P., the investment advisor to the above-named funds, its sole general
partner, PS Management GP, LLC, and Pershing Square GP, LLC, the sole general partner of the first
two of the funds listed above, together with Mr. Ackman, would be considered the beneficial owners of
such shares for purposes of Rule 13d-3.

See ‘‘Security Ownership of the Pershing Square Funds.”’
11
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To the knowledge of the Pershing Square Funds, no Pershing Square Fund nor any associates or controlling persons
thereof or other persons who are or may be deemed participants in the solicitation of proxies for the Pershing Square
Funds for the 2007 Annual Meeting has any arrangement or understanding with any person with respect to future
employment by the Company or its affiliates, or with respect to any future transactions to which the Company or any
of its affiliates will or may be a party.

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

Based upon Ceridian’s proxy statement, which in turn is based on filings with the SEC by certain institutional
stockholders, the following persons beneficially own more than five percent of Ceridian’s outstanding Common Stock:

Amount and Nature

of
Beneficial Percent of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Ownership Class
Pershing Square Capital Management, LP 21,432,734 14.87%
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888 Seventh Avenue, 29th Floor New York,

NY 10019
Janus Capital Management LLC

151 Detroit Street Denver, CO 80206 14,170,985 9.83%
Michael A. Roth and Brian J. Stark

3600 South Lake Drive St. Francis, WI 7,416,944 5.15%

ShaRE OWNERSHIP of DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of shares of Common Stock of the

Company outstanding July 1, 2007, based solely upon the information provided in the Company’s proxy statement for

the 2007 Annual Meeting. According to the Ceridian proxy statement, each person held sole voting and investment
power over the shares listed as beneficially owned and the shares listed constituted less than 1% of the outstanding

shares. The percentages are based on 144,117,567 shares outstanding as of July 1, 2007.

(1)Beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2006, as reported in a Schedule 13G dated February 14,
2007. These securities are deemed beneficially owned by Janus Capital Management LLC. Janus
Capital indirectly owns 82.5% of Enhanced Investment Technologies LLC (‘' INTECH’’) and 30% of
Perkins, Wolf, McDonnell and Company (‘‘Perkins Wolf””). Janus Capital, INTECH and Perkins Wolf
(collectively, the ‘‘Managed Portfolios’’) are registered investment advisors, each providing investment
advice to several investment companies. As a result of its role as an adviser or sub-adviser to the
Managed Portfolios, Janus Capital may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 14,170,985 shares,
of which it has the sole power to vote or direct the vote and sole power to dispose or to direct the
disposition of 13,543,775 shares or 9.40%, and sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of
627,210 shares or 0.44%. As a result of its role as an adviser or sub-adviser to the Managed
Portfolios, INTECH may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of 627,210 shares or 0.44% for which
it has shared sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of such shares. Janus Contrarian Fund
is an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 and is one of the
Managed Portfolios to which Janus Capital provides investment advice. Janus Contrarian Fund
beneficially owns 8,512,070 shares or 5.90% and has sole power to vote or direct the vote and sole
power to dispose or direct the disposition of such shares.

2) Beneficial ownership as of July 18, 2007, as reported in a Schedule 13G dated July 26, 2007.

The reporting persons share the power to vote or direct the vote of 7,416,944 shares and share
the power to dispose of or direct the disposition of 7,416,944 shares.

12
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Amount and
Nature of Percent
Beneficial of
Name of Individual or Identity of Group Ownership(®@  Class
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Directors:

Nicholas D. Chabraja 58,045 *
Ronald T. LeMay 62,660 *
George R. Lewis 63,843 *
Kathryn V. Marinello 162,790 *
L. White Matthews, III 28,854 *
Richard Szafranski 7,478 *
William L. Trubeck 7,878 *
Alan F. White 25,452 *
Other Named Executives:

Gary A. Krow® 31,482 *
Gary M. Nelson 280,050 *
Douglas C. Neve® 28,598 *
Robert J. Severson® 170,358 *
Ronald L. Turner® 0 *
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group

(18 persons) 957,843 *
* Represents less than one percent.

(1)Includes shares of restricted stock held by directors and executive officers as follows: Mr. Chabraja,
18,604 shares; Mr. LeMay 12,986 shares; Mr. Lewis, 12,553 shares; Ms. Marinello, 162,790 shares;
Mr. Matthews, 20,540 shares; Mr. Szafranski, 7,478 shares; Mr. Trubeck, 7,878 shares; Mr. White,
4,305 shares; Mr. Nelson, 2,971 shares; and all directors and executive officers as a group, 267,910
shares.

Includes shares of common stock acquired by certain executive officers and allocated to their individual

accounts under Ceridian’s 401(k) plans as follows: Mr. Krow, 11,125 shares; Mr. Nelson, 5,001 shares;

Mr. Severson, 151 shares; and all directors and executive officers as a group, 16,277 shares.

Includes shares of stock options that become exercisable within 60 days of July 1, 2007 held by directors

and executive officers: Mr. Chabraja, 33,441 shares; Mr. LeMay, 38,828 shares; Mr. Lewis, 38,828

shares; Mr. Matthews, 2,667 shares; Mr. White, 14,667 shares; Mr. Nelson, 247,330 shares;

Mr. Severson, 163,510 shares; and all directors and executive officers as a group, 550,435 shares.

(2)Does not include deferred restricted stock units held by Messrs. Lewis, Matthews and White in the
amount of 3,171 units for Mr. Lewis, 1,312 units for Mr. Matthews and 2,490 units for Mr. White.
Messrs. Lewis, Matthews and White elected to receive such deferred restricted stock units in lieu of
all or a portion of their annual board retainer. All payments from an individual director’s deferred
restricted stock unit account will be made in Ceridian common stock based upon the director’s prior
election to receive shares of Ceridian common stock in a lump sum on January 10 of the year after
the director leaves the board of directors or in five, 10 or 15 year annual installments. The deferred
restricted stock units do not have voting rights.

Does not include unvested restricted stock units that will not vest within 60 days of July 1, 2007 held by

the executive officers as follows: Mr. Nelson, 13,216 units; Mr. Severson, 2,033 units; Mr. Turner,

30,736 units; and all directors and executive officers as a group, 81,113 units.

Does not include deferrals made by Messrs. Krow and Nelson into an investment fund that mirrors

Ceridian common stock under the Ceridian Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (such investments

are referred to as ‘“phantom shares’’). The number of phantom shares held by Messrs. Krow and Nelson

are: 703 for Mr. Krow; and 16,269 for Mr. Nelson. All payments from an individual’s phantom share
account will be made in Ceridian common stock (fractional shares paid in cash). As a result of

Mr. Krow’s termination, his phantom shares are in the process of being paid in Ceridian common stock

(fractional shares paid in cash). Phantom shares may not be transferred out of an individual’s phantom

share account until retirement or termination. For each contribution made by an individual to his or her

phantom share account, Ceridian credits the individual’s phantom share account with an additional 15
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percent premium on the amount contributed by the individual. This additional credit vests on the last day

of the second year that begins after the date that the contribution is made into the individual’s phantom

share account. Phantom shares do not have voting rights.

(3)Mr. Krow’s employment was terminated effective as of May 14, 2007 and Mr. Krow forfeited all
unexercised stock options and all other unvested equity awards as of May 14, 2007.

@) Mr. Neve resigned from the Company effective as of March 8, 2007.

13
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) Mr. Severson retired from the Company effective as of December 31, 2006.
(6) Mr. Turner retired from the Company effective as of October 20, 2006.

PROXY SOLICITATION EXPENSES

GREEN proxies may be solicited by the Pershing Square Funds and certain members and employees of the Pershing
Square Funds by mail, telephone, telecopier, the Internet and personal solicitation. For example, it is expected that
Scott D. Ferguson, Paul C. Hilal and/or Roy J. Katzovicz and/or one or more of the Pershing Nominees may attend
in-person meetings with institutional stockholders and other significant stockholders. Any members or employees of
the Pershing Square Funds and their affiliates who solicit GREEN proxies on behalf of the Pershing Square Funds will
do so for no additional compensation. Banks, brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries will be
requested to forward the Pershing Square Funds’ solicitation materials to customers for whom such persons hold shares
of Common Stock, and the Pershing Square Funds will reimburse them for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for
doing so.

The entire expense of seeking alternatives for Ceridian, preparing, assembling, printing and mailing this Statement
and related materials and soliciting GREEN proxies for the proposals endorsed by the Pershing Square Funds will be
borne by the Pershing Square Funds. Although no precise estimate can be made at the present time, the Pershing
Square Funds currently estimate such expenses to be $5.8 million (including professional fees and expenses, but
excluding any costs represented by salaries and wages of regular employees of the Pershing Square Funds and its
affiliates). The total expenditures incurred to date by the Pershing Square Funds have been approximately

$4.5 million. To the extent legally permissible, the Pershing Square Funds retain the right to seek reimbursement of
their expenses from Ceridian if any of the Pershing Nominees is elected. The Pershing Square Funds do not currently
intend to submit the question of such reimbursement to a vote of the stockholders.

The Pershing Square Funds and their affiliates retained the services of D.F. King & Co., Inc. to solicit GREEN
proxies from banks, brokers, nominees and individuals with respect to the 2007 Annual Meeting. D.F. King will be
paid fees of approximately $200,000, be reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses, and receive
indemnification customary for such an engagement. D.F. King estimates that it will use approximately 50 persons in
its solicitation efforts.
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS AND NOMInations for 2008 annual meeting

Stockholder Proposals

Assuming Ceridian holds an annual meeting of stockholders in 2008, all proposals of stockholders that are requested
to be included in Ceridian’s proxy statement for the 2008 annual meeting of stockholders must be received by its
Corporate Secretary on or before April 3, 2008 to be included. However, if the 2008 annual meeting is called for a
date that is not within thirty days before or after September 12, 2008, then the deadline will be a reasonable time
before Ceridian begins to print and send its proxy materials.

Any other stockholder proposals to be presented at the 2008 annual meeting of stockholders must be given in writing

to Ceridian’s Corporate Secretary and received at its principal executive offices no earlier than May 3, 2008 and no
later than June 2, 2008. However, if the 2008 annual meeting is called for a date that is not within thirty days before or
after September 12, 2008, stockholder proposals must be received no later than the close of business on the tenth day
following the day on which notice of the date of the 2008 annual meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date

of the 2008 annual meeting was made, whichever happens first. The proposal must contain specific information
required by Ceridian’s Bylaws, a copy of which may be obtained by writing to its Corporate Secretary, or found on its
website at www.ceridian.com in the Corporate Governance section under the heading ‘‘Other Governance Information.’

’

Director Nominations

In accordance with procedures set forth in Ceridian’s Bylaws, stockholders may propose nominees for election to the
board of directors only after providing timely written notice to the Corporate Secretary. The notice must set forth:

* all of the information required under SEC rules in a proxy statement soliciting proxies for the
election of directors;
¢ the nominee’s business address and residence address; and
* the name and record address of, and number of shares of Ceridian common stock held by, the
stockholder making the nomination.
Any stockholder desiring to present a nomination for consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee prior to Ceridian’s 2008 annual meeting of stockholders must do so no earlier than May 3, 2008 and no
later than June 2, 2008 in order to provide adequate time to duly consider the nominee and comply with Ceridian’s
Bylaws.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

If you would like additional copies of the Pershing Square Funds’ proxy materials, or if you would like assistance in
completing and returning a GREEN proxy, please contact D.F. King at:

D.F. King & Co., Inc.

48 Wall Street

New York, NY 10005
Toll-free: (800) 431-9642

20



Edgar Filing: CERIDIAN CORP /DE/ - Form PRRN14A
Banks and brokers: (212) 269-5550
Dated: August 14, 2007
Sincerely,

The Pershing Square Funds
16

APPENDIX A
PARTICIPANTS IN THE SOLICITATION

The participants in this solicitation of proxies from Ceridian stockholders (the ‘‘Solicitation’”) include the following:

(1) Pershing Square, L.P. (*‘Pershing Square’’), Pershing Square II, L.P. (‘ ‘Pershing Square II’’) and Pershing Square
International, Ltd. (‘‘Pershing Square International’’, together with Pershing Square and Pershing Square II, the ‘‘Pershing
Square Funds’’), (i1) William A. Ackman, Scott D. Ferguson, Paul C. Hilal and Roy J. Katzovicz, as employees of
Pershing Square Capital (as defined below), (iii) William A. Ackman, Michael L. Ashner, John D. Barfitt, Harald
Einsmann, Robert J. Levenson, Gregory A. Pratt and Alan Schwartz, as director nominees (collectively, the ‘‘Pershing
Nominees’’) and (iv) Michael E. Porter, as an individual who may be elected to the board if the Pershing Nominees are
elected. The business address of Messrs. Ackman, Ferguson, Hilal and Katzovicz is 888 Seventh Avenue, 29t Floor,
New York, NY 10019, and the business addresses of the Pershing Nominees and Professor Porter are as follows:

Ashner — 54, Two Jericho Plaza, Wing A, Suite 111, Jericho, NY 11755; Barfitt — 9 Weatherstone Court, P.O. Box 1842,
Niagara on the Lake, Ontario LOS1J0 Canada; Einsmann — 43 Chester Square, London SW1W9EA United Kingdom;
Levenson — One Meadowlands Plaza, Suite 801, East Rutherford, NJ 07073; Pratt

— 7500 Greenway Center Blvd., Greenbelt, MD 20770; Schwartz — Yale Law School, 127 Wall Street, New Haven, CT
06511; and Porter — Ludcke House, Harvard Business School, Boston, MA 02167.

Pershing Square is a Delaware limited partnership principally engaged in the business of investing in

securities. Pershing Square II is also a Delaware limited partnership principally engaged in the business of investing in
securities. Pershing Square International is a Cayman Islands exempted company principally engaged in the business
of investing in securities.

Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (‘‘Pershing Square Capital’’), serves as
investment advisor to the Pershing Square Funds with respect to 21,432,734 shares of the common stock, par value

$0.01 per share (the ‘‘Common Stock’’), of Ceridian Corporation (representing approximately 14.9% of the outstanding
shares of the Common Stock)’ held for the accounts of Pershing Square (9,219,712 shares), Pershing Square II

(135,095 shares) and Pershing Square International (12,077,927 shares). PS Management GP, LLC, a Delaware

limited liability company (‘‘PS Management’’), serves as the general partner of Pershing Square Capital. Pershing
Square GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (*‘Pershing Square GP’’), serves as the general partner of each of
Pershing Square and Pershing Square I1.

William A. Ackman, Scott D. Ferguson, Paul C. Hilal and Roy J. Katzovicz are employees of Pershing Square Capital
who may also participate in the Solicitation. Mr. Ackman is also the managing member of each of PS Management
and Pershing Square GP. Messrs. Ferguson, Hilal and Katzovicz do not own beneficially any interest in securities of
Ceridian Corporation and will not receive any special compensation in connection with the Solicitation. In light of his
managing member role in the controlling affiliates of Pershing Square Capital, investment advisor to the Pershing
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Square Funds, Mr. Ackman may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the Subject Shares. Mr. Ackman will not
receive any special compensation in connection with the Solicitation.

Biographical information with respect to the Pershing Nominees and Professor Porter is contained in this preliminary
proxy statement under ‘‘The Pershing Nominees.”’

None of the Pershing Nominees (other than William A. Ackman) nor Professor Porter owns beneficially any interest
in securities of Ceridian, and none of the Pershing Nominees nor Professor Porter will receive any special
compensation in connection with the Solicitation.

Pershing Square Capital has entered into an indemnity agreement with each of the Pershing Nominees and Professor
Porter, pursuant to which certain investment funds advised by Pershing

5Calculated based on 143,976,839 shares of the Common Stock outstanding as of June 1, 2007, as
reported in Ceridian Corporation’s preliminary proxy statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting filed on
June 15, 2007.
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Square Capital (i) will indemnify each of the Pershing Nominees and Professor Porter against certain losses, if any,
incurred by such person in connection with such person’s participation in the Solicitation and (ii) agree to reimburse
each of the Pershing Nominees and Professor Porter for reasonable out of pocket expenses arising out of or related to
the Solicitation.
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The following is a summary of all transactions in Ceridian common stock over the last two years by the Pershing
Square Funds.

TRAN TRADE SETTLE UNIT
CODE SECURITY DATE DATE QUANTITY COST
PERSHING SQUARE INTERNATIONAL, LTD.
CERIDIAN
BUY CORPORATION 10/06/2006 10/12/2006 50,031 $23.16
CERIDIAN
BUY CORPORATION 10/06/2006 10/12/2006 50,599 $23.16
BUY 10/09/2006 10/12/2006 30,681 $23.04
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BUY
BUY
BUY
BUY
BUY
BUY
BUY
BUY

BUY
BUY

Insurance
premiums
earned
Sales and
service
revenues
Revenues of
utilities and
energy
businesses ?®
Interest,
dividend and
other
investment
income
Interest and
other
revenues of
finance and
financial
products
businesses
Investment
and derivative

gains/losses (
3)

Total
revenues

Earnings:

Net earnings
3 (4
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CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION
CERIDIAN
CORPORATION

10/09/2006

10/10/2006

10/10/2006

10/10/2006

10/10/2006

10/11/2006

10/11/2006

10/11/2006

10/12/2006

25,525 $

65,854

13,971

4,966

4,931

(7,461)

107,786 $

4994 $

31,783 $

58,243

12,628

4,979

5,103

5,509

118,245 $

13,213 §

10/12/2006

10/13/2006

10/13/2006

10/13/2006

10/13/2006

10/16/2006

10/16/2006

10/16/2006

10/17/2006

23964 $ 21,997

51,803 46,138
10,644
4,382 3,487
5,111 4,633
2,635 5,408
98,539 $§ 81,663
11,015 $ 8,528

16,696
40,115

8,890
67,762

9,432
21,631
40,660
56,218

14,205

$

$

$

21,085

43,222

2,816

3,788

3,471

74,382

7,308

$23.09
$23.28
$23.26
$23.33
$23.30
$23.22
$23.25
$23.28

$23.28
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Net earnings
per share $ 3224 $ 8,548 $ 7,144 $ 5,538 $ 4753

Year-end

data:
Total

assets  § 267,399 $ 273,160 $ 248,437 $ 198,325 $ 188,874

Notes payable
and other
borrowings:
Insurance and

other

non-finance

businesses 4,349 2,680 3,698 3,583 3,450
Utilities and

energy

. @
businesses

) 19,145 19,002 16,946

Finance and

financial

products

businesses 13,388 12,144 11,961 10,868 5,387
Shareholders

equity 109,267 120,733 108,419 91,484 85,900

Class

A

equivalent

common

shares

outstanding,

in thousands 1,549 1,548 1,543 1,541 1,539
Shareholders

equity per

outstanding

Class

A

equivalent
common

share

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

$ 70,530 $ 78,008 $ 70,281 $ 59,377 $ 55824

Insurance premiums earned in 2007 included $7.1 billion from a single reinsurance transaction with Equitas.

On February 9, 2006, Berkshire Hathaway converted its non-voting preferred stock of MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company

( MidAmerican ) to common stock and upon conversion, owned approximately 83.4% (80.5% diluted) of the voting common stock interests.
Accordingly, the Consolidated Financial Statements for each of the last three years reflect the consolidation of the accounts of
MidAmerican. Berkshire s investment in MidAmerican was accounted for pursuant to the equity method in 2004 and 2005.

The amount of investment and derivative gains and losses for any given period has no predictive value, and variations in amount from
period to period have no practical analytical value. After-tax investment and derivative gains/losses were $(4.65) billion in 2008, $3.58
billion in 2007, $1.71 billion in 2006, $3.53 billion in 2005 and $2.26 billion in 2004. Investment and derivative gains/losses in 2008
include non-cash pre-tax losses of $5.0 billion ($3.25 billion after-tax) relating to long duration equity index put option contracts and $1.8
billion ($1.2 billion after-tax) relating to other-than-temporary impairments of certain investment securities. Investment and derivative
gains/losses in 2005 include a non-cash pre-tax gain of $5.0 billion ($3.25 billion after-tax) relating to the exchange of Gillette stock for
Procter & Gamble stock.

Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2005 includes a pre-tax underwriting loss of $3.4 billion in connection with Hurricanes
Katrina, Rita and Wilma that struck the Gulf coast and Southeast regions of the United States. Such loss reduced net earnings by
approximately $2.2 billion.
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Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Results of Operations

Net earnings for each of the past three years are disaggregated in the table that follows. Amounts are after deducting income taxes and minority
interests and are in millions.

2008 2007 2006
Insurance underwriting $ 1805 $ 2,184 $ 2485
Insurance investment income 3,497 3,510 3,120
Utilities and energy 1,704 1,114 885
Manufacturing, service and retailing 2,283 2,353 2,131
Finance and financial products 479 632 732
Other (129) (159) “@7
Investment and derivative gains/losses (4,645) 3,579 1,709
Net earnings $ 4994 $13,213 $11,015

Berkshire s operating businesses are managed on an unusually decentralized basis. There are essentially no centralized or integrated business
functions (such as sales, marketing, purchasing, legal or human resources) and there is minimal involvement by Berkshire s corporate
headquarters in the day-to-day business activities of the operating businesses. Berkshire s corporate office management participates in and is
ultimately responsible for significant capital allocation decisions, investment activities and the selection of the Chief Executive to head each of
the operating businesses. The business segment data (Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) should be read in conjunction with this
discussion.

During 2008, a series of crises occurred in the U.S. financial and capital markets systems, as well as in the credit and housing markets. These
conditions accelerated into an economic recession, as evidenced by declining consumer confidence, lower consumer spending, bankruptcies and
significant job losses. The declining economic conditions worsened over the last half of 2008 and in the fourth quarter in particular. Equity and
debt markets have seen major declines in market prices on a worldwide basis as well, which have negatively impacted the fair value of
Berkshire s investments and derivative contracts. During 2008, the net after-tax unrealized gains in Berkshire s equity investment portfolio
declined by approximately $13.9 billion. In addition, during 2008, after-tax investment and derivative losses of $4.6 billion were included in
earnings and primarily related to non-cash fair value adjustments of certain derivative contract liabilities and non-cash other-than-temporary
impairment charges with respect to certain investments offset to a degree by net realized gains from investment sales.

Berkshire s insurance, manufacturing, service, retailing and finance and financial products businesses were impacted by the recession in different
ways and to varying degrees. Operating results in 2008 for most of Berkshire s manufacturing, service and retailing businesses were generally
lower than in 2007. It is likely that the current economic conditions will persist through 2009 and in to 2010 before meaningful improvements
become evident. Berkshire s operating companies have taken and will continue to take cost reduction actions in response to the current economic
situation, including curtailing production, reducing capital expenditures, closing facilities and reducing employment to partially compensate for
the declines in demand for goods and services. Berkshire has historically attempted to manage its financial condition such that it can weather
cyclical economic conditions. Management believes that the economic franchises of Berkshire s business operations will remain intact and that
operating results will ultimately return to more normal historical levels.

Insurance Underwriting

Berkshire engages in both primary insurance and reinsurance of property and casualty risks. In primary insurance activities, Berkshire
subsidiaries assume defined portions of the risks of loss from persons or organizations that are directly subject to the risks. In reinsurance
activities, Berkshire subsidiaries assume defined portions of similar or dissimilar risks that other insurers or reinsurers have subjected themselves
to in their own insuring activities. Berkshire s principal insurance and reinsurance businesses are: (1) GEICO, (2) General Re, (3) Berkshire
Hathaway Reinsurance Group and (4) Berkshire Hathaway Primary Group. Through General Re, Berkshire also reinsures life and health risks.

Berkshire s management views insurance businesses as possessing two distinct operations underwriting and investing. Underwriting decisions
are the responsibility of the unit managers; investing, with limited exceptions, is the responsibility of Berkshire s Chairman and CEO, Warren E.
Buffett. Accordingly, Berkshire evaluates performance of underwriting operations without any allocation of investment income.
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Periodic underwriting results can be affected significantly by changes in estimates for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, including
amounts established for occurrences in prior years. See the Critical Accounting Policies section of this discussion for information concerning the
loss reserve estimation process. In addition, the timing and amount of catastrophe losses produce significant volatility in periodic underwriting
results. Berkshire s property and casualty reinsurance operations benefited from relatively minor levels of catastrophe losses in 2007 and 2006.
During 2008, Berkshire s underwriting results include estimated losses of approximately $900 million from Hurricanes Gustav and Ike. The
impact on earnings of these losses was substantially offset by unrealized foreign currency transaction gains during the last half of 2008 that arose
from the valuation of certain non-U.S. Dollar denominated reinsurance liabilities as a result of the significant strengthening of the U.S. Dollar.

A key marketing strategy followed by all of the insurance businesses is the maintenance of extraordinary capital strength. Statutory surplus of
Berkshire s insurance businesses was approximately $51 billion at December 31, 2008. This superior capital strength creates opportunities,
especially with respect to reinsurance activities, to negotiate and enter into insurance and reinsurance contracts specially designed to meet the
unique needs of insurance and reinsurance buyers. Additional information regarding Berkshire s insurance and reinsurance operations follows.

A summary follows of underwriting results from Berkshire s insurance businesses for the past three years. Amounts are in millions.

2008 2007 2006
Underwriting gain attributable to:

GEICO $ 916 $1,113 $1,314
General Re 342 555 526
Berkshire Hathaway Reinsurance Group 1,324 1,427 1,658
Berkshire Hathaway Primary Group 210 279 340
Pre-tax underwriting gain 2,792 3,374 3,838
Income taxes and minority interests 987 1,190 1,353
Net underwriting gain $1,805 $2,184 $2,485
GEICO

GEICO provides primarily private passenger automobile coverages to insureds in 49 states and the District of Columbia. GEICO policies are
marketed mainly by direct response methods in which customers apply for coverage directly to the company via the Internet, over the telephone
or through the mail. This is a significant element in GEICO s strategy to be a low-cost insurer. In addition, GEICO strives to provide excellent
service to customers, with the goal of establishing long-term customer relationships.

GEICO s underwriting results for the past three years are summarized below. Dollars are in millions.

2008 2007 2006
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Premiums written $12,741 $11,931 $11,303
Premiums earned $12,479 100.0 $11,806 100.0 $11,055 100.0
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 9,332 74.8 8,523 722 7,749  70.1
Underwriting expenses 2,231 17.9 2,170 184 1,992 18.0
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$ 916
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Premiums earned in 2008 increased 5.7% over 2007, reflecting an 8.2% increase in voluntary auto policies-in-force partially offset by lower
average premiums per policy. Average premiums per policy declined during 2007 but leveled off in 2008. The weakening economy could result
in downward pressure on average premiums per policy in 2009 to the extent that consumers raise deductibles and reduce coverages to save
money. Policies-in-force over the last twelve months increased 6.6% in the preferred risk auto line and increased 13.1% in the standard and
nonstandard auto lines. Voluntary auto new business sales in 2008 increased 2.0% compared to 2007. Voluntary auto policies-in-force at
December 31, 2008 were 665,000 higher than at December 31, 2007.

Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred in 2008 increased 9.5% over 2007. The loss ratio was 74.8% in 2008 versus 72.2% in 2007.
Incurred losses from catastrophe events for 2008 were $87 million compared to $34 million for 2007. Overall, the increase in the loss ratio
reflected higher average claim severities and lower average premiums per policy, partially offset by lower average claims frequencies. Claims
frequencies in 2008 for physical damage coverages decreased in the seven to nine percent range from 2007 and frequencies for injury coverages
decreased in the four to six percent range. Physical damage severities in 2008 increased in the six to eight percent range and injury severities
increased in the five to eight percent range over 2007.

Underwriting expenses in 2008 increased $61 million (2.8%) over 2007. Policy acquisition expenses increased 8.5% in 2008 to $1,508 million,
primarily due to increased advertising and policy issuance costs. The increase in policy acquisition expenses was partially offset by lower other
underwriting expenses, including lower interest on deferred compensation liabilities.

Premiums earned in 2007 increased 6.8% over 2006, due to higher numbers of policies-in-force, partially offset by lower premiums per policy as
a result of overall lower rates. Losses and loss adjustment expenses in 2007 increased 10.0% over 2006, reflecting the aforementioned decline in
average premiums per policy. In 2007, claims frequencies for physical damage coverages increased in the two to four percent range over 2006
while frequencies for injury coverages decreased in the three to five percent range. Physical damage severities increased in the second half of
2007 at an annualized rate of two to four percent. Injury severities also increased in the latter part of 2007 at an annualized rate of three to six
percent.

General Re

General Re conducts a reinsurance business offering property and casualty and life and health coverages to clients worldwide. Property and
casualty reinsurance is written in North America on a direct basis through General Reinsurance Corporation and internationally through Cologne
Re (based in Germany) and other affiliates. Property and casualty reinsurance is also written through brokers with respect to Faraday in London.
Life and health reinsurance is written worldwide through Cologne Re. General Re strives to generate underwriting gains in essentially all of its
product lines. Underwriting performance is not evaluated based upon market share and underwriters are instructed to reject inadequately priced
risks. General Re s underwriting results are summarized for the past three years in the following table. Amounts are in millions.

Pre-tax underwriting

Premiums written Premiums earned gain
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Property/casualty $3,383 $3478 $3,581 $3,434 $3,614 $3,711 $163 $475 $373
Life/health 2,588 2,479 2,368 2,580 2,462 2,364 179 80 153

$5971 $5957 $5949 $6,014 $6,076 $6,075 $342 $555 $526
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Property/casualty

Premiums written in 2008 declined 2.7% from 2007, which declined 2.9% versus 2006. Premiums written in 2008 included $205 million with
respect to a reinsurance-to-close transaction that increased General Re s economic interest in the runoff of Lloyd s Syndicate 435 s 2000 year of
account from 39% to 100%. A similar transaction in 2007 generated $114 million of premiums written and increased General Re s economic
interest in the runoff of Lloyd s Syndicate 435 s 2001 year of account from 60% to 100%. Neither of the reinsurance-to-close transactions had any
impact on net underwriting results because premiums earned were offset by corresponding increases to loss reserves and losses incurred. There

was no similar transaction in 2006.

Premiums earned in 2008 declined 5.0% from 2007, which declined 2.6% from 2006. Excluding the effects of the previously mentioned
reinsurance-to-close transactions and exchange rates, premiums earned declined 8.2% in 2008 compared to 2007 and 10.1% in 2007 compared
to 2006. The overall comparative declines in written and earned premiums reflect continued underwriting discipline by declining to accept
business where pricing is considered inadequate with respect to the risk. Competitive conditions currently prevailing within the industry could
lead to continued declines in business written in 2009.

Pre-tax underwriting results in 2008 included $275 million in underwriting gains from property business partially offset by $112 million in
underwriting losses from casualty/workers compensation business. The property business produced underwriting losses of $120 million for the
2008 accident year, offset by $395 million of gains from favorable run-off of prior years losses. The current accident year results include $174
million of catastrophe losses from Hurricanes Gustav and Tke and $56 million of catastrophe losses from European storms. The timing and
magnitude of catastrophe and large individual losses produce significant volatility in periodic underwriting results. The pre-tax underwriting

losses from casualty/workers compensation business in 2008 included $117 million of workers compensation loss reserve discount accretion and
retroactive reinsurance deferred charge amortization, offset in part by favorable run-off in other casualty lines. The casualty results were

adversely impacted by legal costs incurred in connection with the ongoing regulatory investigations of finite reinsurance.

Pre-tax underwriting results in 2007 included $519 million in underwriting gains from property business, partially offset by $44 million in
underwriting losses from casualty/workers compensation business. The property business produced underwriting gains of $90 million for the
2007 accident year and $429 million from favorable run-off of prior years losses. The pre-tax underwriting losses from casualty business in 2007
included $120 million of loss reserve discount accretion and deferred charge amortization, as well as legal costs associated with the finite
reinsurance investigations. These charges were largely offset by underwriting gains in other casualty business.

Pre-tax underwriting results in 2006 included $708 million in underwriting gains from property business, partially offset by $335 million in
underwriting losses from casualty/workers compensation business, which included legal and estimated settlement costs associated with the finite
reinsurance regulatory investigations. The 2006 property results benefited from a lack of catastrophe losses and favorable runoff of prior years
claim reserves. The underwriting losses from casualty business in 2006 included $137 million in reserve discount accretion and deferred charge
amortization, increases in prior years workers compensation reserves of $103 million and increases in asbestos and environmental reserves.

Life/health

Premiums earned in 2008 increased 4.8% over 2007, which increased 4.1% over 2006. Adjusting for the effects of foreign currency exchange
rates, premiums earned increased 2.2% over 2007 which were relatively unchanged when compared to 2006. The increase in premiums earned
in 2008 was primarily from life business in North America. Underwriting results for the life/health operations produced pre-tax underwriting
gains in each of the past three years driven by gains from the life business primarily as a result of lower mortality rates.
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Berkshire Hathaway Reinsurance Group

The Berkshire Hathaway Reinsurance Group ( BHRG ) underwrites excess-of-loss reinsurance and quota-share coverages for insurers and
reinsurers worldwide. BHRG s business includes catastrophe excess-of-loss reinsurance and excess direct and facultative reinsurance for large or
otherwise unusual discrete property risks referred to as individual risk. Retroactive reinsurance policies provide indemnification of losses and
loss adjustment expenses with respect to past loss events. Other multi-line refers to other business written on both a quota-share and excess

basis, participations in and contracts with Lloyd s syndicates as well as property, aviation and workers compensation programs. BHRG s
underwriting results are summarized in the table below. Amounts are in millions.

Premiums earned Pre-tax underwriting gain/loss
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Catastrophe and individual risk $ 955 $ 1,577 $2,096 $ 776 $1477 $1,588
Retroactive reinsurance 204 7,708 146 414) (375) (173)
Other multi-line 3,923 2,617 2,634 962 325 243

$5,082 $11,902 $4976 $1,324 $1,427 $1,658

Catastrophe and individual risk contracts may provide exceptionally large limits of indemnification, often several hundred million dollars and
occasionally in excess of $1 billion, and cover catastrophe risks (such as hurricanes, earthquakes or other natural disasters) or other property
risks (such as aviation and aerospace, commercial multi-peril or terrorism). The timing and magnitude of losses produce extraordinary volatility
in periodic underwriting results of BHRG s catastrophe and individual risk business. BHRG does not cede these risks to mitigate volatility as
management accepts such potential volatility provided that the long-term prospect of achieving underwriting profits is reasonable.

Premiums earned from catastrophe and individual risk contracts in 2008 declined 39% from 2007, which decreased 28% versus 2006.
Catastrophe and individual risk premiums written were approximately $1.1 billion in 2008, $1.2 billion in 2007 and $2.4 billion in 2006. The
decreases in premium volume were principally attributable to increased industry capacity for catastrophe reinsurance, which has produced
increased price competition and fewer opportunities to write business at prices considered adequate by BHRG management. The level of
catastrophe and individual risk business written in a given period will vary significantly based upon market conditions and management s
assessment of the adequacy of premium rates.

During 2008, Berkshire entered into a contract under which it received a payment of $224 million and agreed to purchase, under certain
conditions, up to $4 billion of revenue bonds issued by the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund Finance Corporation. Berkshire s obligation was
conditioned upon, among other things, the occurrence of a specified amount of hurricane losses in Florida during a period that expired on
December 31, 2008. The minimum amount of hurricane losses required to trigger Berkshire s acquisition of the bonds was not met and the
consideration received was earned as of December 31, 2008 and is included in the underwriting results of the catastrophe and individual risk
business.

Underwriting results in 2008 for the catastrophe and individual risk business also included approximately $270 million of estimated losses from
Hurricanes Gustav and Ike. The underwriting results from catastrophe and individual risk business in 2007 and 2006 reflected no significant
losses from catastrophe events occurring in those years. In 2006, BHRG incurred losses of approximately $200 million attributable to prior years
events, primarily Hurricane Wilma which occurred in the fourth quarter of 2005.

Retroactive policies normally provide very large, but limited indemnification of unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses with respect to past
loss events that are expected to be paid over long periods of time. Underwriting losses from retroactive reinsurance include the amortization of
deferred charges established on the contracts. At the inception of a contract, deferred charges represent the difference between the premium
received and the estimated ultimate losses payable. Deferred charges are amortized over the estimated claims payment period using the interest
method. The amortization charges are based on the estimated timing and amount of loss payments and are recorded as a component of losses and
loss adjustment expenses.
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Premiums earned from retroactive reinsurance in 2007 included $7.1 billion from the Equitas reinsurance agreement which became effective on
March 30, 2007. See Note 13 to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. Otherwise,
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premiums earned from retroactive contracts were relatively minor over the past three years. Unamortized deferred charges of BHRG s retroactive
contracts (including the Equitas contract) were $3.7 billion at December 31, 2008 and $3.8 billion at December 31, 2007. Gross unpaid losses
under retroactive contracts were approximately $16.6 billion at December 31, 2008 and $17.3 billion at December 31, 2007.

Underwriting losses from retroactive reinsurance policies in each year were primarily attributable to recurring deferred charge amortization.
Underwriting losses from retroactive policies in 2007 included deferred charge amortization of $156 million on contracts written in 2007
(primarily the Equitas contract). Underwriting losses from retroactive reinsurance in 2006 were net of gains of approximately $145 million
which primarily derived from contracts that were commuted or amended during that year.

Other multi-line premiums earned in 2008 increased $1.31 billion (50%) over 2007. Premiums earned in 2008 included $1.83 billion from a
quota-share contract with Swiss Reinsurance Company Ltd. and its major property/casualty affiliates ( Swiss Re ) that became effective

January 1, 2008. Under the agreement, BHRG assumes a 20% quota-share of the premiums and related losses and expenses on substantially all
property/casualty risks of Swiss Re written over the five year period ending December 31, 2012. BHRG s written premium under this agreement
in 2008 was $2.65 billion. Actual premiums assumed over the remainder of the five year period could vary significantly depending on Swiss Re s
response to market conditions and opportunities that arise over the contract term. Excluding the premiums from the Swiss Re quota-share
contract, other multi-line premiums earned in 2008 declined 20% versus 2007 principally attributable to lower premium volume from workers
compensation programs.

Other multi-line business produced a pre-tax underwriting gain of $962 million in 2008. This gain included $930 million of foreign currency
transaction gains (including approximately $615 million in the fourth quarter) arising from the conversion of certain reinsurance liabilities
denominated and settled in foreign currencies (primarily the U.K. Pound Sterling and the Euro) into U.S. Dollars as of the balance sheet date.
The value of these currencies versus the U.S. Dollar generally increased over the past several years resulting in accumulated liabilities and
transaction losses. Over the last half of 2008, these currencies declined sharply versus the U.S. Dollar, resulting in gains that exceeded the
previously recorded losses.

Excluding the effects of the currency gains/losses, other multi-line business produced a pre-tax underwriting gain of $32 million in 2008
compared to $435 million in 2007. Pre-tax underwriting results in 2008 included approximately $435 million of estimated catastrophe losses
from Hurricanes Gustav and Ike. There were no significant catastrophe losses in 2007, which also benefited from relatively low property loss
ratios and favorable loss experience on workers compensation business.

Other multi-line premiums earned in 2007 were relatively unchanged from 2006, reflecting significant increases in property business and
significant decreases in casualty excess reinsurance. In addition, as of the beginning of 2007, the management of certain workers compensation
business was transferred to the Berkshire Hathaway Primary Group and the related underwriting results have been excluded from BHRG since
that date.

In December 2007, BHRG formed a monoline financial guarantee insurance company, Berkshire Hathaway Assurance Corporation ( BHAC ).
BHAC commenced operations during the first quarter of 2008 and is licensed in 49 states. As of December 31, 2008, BHAC had approximately
$1 billion in capital and has received the highest rating available from two credit rating agencies. BHRG is pursuing opportunities to write
financial guarantee insurance on municipal bonds. In its first year of operation, BHAC produced $595 million of written premiums. The impact
of this new business on 2008 underwriting results was minimal, since the coverage periods related to the insured bonds extend over 40 years into
the future.

In January 2009, BHRG agreed to cover certain Swiss Re entities for adverse loss development of its property and casualty loss reserves up to 5
billion Swiss Francs in excess of its December 31, 2008 loss reserves less 2 billion Swiss Francs. BHRG will receive a premium of 2 billion
Swiss Francs for providing this coverage.
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Berkshire Hathaway Primary Group

Berkshire s primary insurance group consists of a wide variety of independently managed insurance businesses that principally write liability
coverages for commercial accounts. These businesses include: Medical Protective Corporation ( MedPro ), a provider of professional liability
insurance to physicians, dentists and other healthcare providers; National Indemnity Company s primary group operation (  NICO Primary Group ),
a writer of commercial motor vehicle and general liability coverages; U.S. Investment Corporation, whose subsidiaries underwrite specialty
insurance coverages; a group of companies referred to internally as Homestate operations, providers of standard commercial multi-line

insurance; Central States Indemnity Company, a provider of credit and disability insurance to individuals nationwide through financial

institutions; Applied Underwriters, a provider of integrated workers compensation solutions; and BoatU.S., (acquired in August 2007) which

writes insurance for owners of boats and small watercraft.

Earned premiums by the primary insurance businesses were $1,950 million in 2008, $1,999 million in 2007 and $1,858 million in 2006. Roughly
33% of the premiums earned in each year were from MedPro. In 2008, premiums earned by the NICO Primary Group declined by approximately
30%, which was partially offset by increased premiums earned from the Homestate operations and BoatU.S. Pre-tax underwriting gains as
percentages of premiums earned were approximately 11% in 2008, 14% in 2007 and 18% in 2006. The decline in underwriting gains in 2008
from 2007 reflected declines in underwriting gains from the NICO Primary Group and Homestate operations, which were primarily due to less
favorable loss reserve development of prior years occurrences as well as relatively higher losses for current year occurrences.

Insurance Investment Income

A summary of the net investment income of Berkshire s insurance operations for the past three years follows. Amounts are in millions.

2008 2007 2006

Investment income before income taxes and minority interests $4,722 $4,758 $4,316
Income taxes and minority interests 1,225 1,248 1,196
Investment income after income taxes and minority interests $3,497 $3,510 $3,120

Investment income consists of interest earned on cash equivalents and fixed maturity investments and dividends earned on equity investments.
Pre-tax investment income earned in 2008 was relatively unchanged from 2007. Investment income earned in 2007 increased $442 million
(10%) over 2006. The increase in 2007 over 2006 reflected increased invested assets, higher short-term interest rates in the United States and
increased dividend rates on certain equity investments.

In 2008, dividend income increased $534 million, reflecting increased investments in equity securities and increased dividend rates with respect
to certain securities. The increase in dividends earned was offset by a decline in interest earned, reflecting lower levels of related fixed maturity
investments and generally lower interest rates applicable to cash equivalents and short-term investments. In October 2008, Berkshire subsidiaries
acquired the Wrigley, Goldman Sachs and General Electric securities for an aggregate cost of $14.5 billion. See Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Interest and dividends from these securities will be approximately $1.4 billion per annum, which is substantially greater
than earnings currently expected from short-term investments.
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A summary of investments held in Berkshire s insurance businesses follows. Amounts are in millions.

2008 2007 2006
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,845 $ 28,257 $ 34,590
Equity securities 48,892 74,681* 61,168*
Fixed maturity securities 26,932 27,922 25,272
Other 21,535%

$ 116,204 $ 130,860 $ 121,030

*  Other investments include the investments in Wrigley, Goldman Sachs and General Electric as well as investments in Burlington Northern
and Moody s, which as of December 31, 2008 are accounted for under the equity method. In 2007 and 2006, investments in Burlington
Northern and Moody s are included in equity securities.

Fixed maturity investments as of December 31, 2008 were as follows. Amounts are in millions.

Amortized Unrealized Fair

cost gains/losses value
U.S. Treasury, government corporations and agencies $ 2,100 $ 121 $ 2,221
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 3,065 237 3,302
Foreign governments 9,066 284 9,350
Corporate bonds and redeemable preferred stocks, investment grade 4,826 68 4,894
Corporate bonds and redeemable preferred stocks, non-investment grade 5,392 (1,195) 4,197
Mortgage-backed securities 2,986 (18) 2,968

$ 27435 $ (503) $26,932

All U.S. government obligations are rated AAA by the major rating agencies and approximately 90% of all state, municipal and political
subdivisions, foreign government obligations and mortgage-backed securities were rated AA or higher. Non-investment grade securities
represent securities that are rated below BBB- or Baa3.

Invested assets derive from shareholder capital and reinvested earnings as well as net liabilities under insurance contracts or float. The major
components of float are unpaid losses, unearned premiums and other liabilities to policyholders less premiums and reinsurance receivables,
deferred charges assumed under retroactive reinsurance contracts and deferred policy acquisition costs. Float approximated $58 billion at
December 31, 2008, $59 billion at December 31, 2007 and $51 billion at December 31, 2006. The increase in float in 2007 was principally due
to the Equitas reinsurance transaction. The cost of float, as represented by the ratio of underwriting gain or loss to average float, was negative for
the last three years, as Berkshire s insurance businesses generated underwriting gains in each year.
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Utilities and Energy ( MidAmerican )

Revenues and earnings of MidAmerican for each of the past three years are summarized below. Amounts are in millions.

Revenues Earnings
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
MidAmerican Energy Company $ 4742 $ 4325 $ 3519 $§ 425 § 412 $ 348
PacifiCorp 4,558 4,319 2,971 703 692 356
Natural gas pipelines 1,221 1,088 972 595 473 376
U.K. utilities 1,001 1,114 961 339 337 338
Real estate brokerage 1,147 1,511 1,724 45) 42 74
Other 1,302 271 497 1,278 130 245

$13971 $12,628 $10,644

Earnings before corporate interest and taxes 3,295 2,086 1,737
Interest, other than to Berkshire (332) (312) (261)
Interest on Berkshire junior debt (111) (108) (134)
Income taxes and minority interests ** (1,002) 477) (426)
Net earnings $ 1,850 $ 1,189 $ 916
Earnings applicable to Berkshire * $ 1,704 $ 1,114 $ 885
Debt owed to others at December 31 19,145 19,002 16,946
Debt owed to Berkshire at December 31 1,087 821 1,055

* Includes interest earned by Berkshire (net of related income taxes).

**  Net of $58 million deferred income tax benefit in 2007 as a result of the reduction in the United Kingdom corporate income tax rate from
30% to 28% which was enacted during the third quarter of 2007 and became effective in 2008.
Berkshire currently owns an 88.2% (87.4% diluted) interest in MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company ( MidAmerican ), an international
energy company. MidAmerican s domestic regulated energy interests are comprised of two regulated utility companies (MidAmerican Energy
Company ( MEC ) and PacifiCorp) serving over 3 million retail customers and two interstate natural gas pipeline companies (Northern Natural
Gas and Kern River) with approximately 17,000 miles of pipeline in operation and design capacity of about 7.0 billion cubic feet of natural gas
per day. In the United Kingdom ( U.K. ), electricity distribution subsidiaries serve about 3.8 million electricity end users. The rates that
MidAmerican s utilities, electricity distribution and natural gas pipeline businesses may charge customers for energy and other services are
generally subject to regulatory approval. Rates are based in large part on the costs of business operations, including a return on capital. To the
extent these operations are not allowed to include such costs in the approved rates, operating results will be adversely affected. In addition,
MidAmerican s other businesses include a diversified portfolio of independent power projects and the second-largest residential real estate
brokerage firm in the United States.

MEC s revenues in 2008 increased $417 million (10%) over 2007. The increase reflects (1) increased regulated natural gas revenues from cost
based price increases that are largely passed on to customers, (2) increased non-regulated gas revenues due primarily to higher prices and, to a
lesser degree, increased volume and (3) increased wholesale regulated electricity revenues driven by volume increases. Earnings before

corporate interest and income taxes ( EBIT ) of MEC in 2008 increased $13 million (3%) versus 2007, resulting primarily from higher operating
margins on wholesale regulated electricity and slightly higher margins from regulated gas sales, partially offset by increased interest expense and
lower miscellaneous income.
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PacifiCorp s revenues in 2008 increased $239 million (6%) over 2007. The increase was primarily related to higher retail revenues due to
regulator approved rate increases as well as increased customer growth and usage. PacifiCorp s EBIT in 2008 increased $11 million (2%) versus
2007, as higher revenues were substantially offset by increased fuel costs and interest expense.
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Natural gas pipelines revenues in 2008 increased $133 million (12%) over 2007. The increase reflected increased transportation revenue as a
result of stronger market conditions in the Northern Natural Gas system, the impact of system expansion projects and changes related to the
Kern River system current rate proceeding. EBIT in 2008 of the gas pipeline businesses increased $122 million (26%) over 2007. The increase
in EBIT reflects the impact of increased revenues.

U.K. utility revenues in 2008 declined $113 million (10%) versus 2007 primarily from the effect of the significant strengthening of the
U.S. Dollar versus the U.K. Pound Sterling over the second half of 2008. EBIT in 2008 was relatively unchanged from 2007 as the revenue
decline was offset primarily by lower operating costs and interest expense.

Real estate brokerage revenues in 2008 declined $364 million (24%) compared to 2007 due to significant declines in transaction volume as well
as lower average home sales prices. Real estate brokerage activities generated a loss before interest and taxes of $45 million in 2008 versus
EBIT of $42 million in 2007. The loss in 2008 reflected the continuing weak U.S. housing markets.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, EBIT from other activities included a gain of $917 million from MidAmerican s investments in Constellation
Energy as well as a fee of $175 million received as a result of the termination of the planned acquisition of Constellation Energy. EBIT from
other activities in 2006 included gains of $117 million primarily from the disposal of equity securities. There were no significant securities gains
in 2007.

MEC s revenues in 2007 increased $806 million (23%) over 2006. MEC s non-regulated energy sales in 2007 exceeded 2006 by $597 million
primarily due to improved market opportunities. MEC s regulated wholesale and retail electricity sales in 2007 exceeded 2006 by $155 million,
which reflected the impact of new generating assets and improved opportunities in wholesale markets as well as higher retail demand due to
warmer temperatures and increases in the number of retail customers. EBIT of MEC in 2007 increased $64 million (18%), reflecting the margins
on the increases in regulated and non-regulated energy sales, partially offset by higher facilities operating and maintenance costs.

PacifiCorp s revenues in 2007 increased $1,348 million (45%) and EBIT increased $336 million (94%) versus 2006. Revenues and EBIT of
PacifiCorp for 2006 are included beginning as of the acquisition date (March 21, 2006). In 2007, PacifiCorp s revenues and EBIT were favorably
impacted by regulatory-approved rate increases and higher customer usage in retail markets, as well as increased margins on wholesale

electricity sales, partially offset by higher fuel and purchased power costs.

Revenues from natural gas pipelines in 2007 increased $116 million (12%) over 2006 due primarily to favorable market conditions and because
revenues in 2006 reflected the impact of estimated rate case refunds to customers. EBIT in 2007 from natural gas pipelines increased $97 million
(26%) over 2006 mainly due to comparatively higher revenue and lower depreciation due to expected changes in depreciation rates in
connection with a current rate proceeding.

Revenues from U.K. utilities in 2007 increased over the comparable 2006 period primarily attributable to the strengthening of the U.K.

Pound Sterling versus the U.S. Dollar as well as higher gas production and electricity distribution revenues. EBIT from the U.K. utilities in 2007
was essentially unchanged compared to 2006 as higher maintenance and depreciation costs and the write-off of unsuccessful gas exploration
costs offset the impact of higher revenues.

Revenues and EBIT in 2007 from real estate brokerage declined 12% and 43%, respectively, compared to 2006, primarily due to significantly
lower transaction volume as a result of the slowdown in U.S. residential real estate activity.
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Manufacturing, Service and Retailing

A summary of revenues and earnings of Berkshire s manufacturing, service and retailing businesses for each of the past three years follows.
Amounts are in millions.

Revenues Earnings
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Marmon $ 5529 $ $ $ 733 § $

McLane Company 29,852 28,079 25,693 276 232 229
Shaw Industries 5,052 5,373 5,834 205 436 594
Other manufacturing 14,127 14,459 11,988 1,675 2,037 1,756
Other service * 8,435 7,792 5,811 971 968 658
Retailing 3,104 3,397 3,334 163 274 289

$66,099 $59,100 $52,660

Pre-tax earnings $4,023 $3,947 $3,526
Income taxes and minority interests 1,740 1,594 1,395

$2,283 $2,353 $2,131

* Management evaluates the results of NetJets using accounting standards for recognition of revenue and planned major maintenance expenses
that were generally accepted when Berkshire acquired NetJets but are no longer acceptable due to subsequent changes adopted by the FASB.
Revenues and pre-tax earnings for the other service businesses shown above reflect these prior revenue and expense recognition methods.
Revenues shown above exceeded the amounts reported in Berkshire s Consolidated Financial Statements by $130 million in 2008, $709
million in 2007 and $781 million in 2006. Pre-tax earnings in this table exceeded (was less than) the amounts included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements by ($4 million) in 2008, $48 million in 2007 and $79 million in 2006.

Marmon

Berkshire acquired a 60% interest in Marmon Holdings, Inc. ( Marmon ) on March 18, 2008. During the second quarter of 2008, Berkshire
acquired additional shares and currently has a 63.6% interest. Marmon s operating results are included in Berkshire s consolidated results and in
the preceding table from the date of the initial acquisition. Marmon consists of approximately 130 manufacturing and service businesses that
operate independently within 11 diverse business sectors. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for an additional description of
Marmon s operations. For the twelve months ending December 31, 2008, Marmon s consolidated revenues and operating income were $6,960
million and $977 million, respectively, compared to $6,934 million and $946 million, respectively in 2007.

McLane Company

McLane Company, Inc., ( McLane ) is a wholesale distributor of grocery and non-food products to retailers, convenience stores and restaurants.
McLane s business is marked by high sales volume and very low profit margins. McLane s revenues of $29,852 million in 2008 increased $1,773
million (6%) compared to 2007 which increased $2,386 million (9%) compared to 2006. The revenue increases in both 2008 and 2007 reflected
additional grocery and foodservice customers as well as manufacturer price increases and state excise tax increases.

Pre-tax earnings in 2008 increased $44 million over 2007, which was relatively unchanged from 2006. The increase in 2008 reflected the
increased sales and to a lesser degree a slight increase in gross margins. The gross margin rate was 5.91% in 2008 compared to 5.79% in 2007.
The comparative increase in the gross margin rate reflected price changes related to certain categories of grocery products and the impact of a
heavy liquids sales surcharge. Operating expenses in 2008 as a percentage of revenues were relatively unchanged compared to 2007.
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Approximately one-third of McLane s annual revenues are from Wal-Mart. A curtailment of purchasing by Wal-Mart could have a material
adverse impact on McLane s earnings.

Shaw Industries

Shaw Industries ( Shaw ) is the world s largest manufacturer of tufted broadloom carpets and is a full-service flooring company. Shaw revenues of
$5,052 million in 2008 declined $321 million (6%) compared to 2007. The revenue decrease was primarily due to a reduction in year-to-date
residential carpet sales volume, partially offset by higher average selling prices and
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Shaw Industries (Continued)

revenues from recent acquisitions. The decrease in residential carpet volume in 2008 reflected the significant downturn in residential real estate
activity that began in 2006 and was exacerbated by the credit crises during 2007 and 2008.

In 2008, pre-tax earnings declined $231 million (53%) to $205 million. The decline was attributable to both lower sales volume and higher
product costs. Increases in petrochemical based raw material costs along with reduced manufacturing efficiencies caused the product cost
increase. The gross margin rate for 2008 was approximately 3 percentage points lower as compared to 2007. Pre-tax earnings in 2008 also
included $52 million of charges in the fourth quarter related to asset writedowns and plant closure costs. To offset the impact of rising raw
material and production costs, Shaw instituted multiple sales price increases in 2008 and closed certain manufacturing facilities. Management
expects residential real estate activity and, as a result, Shaw s sales volume to remain weak during 2009.

Revenues of $5,373 million in 2007 declined $461 million (8%) compared to 2006. In 2007, carpet volume decreased 10% versus 2006 due to
lower sales in residential markets, partially offset by a modest increase in commercial market volume. In 2007, pre-tax earnings decreased $158
million (27%) compared to 2006. The decline reflects the aforementioned lower sales volume and higher product costs. These factors combined
to produce declines in gross margin dollars in 2007 of approximately 17% versus 2006. Selling, general and administrative costs in 2007
declined approximately 6% compared with 2006, reflecting lower sales volume and expense control efforts.

Other manufacturing

Berkshire s other manufacturing businesses include a wide array of businesses. Included in this group are several manufacturers of building
products (Acme Building Brands, Benjamin Moore, Johns Manville and MiTek) and apparel (led by Fruit of the Loom which includes the
Russell athletic apparel and sporting goods business and the Vanity Fair Brands women s intimate apparel business). Also included in this group
are Forest River, a leading manufacturer of leisure vehicles, CTB International ( CTB ), a manufacturer of equipment for the livestock and
agricultural industries and ISCAR Metalworking Companies ( IMC ), an industry leader in the metal cutting tools business with operations
worldwide. There are also numerous other manufacturers of consumer and commercial products in this diverse group.

Revenues of other manufacturing businesses in 2008 of $14,127 million declined $332 million (2%) versus 2007. The most significant declines
were from Forest River, the building products businesses and the apparel businesses. These were somewhat offset by increased revenues from
IMC and from Richline, a jewelry manufacturer acquired during the second half of 2007. Pre-tax earnings of other manufacturing businesses of
$1,675 million in 2008, declined $362 million (18%) versus 2007. Pre-tax earnings declined or were flat in nearly all of Berkshire s other
manufacturing operations with the exception of IMC. Pre-tax earnings from Forest River declined 56%, due to lower sales volume. Pre-tax
earnings from apparel declined 34%, primarily due to lower sales volume and costs incurred to consolidate certain operations of Russell and
Vanity Fair Brands. Pre-tax earnings from building products declined 28%, as a result of lower sales volumes and decreased manufacturing
efficiencies as a consequence of the housing and credit crises.

Revenues in 2007 from other manufacturing activities were $14,459 million, an increase of $2,471 million (21%) over 2006. The comparative
increase was primarily attributable to the businesses acquired since mid-2006 as well as a significant increase from CTB. Revenues from the
building products businesses declined $292 million in 2007 as demand was negatively affected by the slowdown in housing construction
activity. Pre-tax earnings were $2,037 million in 2007, an increase of $281 million (16%) over 2006. The increases were primarily due to
full-year inclusion in 2007 of IMC and increased earnings of CTB, partially offset by a 22% decline in earnings of the building products
businesses.

Other service

Berkshire s other service businesses include NetJets, the world s leading provider of fractional ownership programs for general aviation aircraft,
and FlightSafety, a provider of high technology training to operators of aircraft. Among the other businesses included in this group are: TTI, a
leading electronic components distributor (acquired March 2007); Business Wire, a leading distributor of corporate news, multimedia and
regulatory filings; The Pampered Chef, a direct seller of high quality kitchen tools; International Dairy Queen, a licensor and service provider to
about 5,700 stores that offer prepared dairy treats and food; The Buffalo News, a publisher of a daily and Sunday newspaper; and businesses that

Table of Contents 43



Edgar Filing: CERIDIAN CORP /DE/ - Form PRRN14A

provide management and other services to insurance companies.

39

Table of Contents

44



Edgar Filing: CERIDIAN CORP /DE/ - Form PRRN14A

Table of Conten
Management s Discussion (Continued)
Manufacturing, Service and Retailing (Continued)

Other service (Continued)

In 2008, revenues of the group were $8,435 million, an increase of $643 million (8%) over 2007. The inclusion of twelve months of revenues
from TTI in 2008 versus nine months in 2007 accounted for over 80% of the revenue increase. Excluding the impact of TTI, other service
revenues in 2008 increased 2% over 2007.

Pre-tax earnings of $971 million in 2008, were relatively unchanged from 2007. The impact from the TTI acquisition and increased earnings of
FlightSafety was offset by lower earnings from NetJets and Pampered Chef. In the fourth quarter of 2008, NetJets, and to a lesser degree
Pampered Chef, experienced a significant reduction in revenue as general economic conditions worsened. This resulted in lower customer usage
and demand which negatively affected operating margins. In addition, NetJets incurred charges of $54 million to writedown the aircraft fleet.

Revenues from the other service businesses in 2007 increased $1,981 million (34%) and pre-tax earnings increased $310 million (47%) as
compared to 2006. The increase in revenues and pre-tax earnings in 2007 versus 2006 was attributable to the impact of business acquisitions
(primarily TTI and Business Wire) as well as increased revenues and pre-tax earnings from FlightSafety and NetJets. Both of these businesses
benefited in 2007 from higher equipment (simulators and aircraft) utilization rates and from increased customer demand.

Retailing

Berkshire s retailing operations consist of four home furnishings (Nebraska Furniture Mart, R.C. Willey, Star Furniture and Jordan s) and three
jewelry (Borsheims, Helzberg and Ben Bridge) retailers. See s Candies is also included in this group. Retailing revenues were $3,104 million in
2008, a decrease of $293 million (9%) versus 2007. Pre-tax earnings of $163 million in 2008 declined $111 million (41%) compared to 2007.
Seven of the eight retail operations experienced revenue declines and all eight of these operations had declines in earnings compared to 2007.
During the first nine months of 2008, as the impact of the economic recession in the U.S. worsened, consumer spending declined. In the fourth
quarter of 2008, the decline accelerated and conditions for most retailers throughout the U.S. deteriorated. Fourth quarter of 2008 revenues and
pre-tax earnings of Berkshire s retailers declined 17% and 33%, respectively, versus the fourth quarter of 2007.

Finance and Financial Products

A summary of revenues and earnings from Berkshire s finance and financial products businesses follows. Amounts are in millions.

Revenues Earnings
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Manufactured housing and finance $3,560 $3.665 $3570 $206 $ 526 $ 513
Furniture/transportation equipment leasing 773 810 880 87 111 182
Other 614 644 674 494 369 462

$4,947 $5,119 $5,124

Pre-tax earnings 787 1,006 1,157
Income taxes and minority interests 308 374 425

$479 $ 632 $ 732

Revenues from manufactured housing and finance activities (Clayton Homes) in 2008 decreased $105 million (3%) from 2007. The decrease
included a 9% decline from home sales, reflecting declines in units sold and average selling prices. In addition, revenues in 2007 included
approximately $90 million from the housing communities division which was sold in the first quarter of 2008. Partially offsetting these declines
was an increase in interest income from installment loans. The increase in interest income reflects higher average installment loan balances in
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2008 versus 2007. Installment loan balances were approximately $12.6 billion as of December 31, 2008, an increase of approximately
$1.5 billion since December 31, 2007. The increase was principally due to loan portfolio acquisitions.

Pre-tax earnings of Clayton Homes in 2008 declined $320 million (61%) from 2007. Pre-tax earnings in 2008 included a $125 million increase
in the provision for estimated loan losses due to changes in loan collection and recovery assumptions,
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$25 million of losses arising from Hurricanes Gustav and Tke and $38 million from asset writedowns and plant closure costs. Pre-tax earnings in
2008 also reflected the impact of lower home sales and higher interest expense from increased borrowings and an increase in interest rates.
Partially offsetting these declines was a $22 million gain from the sale of the housing community division in the first quarter of 2008.

Revenues and pre-tax earnings from furniture and transportation equipment leasing activities in 2008 declined $37 million (5%) and $24 million
(22%), respectively, compared to 2007. The declines primarily reflected lower rental income driven by relatively low utilization rates for
over-the-road trailer and storage units, partially offset by the impact of a small furniture rental business acquisition in 2008. Significant cost
components of this business are fixed (depreciation and facility expenses), so earnings declined disproportionately to revenues. Revenues and
pre-tax earnings for 2007 decreased $70 million (8%) and $71 million (39%), respectively, as compared to 2006, primarily for the reasons
previously stated.

Earnings from other finance business activities consisted primarily of interest income earned on fixed maturity investments and from a small
portfolio of commercial real estate loans. Pre-tax earnings in 2007 reflected a charge of approximately $67 million from the adverse effects of
changes in mortality assumptions on certain life annuity contract liabilities. In 2006, pre-tax earnings included income of $67 million from an
equity purchase commitment fee.

Investment and Derivative Gains/Losses

A summary of investment and derivative gains and losses follows. Amounts are in millions.

2008 2007 2006
Investment gains/losses from -
Sales and other disposals of investments -
Insurance and other $ 912 $5308 $1,782
Finance and financial products 6 187 6
Other-than-temporary impairments (1,813) (142)
Other 255 103 165

(640) 5,598 1,811

Derivative gains/losses from -

Credit default contracts (1,774) 127 525
Equity index put option contracts (5,028) (283) 64
Other derivative contracts (19) 67 235

(6,821) (89) 824
Gains/losses before income taxes and minority interests (7,461) 5,509 2,635
Income taxes and minority interests (2,816) 1,930 926
Net gains/losses $4,645) $3,579 $1,709

Investment gains or losses are recognized upon the sales of investments, recognition of non-cash other-than-temporary-impairment losses or as
otherwise required under GAAP. The timing of realized gains or losses from sales can have a material effect on periodic earnings. However,
such gains or losses usually have little, if any, impact on total shareholders equity because most equity and fixed maturity investments are
carried at fair value with any unrealized gain or loss included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. The
other-than-temporary-impairment losses recorded in 2008 were primarily attributable to investments in certain equity securities. Berkshire
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considers several factors in determining impairment losses including the current and expected long-term business prospects of the issuer, the
length of time and relative magnitude of the price decline and its ability and intent to hold the investment until the price recovers.

Derivative gains/losses in 2008 primarily represented the non-cash changes in fair value of credit default and equity index put option contracts.
Changes in the fair values of these contracts are reflected in earnings and can be significant, reflecting the volatility of equity and credit markets.
Management does not view the periodic gains or losses from the changes in fair value as meaningful given the long-term nature of these
contracts and the volatile nature of equity and credit markets over short periods of time. Therefore, the ultimate amount of cash basis gains or
losses may not be known for years.
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Losses from credit default contracts in 2008 derived primarily from valuation increases due to significant widening of credit default spreads
during the fourth quarter of 2008 with respect to the non-investment grade issuers included in the high yield index contracts and the credit
default spreads of certain states and municipalities. The estimated fair value of credit default contracts at December 31, 2008 was $4.1 billion, an
increase of $2.3 billion from December 31, 2007. The year-to-date increase included fair value pre-tax losses of $1.8 billion and premiums from
contracts entered into in 2008 of $633 million, partially offset by loss payments of $152 million. In January 2009, there were defaults by six
companies included in the high yield indexes. Estimated payments in the first quarter of 2009 related to these defaults are expected to be
approximately $750 million.

The estimated fair value of equity index put option contracts at December 31, 2008 was $10.0 billion, an increase of approximately $5.4 billion
from December 31, 2007 and an increase of $3.3 billion from September 30, 2008. The year-to-date increase included pre-tax losses of

$5.0 billion due to changes in fair values and premiums from new contracts. There have been no loss payments under equity index put option
contracts. Berkshire s losses from equity index put option contracts in 2008 reflected index value declines of between 30% and 45% in 2008
across the four indexes. During the fourth quarter of 2008 these indexes declined between 10% and 22%. These contracts expire beginning in
2019 with the last expiration in 2028. Any loss payments under these contracts will be based on the net decline in the underlying index below the
strike price in each contract as of the expiration date of the contract.

Financial Condition

Berkshire s balance sheet continues to reflect significant liquidity. Consolidated cash and invested assets, excluding assets of utilities and energy
and finance and financial products businesses, was approximately $122.0 billion at December 31, 2008 (including cash and cash equivalents of
$24.3 billion) and $141.2 billion at December 31, 2007 (including cash and cash equivalents of $37.7 billion). Berkshire s invested assets are
held predominantly in its insurance businesses. The decline in cash and invested assets is primarily due to a significant reduction in the carrying
amount of equity securities resulting from the worldwide economic crisis.

Berkshire acquired a 60% interest in Marmon Holdings, Inc. ( Marmon ) for $4.5 billion on March 18, 2008. In the second quarter of 2008,
Berkshire acquired additional shares and currently owns 63.6% of Marmon. Berkshire has agreed to acquire the remaining minority shareholders
interests in Marmon between 2011 and 2014 for consideration based on Marmon s future earnings.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, Berkshire invested $6.5 billion in subordinated notes and preferred stock of the Wm. Wrigley, Jr. Company in
connection with Mars, Incorporated s acquisition of that entity. In addition, Berkshire invested $5 billion in Goldman Sachs perpetual preferred
stock and common stock warrants and $3 billion in General Electric Company perpetual preferred stock and common stock warrants. These
investments were funded with available cash.

Notes payable and other borrowings of the insurance and other businesses were $4.3 billion (includes about $2.3 billion issued or guaranteed by
Berkshire Hathaway Inc.) at December 31, 2008, an increase of $1.7 billion from December 31, 2007, primarily due to increases in short-term
borrowings (principally NetJets) and debt of businesses acquired in 2008, (principally Marmon).

MidAmerican s capital expenditures were $3.9 billion in 2008 and are forecasted to be approximately $3.3 billion in 2009. MidAmerican expects
to fund these capital expenditures with cash flows from operations and debt proceeds. Certain of its borrowings are secured by certain assets of
its regulated utility subsidiaries. Notes payable and other borrowings of MidAmerican maturing in 2009 are $1.26 billion with an additional

$1.26 billion due before the end of 2011. Berkshire has committed until February 28, 2011 to provide up to $3.5 billion of additional capital to
MidAmerican to permit the repayment of its debt obligations or to fund MidAmerican s regulated utility subsidiaries. Berkshire has not and does
not intend to guarantee the repayment of debt by MidAmerican or any of its subsidiaries.

Assets of the finance and financial products businesses as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted primarily of loans and finance receivables,
fixed maturity securities and cash and cash equivalents. Liabilities were $30.7 billion as of December 31, 2008 and $22.0 billion at

December 31, 2007. The increase from 2007 primarily relates to an increase of $7.7 billion in derivative contract liabilities (see Note 11 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the preceding section of Management s
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Discussion for additional information). As of December 31, 2008, notes payable and other borrowings of $13.4 billion included $10.8 billion of
medium-term notes issued by BHFC. During 2008, BHFC issued debt of $5.0 billion and repaid $3.1 billion of notes. BHFC notes are
guaranteed by Berkshire and mature at various dates extending through 2018. The proceeds from these notes were used to finance originated and
acquired loans of Clayton Homes.

During 2008, credit markets became increasingly restricted as a consequence of the ongoing worldwide credit crisis. As a result, the availability
of credit to corporations has declined significantly and interest rates for new issues increased relative to government obligations, even for
companies with strong credit histories and ratings. Although management believes that the credit crisis is temporary and that Berkshire has
ample liquidity and capital to withstand these conditions, restricted access to credit markets over longer periods could have a significant negative
impact on operations, particularly the utilities and energy business and certain finance and financial products operations. Management believes
that it currently maintains ample liquidity to cover its contractual obligations and provide for contingent liquidity needs.

During 2008, Berkshire s consolidated shareholders equity declined from $120.7 billion at the end of 2007 to $109.3 billion at December 31,
2008. This reduction was largely due to significant price declines in Berkshire s equity investments and an increase in the fair value of the
liabilities arising from Berkshire s equity index put option contracts. The worldwide economic crisis has continued during the first part of 2009
and prices of Berkshire s equity investments have declined further and the fair values of liabilities arising from equity index put option contracts
have increased further. Berkshire estimates that its consolidated shareholders equity has been reduced by approximately $8 billion since the end
of 2008.

Contractual Obligations

Berkshire and its subsidiaries have contractual obligations which will result in cash payments to counterparties in future periods. Contractual
obligations arise under financing and other agreements, which are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements and other long-term
contracts to acquire goods or services in the future, which are not currently reflected in the financial statements. Such obligations, including
future minimum rentals under operating leases, will be reflected in future periods as the goods are delivered or services provided. Amounts due
as of the balance sheet date for purchases where the goods and services have been received and a liability incurred are not included to the extent
that such amounts are due within one year of the balance sheet date.

Contractual obligations for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses arising under property and casualty insurance contracts are estimates.
The timing and amount of such payments are contingent upon the outcome of claim settlement activities that will occur over many years. The
amounts presented in the following table have been estimated based upon past claim settlement activities and therefore are subject to significant
estimation error. The factors affecting the ultimate amount of claims are discussed in the following section regarding Berkshire s critical
accounting policies. In addition, certain losses and loss adjustment expenses for property and casualty loss reserves are ceded to others under
reinsurance contracts and therefore are recoverable. Such recoverables are not reflected in the table.

A summary of contractual obligations as of December 31, 2008 follows. Amounts are in millions.

Estimated payments due by period

Total 2009 2010-2011 2012-2013  After 2013
Notes payable and other borrowings "’ $ 59,865 $ 5733 $ 8590 $ 10,131 $ 35411
Operating leases 3,115 583 889 587 1,056
Purchase obligations 25282 6,552 6,885 4,673 7,172
Unpaid losses and loss expenses 59,236 12,831 14,317 8,179 23,909
Other 32,512 4473 3,196 2,700 22,143
Total $180,010 $30,172 $ 33,877 $ 26270 $ 89,691
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() Includes interest.

@) Principally relates to future aircraft, coal, electricity and natural gas purchases.

() Before reserve discounts of $2,616 million.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Certain accounting policies require management to make estimates and judgments concerning transactions that will be settled several years in
the future. Amounts recognized in the financial statements from such estimates are necessarily based on numerous assumptions involving
varying and potentially significant degrees of judgment and uncertainty. Accordingly, the amounts currently reflected in the financial statements
will likely increase or decrease in the future as additional information becomes available.

Property and casualty losses

A summary of Berkshire s consolidated liabilities for unpaid property and casualty losses is presented in the table below. Except for certain
workers compensation reserves, liabilities for unpaid property and casualty losses (referred to in this section as gross unpaid losses ) are reflected
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets without discounting for time value, regardless of the length of the claim-tail. Amounts are in millions.

Gross unpaid losses Net unpaid losses *
Dec. 31,2008  Dec. 31,2007 Dec. 31,2008 Dec. 31, 2007
GEICO $ 7,336 $ 6,642 $ 7,012 $ 6,341
General Re 18,241 19,831 17,235 17,651
BHRG 26,179 24,894 21,386 20,223
Berkshire Hathaway Primary Group 4,864 4,635 4,470 4,127
Total $ 56,620 $ 56,002 $50,103 $ 48342

* Net of reinsurance recoverable and deferred charges reinsurance assumed and before foreign currency translation effects.

Berkshire records liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses under property and casualty insurance and reinsurance contracts
based upon estimates of the ultimate amounts payable under the contracts with respect to losses occurring on or before the balance sheet date.
The timing and amount of loss payments is subject to a great degree of variability and is contingent upon, among other things, the timing of
claim reporting from insureds and cedants and the determination of the ultimate amount through the loss adjustment process. A variety of
techniques are used in establishing the liabilities for unpaid losses. Regardless of the techniques used, significant judgments and assumptions are
necessary in projecting the ultimate amounts payable in the future. As a result, uncertainties are imbedded in and permeate the actuarial loss
reserving techniques and processes used.

As of any balance sheet date, not all claims that have occurred have been reported and not all reported claims have been settled. Loss and loss
adjustment expense reserves include provisions for reported claims (referred to as case reserves ) and for claims that have not been reported
(referred to as incurred but not yet reported ( IBNR ) reserves). The time period between the loss occurrence date and settlement payment date is
referred to as the claim-tail. Property claims usually have fairly short claim-tails and, absent litigation, are reported and settled within a few
years of occurrence. Casualty losses usually have very long claim-tails, occasionally extending for decades. Casualty claims are more

susceptible to litigation and can be significantly affected by changing contract interpretations. The legal environment further contributes to
extending claim-tails.

Receivables are recorded with respect to losses ceded to other reinsurers and are estimated in a manner similar to liabilities for insurance losses.
In addition to the factors cited above, reinsurance recoverables may ultimately prove to be uncollectible if the reinsurer is unable to perform
under the contract. Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the ceding company of its obligations to indemnify its own policyholders.

Berkshire s insurance businesses utilize loss reserving techniques that are believed to best fit the particular business. Additional information
regarding reserving processes of the significant businesses (GEICO, General Re and BHRG) follows.

GEICO
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GEICO s gross unpaid losses and loss adjustment expense reserves as of December 31, 2008 were $7,336 million. As of December 31, 2008,
gross reserves included $5,265 million of reported average, case and case development reserves and $2,071 million of IBNR reserves.
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GEICO (Continued)

GEICO predominantly writes private passenger auto insurance which has a relatively short claim-tail. The key assumptions affecting GEICO s
reserves include projections of ultimate claim counts ( frequency ) and average loss per claim ( severity ), which includes loss adjustment expenses.

GEICO s reserving methodologies produce reserve estimates based upon the individual claims (or a ground-up approach), which yields an
aggregate estimate of the ultimate losses and loss adjustment expenses. Ranges of loss estimates are not determined in the aggregate.

Actuaries establish and evaluate unpaid loss reserves using recognized standard actuarial loss development methods and techniques. The
significant reserve components (and percentage of gross reserves) are: (1) average reserves (20%), (2) case and case development reserves
(55%) and (3) IBNR reserves (25%). Each component of loss reserves is affected by the expected frequency and average severity of claims.
Such amounts are analyzed using statistical techniques on historical claims data and adjusted when appropriate to reflect perceived changes in
loss patterns. Data is analyzed by policy coverage, rated state, reporting date and occurrence date, among other factors. A brief discussion of
each reserve component follows.

Average reserve amounts are established for reported auto damage claims and new liability claims prior to the development of an individual case
reserve. The average reserves are established as a reasonable estimate for incurred claims for which claims adjusters have insufficient time and
information to make specific claim estimates and for a large number of minor physical damage claims that are paid within a relatively short time
after being reported. Average reserve amounts are driven by the estimated average severity per claim and the number of new claims opened.

Claims adjusters generally establish individual liability claim case loss and loss adjustment expense reserve estimates as soon as the specific
facts and merits of each claim can be evaluated. Case reserves represent the amounts that in the judgment of the adjusters are reasonably
expected to be paid in the future to completely settle the claim, including expenses. Individual case reserves are revised as more information
becomes known.

For most liability coverages, case reserves alone are an insufficient measure of the ultimate cost due in part to the longer claim-tail, the greater
chance of protracted litigation and the incompleteness of facts available at the time the case reserve is established. Therefore, additional case
development reserve estimates are established, usually as a percentage of the case reserve. As of December 31, 2008, case development reserves
averaged approximately 20% of total established case reserves. In general, case development factors are selected by a retrospective analysis of
the overall adequacy of historical case reserves. Case development factors are reviewed and revised periodically.

For unreported claims, IBNR reserve estimates are calculated by first projecting the ultimate number of claims expected (reported and
unreported) for each significant coverage by using historical quarterly and monthly claim counts to develop age-to-age projections of the
ultimate counts by accident quarter. Reported claims are subtracted from the ultimate claim projections to produce an estimate of the number of
unreported claims. The number of unreported claims is multiplied by an estimate of the average cost per unreported claim to produce the IBNR
reserve amount. Actuarial techniques are difficult to apply reliably in certain situations, such as to new legal precedents, class action suits or
recent catastrophes. Consequently, supplemental IBNR reserves for these types of events may be established through the collaborative effort of
actuarial, claims and other management.

For each of its major coverages, GEICO tests the adequacy of the total loss reserves using one or more actuarial projections based on claim
closure models, paid loss triangles and incurred loss triangles. Each type of projection analyzes loss occurrence data for claims occurring in a
given period and projects the ultimate cost.

Loss reserve estimates recorded at the end of 2007 developed downward by approximately $205 million when reevaluated at December 31, 2008
producing a corresponding increase to pre-tax earnings in 2008. These downward reserve developments represented approximately 2% of earned
premiums in 2008 and approximately 3% of the prior year-end reserve amount. Reserving assumptions at December 31, 2008 were modified
appropriately to reflect the most recent frequency and severity results. Future reserve development will depend on whether frequency and
severity turn out to be more or less than anticipated.
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Within the automobile line of business the reserves with the most uncertainty are for liability coverages, due to the longer claim-tails.
Approximately 90% of GEICO s reserves as of December 31, 2008 were for automobile liability, of which bodily
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GEICO (Continued)

injury ( BI ) coverage accounted for approximately 55%. Management believes it is reasonably possible that the average BI severity will change
by at least one percentage point from the severity used. If actual BI severity changes one percentage point from what was used in establishing

the reserves, the reserves would develop up or down by approximately $112 million resulting in a corresponding decrease or increase in pre-tax
earnings. Many of the same economic forces that would likely cause BI severity to be different from expected would likely also cause severities
for other injury coverages to differ in the same direction.

GEICO s exposure to highly uncertain losses is believed to be limited to certain commercial excess umbrella policies written during a period
from 1981 to 1984. Remaining reserves associated with such exposure are currently a relatively insignificant component of GEICO s total
reserves (approximately 2%) and there is minimal apparent asbestos or environmental liability exposure. Related claim activity over the past
year was insignificant.

General Re and BHRG

General Re s and BHRG s property and casualty loss reserves derive primarily from assumed reinsurance. There are additional uncertainties
unique to loss reserving processes for reinsurance. The nature, extent, timing and perceived reliability of information received from ceding
companies varies widely depending on the type of coverage, the contractual reporting terms (which are affected by market conditions and
practices) and other factors. Due to the lack of standardization of contract terms and conditions, the wide variability of coverage needs of
individual clients and the tendency for those needs to change rapidly in response to market conditions, the ongoing economic impact of such
uncertainties, in and of themselves, cannot be reliably measured.

The nature and extent of loss information provided under many facultative, per occurrence excess contracts or retroactive contracts may not
differ significantly from the information received under a primary insurance contract. This occurs when company personnel either work closely
with the ceding company in settling individual claims or manage the claims themselves. Loss information from aggregate excess-of-loss
contracts, including catastrophe losses and quota-share treaties, is often less detailed. Occasionally loss information is reported in summary
format rather than on an individual claim basis. Loss data is provided through periodic reports and may include the amount of ceded losses paid
where reimbursement is sought as well as case loss reserve estimates. Ceding companies infrequently provide IBNR estimates to reinsurers.

Each of Berkshire s reinsurance businesses has established practices to identify and gather needed information from clients. These practices
include, for example, comparison of expected premiums to reported premiums to help identify delinquent client periodic reports and claim
reviews to facilitate loss reporting and identify inaccurate or incomplete claim reporting. These practices are periodically evaluated and changed
as conditions, risk factors and unanticipated areas of exposures are identified.

The timing of claim reporting to reinsurers is delayed in comparison with primary insurance. In some instances there are multiple reinsurers
assuming and ceding parts of an underlying risk causing multiple contractual intermediaries between General Re or BHRG and the primary
insured. In these instances, the delays in reporting can be compounded. The relative impact of reporting delays on the reinsurer varies depending
on the type of coverage, contractual reporting terms and other factors. Contracts covering casualty losses on a per occurrence excess basis may
experience longer delays in reporting due to the length of the claim-tail as regards to the underlying claim. In addition, ceding companies may
not report claims to the reinsurer until they believe it is reasonably possible that the reinsurer will be affected, usually determined as a function
of its estimate of the claim amount as a percentage of the reinsurance contract retention. However, the timing of reporting large per occurrence
excess property losses or property catastrophe losses may not vary significantly from primary insurance.

Under contracts where periodic premium and claims reports are required from ceding companies, such reports are generally required at quarterly
intervals which in the U.S. range from 30 to 90 days after the end of the accounting period. In continental Europe, reinsurance reporting
practices vary. Fewer clients report premiums, losses and case reserves on a quarterly basis. In certain countries, clients report annually,
generally 90 to 180 days after the end of the annual period. The extended reporting lag does not result in a significant increase in risk or
uncertainty as the actuarial reserving methodologies are adjusted to compensate for the delays.
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General Re and BHRG (Continued)

Premium and loss data is provided through at least one intermediary (the primary insurer), so there is a risk that the loss data provided is
incomplete, inaccurate or outside the coverage terms. Information provided by ceding companies is reviewed for completeness and compliance
with the contract terms. Reinsurance contracts generally allow for Berkshire s reinsurance subsidiaries to have access to the cedant s books and
records with respect to the subject business and provide them the ability to conduct audits to determine the accuracy and completeness of
information. Audits are conducted when management deems it appropriate.

In the normal course of business, disputes with clients arise concerning whether certain claims are covered under the reinsurance policies. Most
coverage disputes are resolved by the company s claims department personnel and the appropriate client personnel or by independent outside
counsel. If disputes cannot be resolved, contracts generally specify whether arbitration, litigation, or alternative dispute resolution will be

invoked. There are no coverage disputes at this time for which an adverse resolution would likely have a material impact on Berkshire s results of
operations or financial condition.

In summary, the scope, number and potential variability of assumptions required in estimating ultimate losses from reinsurance contracts of
General Re and BHRG are more uncertain than primary property and casualty insurers due to the factors previously discussed.

General Re

General Re s gross and net unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses and gross reserves by major line of business as of December 31, 2008 are
summarized below. Amounts are in millions.

Type Line of business

Reported case reserves $ 9,959 Workers compensatioﬁ]) $ 3,108

IBNR reserves 8,282  Professional liability 1,450

Gross reserves 18,241 Mass tort asbestos/environmental 1,810

Ceded reserves and deferred charges (1,006)  Auto liability 2,871

Net reserves $17,235  Other casualty 3,399
Other general liability 2,908
Property 2,695
Total $ 18,241

() Net of discounts of $2,616 million.

) Includes directors and officers and errors and omissions coverage.

() Includes medical malpractice and umbrella coverage.
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General Re s process of establishing loss reserve estimates is based upon a ground-up approach, beginning with case estimates and supplemented
by additional case reserves ( ACRs ) and IBNR reserves. Critical judgments in establishing loss reserves involve the establishment of ACRs by
claim examiners, the expectation of ultimate loss ratios which drive IBNR reserve amounts and the case reserve reporting trends compared to the
expected loss reporting patterns. Recorded reserve amounts are subject to tail risk where reported losses develop beyond the maximum expected
loss emergence pattern time period.

General Re does not routinely determine loss reserve ranges because it believes that the techniques necessary have not sufficiently developed
and the myriad of assumptions required render such resulting ranges to be unreliable. In addition, counts of claims or average amounts per claim
are not utilized because clients do not consistently provide reliable data in sufficient detail.

Upon notification of a reinsurance claim from a ceding company, claim examiners make independent evaluations of loss amounts. In some
cases, examiners estimates differ from amounts reported by ceding companies. If the examiners estimates are significantly greater than the
ceding company s estimates, the claims are further investigated. If deemed appropriate, ACRs are established above the amount reported by the
ceding company. As of December 31, 2008, ACRs aggregated $3.1 billion before discounts and were concentrated in workers compensation
reserves, and to a lesser extent in professional liability reserves. Examiners also periodically conduct detailed claim reviews of individual clients
and case reserves are often increased as a result. In 2008, claim examiners conducted about 340 claim reviews.
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Actuaries classify all loss and premium data into segments ( reserve cells ) primarily based on product (e.g., treaty, facultative and program) and
line of business (e.g., auto liability, property, etc.). For each reserve cell, premiums and losses are aggregated by accident year, policy year or
underwriting year (depending on client reporting practices) and analyzed over time. These loss aggregations are internally called loss triangles
which serve as the primary basis for IBNR reserve calculations. Over 300 reserve cells are reviewed for North American business and
approximately 900 reserve cells are reviewed with respect to international business.

Loss triangles are used to determine the expected case loss emergence patterns for most coverages and, in conjunction with expected loss ratios
by accident year, are further used to determine IBNR reserves. Additional calculations form the basis for estimating the expected loss emergence
pattern. The determination of the expected loss emergence pattern is not strictly a mechanical process. In instances where the historical loss data
is insufficient, estimation formulas are used along with reliance on other loss triangles and judgment. Factors affecting loss development
triangles include but are not limited to the following: changes in client claims practices, changes in claim examiners use of ACRs or the
frequency of client company claim reviews, changes in policy terms and coverage (such as client loss retention levels and occurrence and
aggregate policy limits), changes in loss trends and changes in legal trends that result in unanticipated losses, as well as other sources of
statistical variability. These factors influence the selection of the expected loss emergence patterns.

Expected loss ratios are selected by reserve cell, by accident year, based upon reviewing forecasted losses and indicated ultimate loss ratios that
are predicted from aggregated pricing statistics. Indicated ultimate loss ratios are calculated using the selected loss emergence pattern, reported
losses and earned premium. If the selected emergence pattern is not accurate, then the indicated ultimate loss ratios will not be accurate and this
can affect the selected loss ratios and hence the IBNR reserve. As with selected loss emergence patterns, selecting expected loss ratios is not a
strictly mechanical process and judgment is used in the analysis of indicated ultimate loss ratios and department pricing loss ratios.

IBNR reserves are estimated by reserve cell, by accident year, using the expected loss emergence patterns and the expected loss ratios. The
expected loss emergence patterns and expected loss ratios are the critical IBNR reserving assumptions and are updated annually. Once the
annual IBNR reserves are determined, actuaries calculate expected case loss emergence for the upcoming calendar year. This calculation does
not involve new assumptions and uses the prior year-end expected loss emergence patterns and expected loss ratios. The expected losses are then
allocated into interim estimates that are compared to actual reported losses in the subsequent year. This comparison provides a test of the
adequacy of prior year-end IBNR reserves and forms the basis for possibly changing IBNR reserve assumptions during the course of the year.

In 2008, for prior years workers compensation losses, reported claims were less than expected claims by about $93 million. However, further
analysis of the workers compensation reserve cells by segment indicated the need for additional IBNR. These developments precipitated about
$116 million of a net increase in nominal IBNR reserve estimates for unreported occurrences. After deducting $117 million for the change in net
reserve discounts during the year, workers compensation losses from prior years reduced pre-tax earnings in 2008 by $140 million. To illustrate
the sensitivity of changes in expected loss emergence patterns and expected loss ratios for General Re s significant excess-of-loss workers
compensation reserve cells, an increase of ten points in the tail of the expected emergence pattern and an increase of ten percent in the expected
loss ratios would produce a net increase in nominal IBNR reserves of approximately $623 million and $339 million on a discounted basis as of
December 31, 2008. The increase in discounted reserves would produce a corresponding decrease in pre-tax earnings. Management believes it is
reasonably possible for the tail of the expected loss emergence patterns and expected loss ratios to increase at these rates.

Other casualty and general liability reported losses (excluding mass tort losses) were favorable in 2008 relative to expectations. Casualty losses
tend to be long-tail and it should not be assumed that favorable loss experience in a year means that loss reserve amounts currently established
will continue to develop favorably. For General Re s significant other casualty and general liability reserve cells (including medical malpractice,
umbrella, auto and general liability), an increase of five points in the tails of the expected emergence patterns and an increase of five percent in
expected loss ratios (one percent for large international proportional reserve cells) would produce a net increase in nominal IBNR reserves and a
corresponding reduction in pre-tax earnings of approximately $805 million. Management believes it is reasonably possible for the tail of the
expected loss emergence patterns and expected loss ratios to increase at these rates in any of the individual aforementioned reserve cells.
However, given the diversification in worldwide business, more likely outcomes are believed to be less than $805 million.
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General Re (Continued)

Property losses were lower than expected in 2008 but the nature of property loss experience tends to be more volatile because of the effect of
catastrophes and large individual property losses. In response to favorable claim developments and another year of information, estimated
remaining World Trade Center losses were reduced by $25 million.

In certain reserve cells within excess directors and officers and errors and omissions ( D&O and E&O ) coverages, IBNR reserves are based on
estimated ultimate losses without consideration of expected emergence patterns. These cells often involve a spike in loss activity arising from
recent industry developments making it difficult to select an expected loss emergence pattern. For General Re s large D&O and E&O reserve
cells an increase of ten points in the tail of the expected emergence pattern (for those cells where emergence patterns are considered) and an
increase of ten percent in the expected loss ratios would produce a net increase in nominal IBNR reserves and a corresponding reduction in
pre-tax earnings of approximately $250 million. Management believes it is reasonably possible for the tail of the expected loss emergence
patterns and expected loss ratios to increase at these rates.

Overall industry-wide loss experience data and informed judgment are used when internal loss data is of limited reliability, such as in setting the
estimates for mass tort, asbestos and hazardous waste (collectively, mass tort ) claims. Unpaid mass tort reserves at December 31, 2008 were
approximately $1.8 billion gross and $1.2 billion net of reinsurance. Such reserves were approximately $1.8 billion gross and $1.2 billion net of
reinsurance as of December 31, 2007. Mass tort net claims paid were about $69 million in 2008. In 2008, ultimate loss estimates for asbestos and
environmental claims were increased by $45 million. In addition to the previously described methodologies, General Re considers survival ratios
based on net claim payments in recent years versus net unpaid losses as a rough guide to reserve adequacy. The three year survival ratio was
approximately fourteen years as of December 31, 2008. The insurance industry s comparable survival ratio for asbestos and pollution reserves
was approximately nine years. Estimating mass tort losses is very difficult due to the changing legal environment. Although such reserves are
believed to be adequate, significant reserve increases may be required in the future if new exposures or claimants are identified, new claims are
reported or new theories of liability emerge.

BHRG

BHRG s unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses as of December 31, 2008 are summarized as follows. Amounts are in millions.

Property  Casualty Total

Reported case reserves $ 1836 $ 2426 $ 4,262
IBNR reserves 1,821 3,466 5,287
Retroactive 16,630 16,630
Gross reserves $ 3,657 $22,522 26,179
Deferred charges and ceded reserves 4,793)
Net reserves $21,386

In general, the methodologies used to establish loss reserves vary widely and encompass many of the common methodologies employed in the
actuarial field today. Certain traditional methodologies such as paid and incurred loss development techniques, incurred and paid loss
Bornhuetter-Ferguson techniques and frequency and severity techniques are utilized as well as ground-up techniques where appropriate.
Additional judgments must also be employed to consider changes in contract conditions and terms as well as the incidence of litigation or legal
and regulatory change.

Table of Contents 63



Edgar Filing: CERIDIAN CORP /DE/ - Form PRRN14A

As of December 31, 2008, BHRG s gross loss reserves related to retroactive reinsurance policies were predominantly casualty losses. Retroactive
policies include excess-of-loss contracts, in which losses (relating to loss events occurring before a specified date on or before the contract date)
above a contractual retention are indemnified or contracts that indemnify all losses paid by the counterparty after the policy effective date.
Retroactive reinsurance losses and loss adjustment expenses paid in 2008 were $1.2 billion. The classification reported case reserves has no
practical analytical value with respect to retroactive policies since the amount is often derived from reports in bulk from ceding companies, who
may have inconsistent definitions of case reserves. Reserves are reviewed and established in the aggregate by contract including provisions for
IBNR reserves.
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In establishing retroactive reinsurance reserves, historical aggregate loss payment patterns are often analyzed and projected into the future under
various scenarios. The claim-tail is expected to be very long for many policies and may last several decades. Management assigns judgmental
probability factors to these aggregate loss payment scenarios and an expectancy outcome is determined. Management monitors claim payment
activity and reviews ceding company reports and other information concerning the underlying losses. Since the claim-tail is expected to be very
long for such contracts, management reassesses expected ultimate losses as significant events related to the underlying losses are reported or
revealed during the monitoring and review process. During 2008, retroactive reserves developed upward by approximately $200 million.

BHRG s liabilities for environmental, asbestos, and latent injury losses and loss adjustment expenses are presently concentrated within
retroactive reinsurance contracts. Reserves for such losses were approximately $9.2 billion at December 31, 2008 and $9.7 billion at

December 31, 2007. Losses paid in 2008 attributable to these exposures were approximately $700 million. BHRG, as a reinsurer, does not
regularly receive reliable information regarding asbestos, environmental and latent injury claims from all ceding companies on a consistent
basis, particularly with respect to multi-line treaty or aggregate excess-of-loss policies. Periodically, a ground-up analysis of the underlying loss
data of the reinsured is conducted to make an estimate of ultimate reinsured losses. When detailed loss information is unavailable, estimates can
only be developed by applying recent industry trends and projections to aggregate client data. Judgments in these areas necessarily include the
stability of the legal and regulatory environment under which these claims will be adjudicated. Potential legal reform and legislation could also
have a significant impact on establishing loss reserves for mass tort claims in the future.

The maximum losses payable by BHRG under retroactive policies are not expected to exceed approximately $24.3 billion as of December 31,
2008. Absent significant judicial or legislative changes affecting asbestos, environmental or latent injury exposures, management currently
believes it unlikely that unpaid losses as of December 31, 2008 ($16.6 billion) will develop upward to the maximum loss payable or downward
by more than 15%.

A significant number of recent reinsurance contracts are expected to have a low frequency of claim occurrence combined with a potential for
high severity of claims. These include property losses from catastrophes, terrorism and aviation risks under catastrophe and individual risk
contracts. Loss reserves related to catastrophe and individual risk contracts were approximately $1.3 billion at December 31, 2008, and were
essentially unchanged from the prior year. In 2008 and 2007, loss reserves for prior years events declined by approximately $200 million which
produced corresponding increases to pre-tax earnings each year. Reserving techniques for catastrophe and individual risk contracts generally rely
more on a per-policy assessment of the ultimate cost associated with the individual loss event rather than with an analysis of the historical
development patterns of past losses. Catastrophe loss reserves are provided when it is probable that an insured loss has occurred and the amount
can be reasonably estimated. Absent litigation affecting the interpretation of coverage terms, the expected claim-tail is relatively short and thus
the estimation error in the initial reserve estimates usually emerges within 24 months after the loss event.

Other reinsurance reserve amounts are generally based upon loss estimates reported by ceding companies and IBNR reserves that are primarily a
function of reported losses from ceding companies and anticipated loss ratios established on an individual contract basis, supplemented by
management s judgment of the impact on each contract of major catastrophe events as they become known. Anticipated loss ratios are based
upon management s judgment considering the type of business covered, analysis of each ceding company s loss history and evaluation of that
portion of the underlying contracts underwritten by each ceding company, which are in turn ceded to BHRG. A range of reserve amounts as a
result of changes in underlying assumptions is not prepared.

Derivative contract liabilities

Berkshire s Consolidated Balance Sheets include significant amounts of derivative contract liabilities that are measured at fair value. These
contracts were primarily entered into in over-the-counter markets and certain elements in the terms and conditions of such contracts are not
standardized. Furthermore, there is no source of independent data available to the Company that periodically shows trading volume and actual
prices. As a result, the values of these liabilities are primarily based on valuation models, discounted cash flow models or other valuation
techniques that are believed to be used by market participants. Such models or other valuation techniques may use inputs that are observable in
the marketplace, while others are unobservable.
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Unobservable inputs require management to make certain projections and assumptions about the information that would be used by market
participants in pricing. Considerable judgment may be required in making assumptions, including the selection of interest rates, default and
recovery rates and volatility. Changes in assumptions may have a significant effect on values.

In determining the fair value of most of the credit default contracts, Berkshire used bid/ask pricing data on similar contracts as the basis for
estimating fair value. Pricing data is monitored and reviewed by management for consistency as well as reasonableness. Pricing data for newer
credit default contracts tends to vary little among the different pricing sources, which management believes is an indication that trading of such
contracts is relatively active. As contracts age towards their expiration dates, the variations in pricing data can widen, which management
believes is indicative of inactive markets. However, the impact of such variations is partially mitigated by shorter remaining durations and by the
availability of data on newer contracts, which is used for comparison.

Berkshire determines the estimated fair value of equity index put option contracts based on the widely used Black-Scholes option valuation
model. Inputs to that model include the current index value, strike price, discount or interest rate, dividend rate and contract expiration date. The
weighted averaged discount and dividend rates used as of December 31, 2008 were each approximately 4%. Berkshire believes the most
significant economic risks relate to changes in the index value component and to a lesser degree to the foreign currency component. For
additional information, see Berkshire s Market Risk Disclosures.

The Black-Scholes model also incorporates volatility estimates that measure potential price changes over time. The weighted average volatility
used as of December 31, 2008 was approximately 22%. The impact on fair value as of December 31, 2008 ($10.0 billion) from changes in
volatility is summarized below. The values of contracts in an actual exchange are affected by market conditions and perceptions of the buyers
and sellers. Actual values in an exchange may differ significantly from the values produced by any mathematical model. Dollars are in millions.

Hypothetical change in volatility (percentage points) Hypothetical fair value
Increase 2 percentage points $ 10,451
Increase 4 percentage points 10,882
Decrease 2 percentage points 9,598
Decrease 4 percentage points 9,182

Other Critical Accounting Policies

Berkshire records deferred charges with respect to liabilities assumed under retroactive reinsurance contracts. At the inception of these contracts,
the deferred charges represent the difference between the consideration received and the estimated ultimate liability for unpaid losses. Deferred
charges are amortized using the interest method over an estimate of the ultimate claim payment period with the periodic amortization reflected in
earnings as a component of losses and loss expenses. Deferred charge balances are adjusted periodically to reflect new projections of the amount
and timing of loss payments. Adjustments to these assumptions are applied retrospectively from the inception of the contract. Unamortized
deferred charges were $3.9 billion at December 31, 2008. Significant changes in the estimated amount and payment timing of unpaid losses may
have a significant effect on unamortized deferred charges and the amount of periodic amortization.

Berkshire s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2008 includes goodwill of acquired businesses of approximately $33.8 billion. A
significant amount of judgment is required in performing goodwill impairment tests. Such tests include periodically determining or reviewing
the estimated fair value of Berkshire s reporting units. There are several methods of estimating a reporting unit s fair value, including market
quotations, asset and liability fair values and other valuation techniques, such as discounted projected future net earnings or net cash flows and
multiples of earnings. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds the estimated fair value, then individual assets
(including identifiable intangible assets) and liabilities of the reporting unit are estimated at fair value. The excess of the estimated fair value of
the reporting unit over the estimated fair value of net assets would establish the implied value of goodwill. The excess of the recorded amount of
goodwill over the implied value is then charged to earnings as an impairment loss.
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Management s Discussion (Continued)

Market Risk Disclosures

Berkshire s Consolidated Balance Sheets include a substantial amount of assets and liabilities whose fair values are subject to market risks.
Berkshire s significant market risks are primarily associated with interest rates, equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity
prices. During the fourth quarter of 2008, conditions in the public debt and equity markets declined significantly resulting in exceptional
volatility in debt and equity prices. The impact of actions taken recently by governmental bodies in response to the current economic crisis is
difficult to predict, particularly over the short term. Berkshire management believes that these extraordinary conditions are temporary and that
equity prices will ultimately rise over time and that credit markets will normalize but cannot predict the timing or magnitude of a recovery. The
fair values of Berkshire s investment portfolios and its equity index put option contracts remain subject to considerable volatility, particularly
over the short term. The following sections address the significant market risks associated with Berkshire s business activities.

Interest Rate Risk

Berkshire s regularly invests in bonds, loans or other interest rate sensitive instruments. Berkshire s strategy is to acquire securities that are
attractively priced in relation to the perceived credit risk. Management recognizes and accepts that losses may occur with respect to assets.
Berkshire strives to maintain high credit ratings so that the cost of debt is minimized. Berkshire utilizes derivative products, such as interest rate
swaps, to manage interest rate risks on a limited basis.

The fair values of Berkshire s fixed maturity investments and notes payable and other borrowings will fluctuate in response to changes in market
interest rates. Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases and increases in fair values of those
instruments. Additionally, fair values of interest rate sensitive instruments may be affected by the creditworthiness of the issuer, prepayment
options, relative values of alternative investments, the liquidity of the instrument and other general market conditions. The fair values of fixed
interest rate investments may be more sensitive to interest rate changes than variable rate investments.

The following table summarizes the estimated effects of hypothetical changes in interest rates on assets and liabilities that are subject to interest
rate risk. It is assumed that the changes occur immediately and uniformly to each category of instrument containing interest rate risk, and that no
other significant factors change that determine the value of the instrument. The hypothetical changes in interest rates do not reflect what could be
deemed best or worst case scenarios. Variations in interest rates could produce significant changes in the timing of repayments due to
prepayment options available. For these reasons, actual results might differ from those reflected in the table. Dollars are in millions.

Estimated Fair Value after
Hypothetical Change in Interest Rates
(bp=basis points)
100 bp 100 bp 200 bp 300 bp
Fair Value decrease increase increase increase

December 31, 2008
Insurance and other businesses:

Investments in fixed maturity securities $ 27,115 $27.847 $26,382 $25,685 $25,064
Notes payable and other borrowings 4,300 4,370 4,234 4,173 4,117
Finance and financial products businesses:

Investments in fixed maturity securities and loans and finance receivables 18,533 19,257 17,664 16,874 16,155
Notes payable and other borrowings 13,869 14,425 13,356 12,882 12,441
Utilities and energy businesses:

Notes payable and other borrowings 19,144 20,864 17,673 16,415 15,328

December 31, 2007
Insurance and other businesses:

Investments in fixed maturity securities $ 28,515 $29,179 $27,689 $26967 $26,318
Notes payable and other borrowings 2,709 2,757 2,666 2,628 2,593
Finance and financial products businesses:

Investments in fixed maturity securities and loans and finance receivables 15,843 16,860 14,766 13,806 12,934
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Notes payable and other borrowings 12,321 12,725 11,921 11,563 11,229

Utilities and energy businesses:

Notes payable and other borrowings 19,834 21,640 18,305 17,006 15,890
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Equity Price Risk

Historically, Berkshire has maintained large amounts of invested assets in exchange traded equity securities. Strategically, Berkshire strives to
invest in businesses that possess excellent economics, with able and honest management and at sensible prices and prefers to invest a meaningful
amount in each investee. Consequently, equity investments may be concentrated in relatively few investees. At December 31, 2008, 57% of the
total fair value of equity investments was concentrated in four investees.

Berkshire prefers to hold equity investments for very long periods of time so management is not troubled by short-term equity price volatility
with respect to its investments provided that the underlying business, economic and management characteristics of the investees remain
favorable. Berkshire strives to maintain above average levels of shareholder capital to provide a margin of safety against short-term equity price

volatility.

Market prices for equity securities are subject to fluctuation and consequently the amount realized in the subsequent sale of an investment may
significantly differ from the reported market value. Fluctuation in the market price of a security may result from perceived changes in the
underlying economic characteristics of the investee, the relative price of alternative investments and general market conditions.

Berkshire is also subject to equity price risk with respect to its equity index put option contracts. While Berkshire s ultimate potential loss with
respect to these contracts is determined from the movement of the underlying stock index between contract inception date and expiration, the
change in fair value resulting from current changes in the index values are also affected by changes in other factors such as interest rates,
expected dividend rates and the remaining duration of the contract. These contracts generally expire 15 to 20 years from inception and may not

be settled before their respective expiration dates.

The following table summarizes Berkshire s equity investments and derivative contract liabilities with equity price risk as of December 31, 2008
and 2007. The effects of a hypothetical 30% increase and a 30% decrease in market prices as of those dates is also shown. The selected 30%
hypothetical change does not reflect what could be considered the best or worst case scenarios. Indeed, results could be far worse due both to the
nature of equity markets and the aforementioned concentrations existing in Berkshire s equity investment portfolio. Dollar amounts are in

millions.

December 31, 2008
Equity securities

Equity index put options

December 31, 2007
Equity securities

Equity index put options

Foreign Currency Risk

Fair Value
$ 49,073

(10,022)

$ 74,999

(4,610)

Hypothetical
Price Change

30% increase
30% decrease
30% increase
30% decrease

30% increase
30% decrease
30% increase
30% decrease

Estimated
Fair Value after
Hypothetical
Change in Prices

$ 63,795
34,351
(7,952)

(12,799)

$ 97,499
52,499
(3,282)
(6,900)

Hypothetical
Percentage
Increase (Decrease) in
Shareholders Equity

8.8
(8.8)
1.2
(1.7)

12.1
(12.1)

0.7
(1.2)

Berkshire generally does not use derivative contracts to hedge foreign currency price changes primarily because of the natural hedging that
occurs between assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies in the consolidated financial statements. Financial statements of
subsidiaries that do not use the U.S. Dollar as their functional currency are translated into U.S. Dollars using period-end exchange rates for
assets and liabilities and weighted-average exchange rates for revenues and expenses. Adjustments resulting from translating the financial
statements of these subsidiaries are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are
included in earnings primarily as a result of the translation of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities held by U.S. subsidiaries. In
addition, Berkshire holds investments in major multinational companies that have significant foreign business and foreign currency risk of their
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Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

Berkshire s net assets subject to translation are primarily in the insurance and utilities and energy businesses, and to a lesser extent in the
manufacturing and services businesses. The translation impact is somewhat offset by transaction gains or losses on net reinsurance liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies of certain U.S. subsidiaries as well as the equity index put option liabilities of U.S. subsidiaries relating to
contracts that would be settled in foreign currencies.

Commodity Price Risk

Berkshire, through its ownership of MidAmerican, is subject to commodity price risk. Exposures include variations in the price of wholesale
electricity that is purchased and sold, fuel costs to generate electricity and natural gas supply for regulated retail gas customers. Electricity and
natural gas prices are subject to wide price swings as demand responds to, among many other items, changing weather, limited storage,
transmission and transportation constraints, and lack of alternative supplies from other areas. To mitigate a portion of the risk, MidAmerican
uses derivative instruments, including forwards, futures, options, swaps and other over-the-counter agreements, to effectively secure future
supply or sell future production at fixed prices. The settled cost of these contracts is generally recovered from customers in regulated rates.
Accordingly, gains and losses associated with interim price movements on such contracts are recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities.
Financial results may be negatively impacted if the costs of wholesale electricity, fuel or natural gas are higher than what is permitted to be
recovered in rates. MidAmerican also uses futures, options and swap agreements to economically hedge gas and electric commodity prices for
physical delivery to non-regulated customers. MidAmerican does not engage in a material amount of proprietary trading activities.

The table that follows summarizes Berkshire s commodity price risk on energy derivative contracts of MidAmerican as of December 31, 2008
and 2007 and shows the effects of a hypothetical 10% increase and a 10% decrease in forward market prices by the expected volumes for these
contracts as of that date. The selected hypothetical change does not reflect what could be considered the best or worst case scenarios. Dollars are
in millions.

Estimated Fair Value after

Fair Value Hypothetical
net assets Change in
(liabilities) Hypothetical Price Change Price
December 31, 2008 $ (528 10% increase $ 474)
10% decrease (582)
December 31, 2007 $ (263) 10% increase $ (208)
10% decrease (318)

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Investors are cautioned that certain statements contained in this document, as well as some statements in periodic press releases and some oral

statements of Berkshire officials during presentations about Berkshire, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the Act ). Forward-looking statements include statements that are predictive in nature, that depend

upon or refer to future events or conditions, that include words such as expects, anticipates, intends, plans, believes, estimates, or similar
expressions. In addition, any statements concerning future financial performance (including future revenues, earnings or growth rates), ongoing

business strategies or prospects, and possible future Berkshire actions, which may be provided by management are also forward-looking

statements as defined by the Act. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and projections about future events and are

subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions about Berkshire, economic and market factors and the industries in which Berkshire does

business, among other things. These statements are not guaranties of future performance and Berkshire has no specific intention to update these
statements.

Actual events and results may differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in forward-looking statements due to a number of factors. The
principal important risk factors that could cause Berkshire s actual performance and future events and actions to differ materially from such
forward-looking statements, include, but are not limited to, changes in market prices of Berkshire s investments in fixed maturity and equity
securities, losses realized from derivative contracts, the occurrence of one or more catastrophic events, such as an earthquake, hurricane or an act
of terrorism that causes losses insured by Berkshire s insurance subsidiaries, changes in insurance laws or regulations, changes in Federal income
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
See Market Risk Disclosures contained in Item 7 Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of Berkshire Hathaway Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our

management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the
Company s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 as required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(c).
In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth in the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has been audited by Deloitte &
Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on the following page.
Berkshire Hathaway Inc.

February 27, 2009
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Berkshire Hathaway Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Berkshire Hathaway Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company ) as of December 31,
2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, cash flows and changes in shareholders equity and comprehensive income
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008. We also have audited the Company s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and an opinion on the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit
of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company s principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company s board of directors, management, and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Berkshire
Hathaway Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Omaha, Nebraska

February 27, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in millions except per share amounts)

ASSETS

Insurance and Other:

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments:

Fixed maturity securities

Equity securities

Other

Loans and receivables

Inventories

Property, plant, equipment and assets held for lease
Goodwill

Deferred charges reinsurance assumed
Other

Utilities and Energy:

Cash and cash equivalents
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill

Other

Finance and Financial Products:
Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in fixed maturity securities
Loans and finance receivables
Goodwill

Other

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC.

and Subsidiaries

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Insurance and Other:

Losses and loss adjustment expenses
Unearned premiums

Life and health insurance benefits

Other policyholder liabilities

Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities
Notes payable and other borrowings

Table of Contents

December 31,

2008 2007
$ 24302 $ 37,703
27,115 28,515
49,073 74,999

21,535

14,925 13,157
7,500 5,793
16,703 9,969
27,477 26,306
3,923 3,987
9,334 7,797
201,887 208,226
280 1,178
28,454 26,221
5,280 5,543
7,556 6,246
41,570 39,188
957 5,448
4,517 3,056
13,942 12,359
1,024 1,013
3,502 3,870
23,942 25,746
$267,399 $273,160
$ 56,620 $ 56,002
7,861 6,680
3,619 3,804
3,243 4,089
11,744 10,672
4,349 2,680
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87,436 83,927

Utilities and Energy:
Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities 6,303 6,043
Notes payable and other borrowings 19,145 19,002

25,448 25,045

Finance and Financial Products:

Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities 2,656 2,931
Derivative contract liabilities 14,612 6,887
Notes payable and other borrowings 13,388 12,144

30,656 21,962

Income taxes, principally deferred 10,280 18,825
Total liabilities 153,820 149,759
Minority shareholders interests 4,312 2,668

Shareholders equity:

Common stock: Class A, $5 par value; Class B, $0.1667 par value 8 8
Capital in excess of par value 27,133 26,952
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,954 21,620
Retained earnings 78,172 72,153
Total shareholders equity 109,267 120,733

$267,399 $273,160

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

Revenues:

Insurance and Other:

Insurance premiums earned

Sales and service revenues

Interest, dividend and other investment income
Investment gains/losses

Utilities and Energy:
Operating revenues
Other

Finance and Financial Products:
Interest income

Investment gains/losses
Derivative gains/losses

Other

Costs and expenses:

Insurance and Other:

Insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses
Life and health insurance benefits

Insurance underwriting expenses

Cost of sales and services

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Interest expense

Utilities and Energy:
Cost of sales and operating expenses
Interest expense

Finance and Financial Products:

Table of Contents

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC.

and Subsidiaries

(dollars in millions except per share amounts)

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007

25,525 31,783
65,854 58,243
4,966 4,979
(647) 5,405
95,698 100,410
12,668 12,376
1,303 252
13,971 12,628
1,790 1,717
7 193

(6,821) (89)
3,141 3,386
(1,883) 5,207
107,786 118,245
16,259 21,010
1,840 1,786
4,634 5,613
54,103 47,477
8,052 7,098
156 164
85,044 83,148
9,840 9,696
1,168 1,158
11,008 10,854

2006

23,964
51,803
4,382
1,697

81,846

10,301
343

10,644

1,610
114
824

3,501

6,049

98,539

13,068
1,618
5,440

42,416
5,932

195

68,669
8,189
979

9,168
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Interest expense 639 588 550
Other 3,521 3,494 3,374
4,160 4,082 3,924

100,212 98,084 81,761

Earnings before income taxes and minority interests 7,574 20,161 16,778
Income taxes 1,978 6,594 5,505
Minority shareholders interests 602 354 258
Net earnings $ 4,994 $ 13,213 $ 11,015
Average common shares outstanding * 1,548,960 1,545,751 1,541,807
Net earnings per common share * $ 3,224 $ 8,548 $ 7,144

* Average shares outstanding include average Class A common shares and average Class B common shares determined on an equivalent
Class A common stock basis. Net earnings per common share shown above represents net earnings per equivalent Class A common share.
Net earnings per Class B common share is equal to one-thirtieth (1/30) of such amount or $107 per share for 2008, $285 per share for 2007
and $238 per share for 2006.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC.
and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to operating cash flows:
Investment (gains) losses

Depreciation

Minority interests

Other

Changes in operating assets and liabilities before business acquisitions:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses

Deferred charges reinsurance assumed

Unearned premiums

Receivables and originated loans

Derivative contract assets and liabilities

Income taxes

Other assets and liabilities

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of fixed maturity securities

Purchases of equity securities

Purchases of other investments

Sales of fixed maturity securities

Redemptions and maturities of fixed maturity securities
Sales of equity securities

Purchases of loans and finance receivables

Principal collections on loans and finance receivables
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and assets held for lease
Other

Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings of finance businesses

Proceeds from borrowings of utilities and energy businesses
Proceeds from other borrowings

Repayments of borrowings of finance businesses
Repayments of borrowings of utilities and energy businesses
Repayments of other borrowings

Changes in short term borrowings

Other

Net cash flows from financing activities

Table of Contents

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006
$ 4,994 $ 13,213 $ 11,015
640 (5,598) (1,811)
2,810 2,407 2,066
602 354 258
(1,248) (268) (627)
1,466 (1,164) (2,704)
64 196 424
1,311 (713) 637
(2,222) 977) 59)
7,827 2,938 (563)
(2,057) 553 303
(2,935) 1,609 1,256
11,252 12,550 10,195
(35,615) (13,394) (7,747)
(10,140) (19,111) 9,173)
(14,452)
14,796 7,821 1,818
18,550 9,158 10,313
6,840 8,054 3,778
(1,446) (1,008) (365)
740 1,229 985
(6,050) (1,602) (10,132)
(6,138) (5,373) 4,571)
849 798 1,017
(32,066) (13,428) (14,077)
5,195 1,153 1,280
2,147 3,538 2,417
134 121 215
(3,861) (1,093) (244)
(2,147) (1,149) (516)
(233) (995) 991)
1,183 (596) 245
(132) 387 84
2,286 1,366 2,490
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Effects of foreign currency exchange rate changes

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year *

* Cash and cash equivalents at end of year are comprised of the following:
Insurance and Other

Utilities and Energy

Finance and Financial Products

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

59

Table of Contents

(262)

(18,790)
44,329

$ 25,539

$ 24,302
280
957

$ 25,539

98

586
43,743

$ 44,329

$ 37,703
1,178
5,448

$ 44,329

117

(1,275)
45,018

$ 43,743

$ 37,977
343
5,423

$ 43,743
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BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC.

and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(dollars in millions)

Class A & B Common Stock
Balance at beginning and end of year

Capital in Excess of Par Value
Balance at beginning of year
Issuance of Class A and B shares

Balance at end of year

Retained Earnings

Balance at beginning of year

Adoption of new accounting pronouncements
Net earnings

Adoption of equity method
Balance at end of year

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Unrealized appreciation of investments

Applicable income taxes

Reclassification adjustment of investment appreciation included in net earnings
Applicable income taxes

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Applicable income taxes

Prior service cost and actuarial gains/losses of defined benefit plans

Applicable income taxes

Other, including minority interests

Other comprehensive income

Accumulated other comprehensive income at beginning of year
Adoption of equity method

Adoption of SFAS 158

Accumulated other comprehensive income at end of year

Comprehensive Income
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income
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EQUITY
Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006
$ 8 $ 8 $ 8
$ 26,952 $26,522 $ 26,399
181 430 123
$ 27,133 $26,952 $26,522
$ 72,153 $58,912 $47,717
28 180
4,994 13,213 11,015
77,147 72,153 58,912
1,025
$ 78,172 $72,153 $ 58,912
$(23,342) $ 2,523 $ 9,278
8,257 (872) (3,246)
895 (5,494) (1,646)
(313) 1,923 576
(2,140) 456 603
118 (26) 1
(1,071) 257 563
389 (102) (196)
(60) 22) (13)
(17,267) (1,357) 5,920
21,620 22,977 17,360
(399)

(303)
$ 3,954 $21,620 $22,977
$ 4,994 $13,213 $11,015

(17,267) (1,357) 5,920
84



Total comprehensive income
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See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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$(12,273)

$ 11,856

$ 16,935
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BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC.
and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2008

(1) Significant accounting policies and practices

(a) Nature of operations and basis of consolidation
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. ( Berkshire or Company ) is a holding company owning subsidiaries engaged in a number of diverse business activities,
including property and casualty insurance and reinsurance, utilities and energy, finance, manufacturing, service and retailing. Further
information regarding these businesses and Berkshire s reportable business segments is contained in Note 21. Berkshire consummated a number
of business acquisitions over the past three years which are discussed in Note 2.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Berkshire consolidated with the accounts of all of its subsidiaries
and affiliates in which Berkshire holds a controlling financial interest as of the financial statement date. Normally a controlling financial interest
reflects ownership of a majority of the voting interests. Other factors considered in determining whether a controlling financial interest is held
include whether Berkshire possesses the authority to purchase or sell assets or make other operating decisions that significantly affect the entity s
results of operations and whether Berkshire bears a majority of the financial risks of the entity. Intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated. Certain amounts in prior year presentations have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.

(b)  Use of estimates in preparation of financial statements
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America ( GAAP ) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. In particular, estimates of unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses and related recoverables under reinsurance for property and casualty insurance are subject to considerable estimation error
due to the inherent uncertainty in projecting ultimate claim amounts that will be settled over many years. In addition, estimates and assumptions
associated with the amortization of deferred charges reinsurance assumed, determinations of fair value of certain financial instruments and the
determinations of goodwill impairments require considerable judgment by management. Actual results may differ from the estimates used in
preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of funds invested in U.S. Treasury Bills, money market accounts and in other investments with a maturity of three
months or less when purchased. Cash and cash equivalents exclude amounts where availability is restricted by loan agreements or other
contractual provisions. Restricted amounts are included in other assets.

(d) Investments
Berkshire s management determines the appropriate classifications of investments in fixed maturity and equity securities at the acquisition date
and re-evaluates the classifications at each balance sheet date. Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost, reflecting the ability
and intent to hold the securities to maturity. Trading investments are carried at fair value and include securities acquired with the intent to sell in
the near term. All other securities are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value with net unrealized gains or losses reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income.
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Investment gains and losses arise when investments are sold (as determined on a specific identification basis) or are other-than-temporarily
impaired. If in management s judgment a decline in the value of an investment below cost is other than temporary, the cost of the investment is
written down to fair value with a corresponding charge to earnings. Factors considered in judging whether an impairment is other than temporary
include: the financial condition, business prospects and creditworthiness of the issuer, the length of time that fair value has been less than cost,
the relative amount of the decline and Berkshire s ability and intent to hold the investment until the fair value recovers.

Berkshire utilizes the equity method of accounting with respect to investments when it has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not
control, over the operating and financial policies of the investee. The ability to exercise
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(1) Significant accounting policies and practices (Continued)
(d) Investments (Continued)

significant influence is presumed when an investor possesses more than 20% of the voting interests of the investee. This presumption may be
overcome based on specific facts and circumstances that demonstrate that the ability to exercise significant influence is restricted. Berkshire
applies the equity method to investments in common stock and to other investments when such other investments possess substantially identical
subordinated interests to common stock. In applying the equity method with respect to investments previously accounted for at cost or fair value,
the carrying value of the investment is adjusted on a step-by-step basis as if the equity method had been applied from the time the investment
was first acquired.

In applying the equity method, Berkshire records the investment at cost and subsequently increases or decreases the investment by its
proportionate share of the net earnings or losses and other comprehensive income of the investee. Dividends or other equity distributions are
recorded as reductions in the carrying value of the investment. In the event that net losses of the investee have reduced the equity method
investment to zero, additional net losses may be recorded if other investments in the investee are at-risk, even if Berkshire has not committed to
provide financial support to the investee. Such additional equity method losses, if any, are based upon the change in Berkshire s claim on the
investee s book value.

(e) Loans and finance receivables
Loans and finance receivables consist of commercial and consumer loans originated or purchased. Loans and finance receivables are stated at
amortized cost less allowances for uncollectible accounts based on Berkshire s ability and intent to hold such loans and receivables to maturity.
Amortized cost represents acquisition cost, plus or minus origination and commitment costs paid or fees received, which together with
acquisition premiums or discounts are deferred and amortized as yield adjustments over the life of the loan.

Allowances for estimated losses from uncollectible loans are recorded when it is probable that the counterparty will be unable to pay all amounts
due according to the terms of the loan. Allowances are provided on aggregations of consumer loans with similar characteristics and terms based
upon historical loss and recovery experience, delinquency rates and current economic conditions. Provisions for loan losses are included in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

(f)  Derivatives
Derivative contracts are carried at estimated fair value and are classified as assets or liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Such balances reflect reductions permitted under master netting agreements with counterparties. The changes in fair value of derivative
contracts that do not qualify as hedging instruments for financial reporting purposes are included in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as
derivative gains/losses.

Cash collateral received from or paid to counterparties to secure derivative contract assets or liabilities is included in other liabilities or assets of
finance and financial products businesses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Securities received from counterparties as collateral are not
recorded as assets and securities delivered to counterparties as collateral continue to be reflected as assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(g) Fair value measurements
As defined under SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ( SFAS 157 ), fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability between market participants in the principal market or in the most advantageous market when no principal market exists.
Market participants are assumed to be independent, knowledgeable, able and willing to transact an exchange and not under duress.
Nonperformance or credit risk is considered when determining the fair value of liabilities. Considerable judgment may be required in
interpreting market data used to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, estimates of fair value presented herein are not necessarily
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indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current or future market exchange.

(h) Inventories
Inventories consist of manufactured goods and purchased goods acquired for resale. Manufactured inventory costs include raw materials, direct
and indirect labor and factory overhead. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(1) Significant accounting policies and practices (Continued)
(h) Inventories (Continued)

market. As of December 31, 2008, approximately 40% of the total inventory cost was determined using the last-in-first-out ( LIFO ) method, 35%
using the first-in-first-out ( FIFO ) method, with the remainder using the specific identification method and average cost methods. With respect to
inventories carried at LIFO cost, the aggregate difference in value between LIFO cost and cost determined under FIFO methods was $607

million and $331 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(i)  Property, plant and equipment and assets held for lease
Additions to property, plant and equipment and assets held for lease are recorded at cost. The cost of major additions and betterments are
capitalized, while replacements, maintenance and repairs that do not improve or extend the useful lives of the related assets are expensed as
incurred. Interest over the construction period is capitalized as a component of cost of constructed assets. In addition, the cost of constructed
assets of certain domestic regulated utility and energy subsidiaries that are subject to SFAS No. 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types
of Regulation ( SFAS 71 ) includes the capitalization of the estimated cost of capital incurred during the construction period. Also see Note 1(0).

Depreciation is provided principally on the straight-line method over estimated useful lives. Depreciation of assets of certain regulated utility
and energy subsidiaries is provided over recovery periods based on composite asset class lives as agreed to by regulators.

Property, plant and equipment and assets held for lease are evaluated for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable or the assets meet the criteria of held for sale. Upon the occurrence of a triggering event,
the asset is reviewed to assess whether the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected from the use of the asset plus residual value from the
ultimate disposal exceeds the carrying value of the asset. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amounts, the asset is written
down to the estimated discounted present value of the expected future cash flows from using the asset. Impairment losses are reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings, except with respect to impairments of assets of certain domestic regulated utility and energy subsidiaries
where losses are offset by the establishment of a regulatory asset to the extent recovery in future rates is probable.

(j)  Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired in business acquisitions. Goodwill is
evaluated for impairment at least annually. Evaluating goodwill for impairment involves a two-step process. The first step is to estimate the fair
value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds the estimated fair value, a second step is
performed. Under the second step, the identifiable assets, including identifiable intangible assets, and liabilities of the reporting unit are
estimated at fair value as of the current testing date. The excess of the estimated fair value of the reporting unit over the estimated fair value of
net assets establishes the implied value of goodwill. The excess of the recorded goodwill over the implied value is charged to earnings as an
impairment loss. A significant amount of judgment is required in estimating the fair value of the reporting unit and performing goodwill
impairment tests.

(k)  Revenue recognition
Insurance premiums for prospective property/casualty insurance and reinsurance and health reinsurance policies are earned in proportion to the
level of protection provided. In most cases, premiums are recognized as revenues ratably over the term of the contract with unearned premiums
computed on a monthly or daily pro rata basis. Premiums for retroactive reinsurance property/casualty policies are earned at the inception of the
contracts. Premiums for life reinsurance contracts are earned when due. Premiums earned are stated net of amounts ceded to reinsurers.
Premiums are estimated with respect to certain reinsurance contracts where reports from ceding companies for the period are not contractually
due until after the balance sheet date. For contracts containing experience rating provisions, premiums are based upon estimated loss experience
under the contract.
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Sales revenues derive from the sales of manufactured products and goods acquired for resale. Revenues from sales are recognized upon passage
of title to the customer, which generally coincides with customer pickup, product delivery or acceptance, depending on terms of the sales
arrangement.
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(1) Significant accounting policies and practices (Continued)
(k)  Revenue recognition (Continued)

Service revenues derive primarily from pilot training and flight operations and flight management activities. Service revenues are recognized as
the services are performed. Services provided pursuant to a contract are either recognized over the contract period or upon completion of the
elements specified in the contract depending on the terms of the contract. Revenues related to the sales of fractional ownership interests in
aircraft are recognized ratably over the term of the related management services agreement as the transfer of ownership interest in the aircraft is
inseparable from the management services agreement.

Interest income from investments in bonds and loans is earned under the constant yield method and includes accrual of interest due under terms
of the bond or loan agreement as well as amortization of acquisition premiums and accruable discounts. In determining the constant yield for
mortgage-backed securities, anticipated counterparty prepayments are estimated and evaluated periodically. Dividends from equity securities are
earned on the ex-dividend date.

Operating revenue of utilities and energy businesses resulting from the distribution and sale of natural gas and electricity to customers is
recognized when the service is rendered or the energy is delivered. Amounts recognized include unbilled as well as billed amounts. Rates
charged are generally subject to Federal and state regulation or established under contractual arrangements. When preliminary rates are
permitted to be billed prior to final approval by the applicable regulator, certain revenue collected may be subject to refund and a liability for
estimated refunds is accrued.

(I)  Losses and loss adjustment expenses
Liabilities for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses represent estimated claim and claim settlement costs of property/casualty insurance
and reinsurance contracts with respect to losses that have occurred as of the balance sheet date. The liabilities for losses and loss adjustment
expenses are recorded at the estimated ultimate payment amounts, except that amounts arising from certain workers compensation reinsurance
business are discounted as discussed below. Estimated ultimate payment amounts are based upon (1) individual case estimates, (2) reports of
losses from policyholders and (3) estimates of incurred but not reported losses.

Provisions for losses and loss adjustment expenses are reported in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings after deducting
amounts recovered and estimates of amounts recoverable under reinsurance contracts. Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the ceding company
of its obligations to indemnify policyholders with respect to the underlying insurance and reinsurance contracts.

The estimated liabilities of workers compensation claims assumed under certain reinsurance contracts are carried in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets at discounted amounts. Discounted amounts are based upon an annual discount rate of 4.5% for claims arising prior to 2003 and 1% for
claims arising after 2002, consistent with discount rates used under statutory accounting principles. The periodic discount accretion is included
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as a component of losses and loss adjustment expenses.

(m) Deferred charges reinsurance assumed
The excess of estimated liabilities for claims and claim costs over the consideration received with respect to retroactive property and casualty
reinsurance contracts that provide for indemnification of insurance risk is established as deferred charges at inception of such contracts. The
deferred charges are subsequently amortized using the interest method over the expected claim settlement periods. Changes to the estimated
timing or amount of loss payments produce changes in periodic amortization. Such changes in estimates are determined retrospectively and are
included in insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses in the period of the change.

(n) Insurance premium acquisition costs
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Costs that vary with and are related to the issuance of insurance policies are deferred, subject to ultimate recoverability, and are charged to
underwriting expenses as the related premiums are earned. Acquisition costs consist of commissions, premium taxes, advertising and other
underwriting costs. The recoverability of premium acquisition costs generally reflects anticipation of investment income. The unamortized
balances of deferred premium acquisition costs are included in other assets and were $1,698 million and $1,519 million at December 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively.
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(1) Significant accounting policies and practices (Continued)

(0) Regulated utilities and energy businesses
Certain domestic energy subsidiaries prepare their financial statements in accordance with SFAS 71, reflecting the economic effects from the
ability to recover certain costs from customers and the requirement to return revenues to customers in the future through the regulated
rate-setting process. Accordingly, certain costs are deferred as regulatory assets and obligations are accrued as regulatory liabilities which will
be amortized over various future periods. At December 31, 2008, the Consolidated Balance Sheet includes $2,156 million in regulatory assets
and $1,506 million in regulatory liabilities. At December 31, 2007, the Consolidated Balance Sheet includes $1,503 million in regulatory assets
and $1,629 million in regulatory liabilities. Regulatory assets and liabilities are components of other assets and other liabilities of utilities and
energy businesses.

Management continually assesses whether the regulatory assets are probable of future recovery by considering factors such as applicable
regulatory changes, recent rate orders received by other regulated entities and the status of any pending or potential legislation. If future recovery
of costs ceases to be probable, the amount no longer probable of recovery is charged to earnings.

(p) Foreign currency
The accounts of foreign-based subsidiaries are measured in most instances using the local currency of the subsidiary as the functional currency.
Revenues and expenses of these businesses are generally translated into U.S. Dollars at the average exchange rate for the period. Assets and
liabilities are translated at the exchange rate as of the end of the reporting period. Gains or losses from translating the financial statements of
foreign-based operations are included in shareholders equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains and losses
arising from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of Berkshire or the applicable subsidiary of Berkshire are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings except that gains or losses associated with available-for-sale securities are included as a
component of other comprehensive income.

(q) Income taxes
Berkshire and eligible subsidiaries file a consolidated Federal income tax return in the United States. In addition, Berkshire and subsidiaries also
file income tax returns in state, local and foreign jurisdictions as applicable. Provisions for current income tax liabilities are calculated and
accrued on income and expense amounts expected to be included in the income tax returns for the current year.

Deferred income taxes are calculated under the liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are based on differences between the
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities at the current enacted tax rates. Changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
that are associated with components of other comprehensive income are charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income. Otherwise,
changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities are included as a component of income tax expense. Changes in deferred income tax assets
and liabilities attributable to changes in enacted tax rates are charged or credited to income tax expense in the period of enactment. Valuation
allowances are established for certain deferred tax assets where realization is not likely.

Assets and liabilities are established for uncertain tax positions taken or positions expected to be taken in income tax returns when such positions
are judged to not meet the more-likely-than-not threshold based on the technical merits of the positions. Estimated interest and penalties related
to uncertain tax positions are included as a component of income tax expense.

(r)  Accounting pronouncements adopted in 2008 and 2007
Effective January 1, 2008, Berkshire adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 with respect to fair value measurements of financial assets and
liabilities. In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 157-3, Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset
Is Not Active ( FSP FAS 157-3 ), which was effective upon issuance. FSP FAS 157-3 clarifies the application of SFAS 157 in a market that is not
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active. The effect of adopting SFAS 157 was not material to Berkshire s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Effective January 1, 2008, Berkshire adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 ( SFAS 159 ). SFAS 159 permits entities to elect to measure financial
instruments and certain other items at fair value. Upon adoption of SFAS
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(1) Significant accounting policies and practices (Continued)
(r)  Accounting pronouncements adopted in 2008 and 2007 (Continued)

159, an entity may elect the fair value option for eligible items that existed at the adoption date. Berkshire did not elect the fair value option for
any eligible items.

In September 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-4 Disclosures about Derivatives and Certain Guarantees ( FSP FAS 133-1 ),
which requires sellers of credit derivatives to disclose additional information about credit derivatives and is effective for periods ending after
November 15, 2008. The adoption of FSP FAS 133-1 had no material impact on Berkshire s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Effective January 1, 2007, Berkshire adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109 ( FIN 48 ). Under FIN 48, a tax position taken is recognized if it is determined that the position will

more-likely-than-not be sustained upon examination by a taxing authority. FIN 48 also establishes measurement guidance with respect to
positions that have met the recognition threshold. The cumulative effect of adoption of FIN 48 was a decrease of $24 million in retained
earnings.

Effective January 1, 2007, Berkshire adopted FASB Staff Position No. AUG AIR-1 Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities

( AUG AIR-1 ). AUG AIR-1 prohibits the accrual of liabilities in periods before the maintenance is performed. Berkshire elected to use the direct
expense method where maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Previously, certain maintenance costs related to the fractional aircraft
ownership business were accrued in advance. The cumulative effect of this accounting change of $52 million was recorded as an increase in
retained earnings.

(s) Accounting pronouncements to be adopted in the future
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations ( SFAS 141R ). SFAS 141R changes the accounting
model for business combinations from a cost allocation standard to a standard that provides, with limited exceptions, for the recognition at fair
value of all identifiable assets and liabilities (including contingent assets and liabilities) of the business acquired, regardless of whether 100% or
a lesser controlling interest of the business is acquired. SFAS 141R defines the acquisition date of a business acquisition as the date on which
control is achieved (generally the closing date of the acquisition). SFAS 141R also provides that acquisition costs are expensed when incurred
and expands disclosures. SFAS 141R is effective for Berkshire with respect to business acquisitions completed after December 31, 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of ARB

No. 51 ( SFAS 160 ). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries
(formerly minority interests ). SFAS 160 also amends certain consolidation procedures for consistency with SFAS 141R. Under SFAS 160,
non-controlling interests are reported in the consolidated balance sheet as a separate component of shareholders equity. Changes in ownership
interests where the parent retains a controlling interest are to be reported as transactions affecting shareholders equity. Prior to the effective date
of SFAS 160, such transactions were reported as additional investment purchases (potentially resulting in recognition of additional assets) or as
sales (potentially resulting in realized gains or losses). SFAS 160 is effective for Berkshire as of January 1, 2009. When adopted, SFAS 160 is
applied prospectively except that the presentation and disclosure requirements are applied retrospectively for all periods presented.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 133 ( SFAS 161 ). SFAS 161 requires enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why derivative instruments are used, (b) how
derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity s
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim
periods beginning after November 15, 2008.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 163, Accounting for Financial Guarantee Insurance Contracts ( SFAS 163 ). SFAS 163 clarifies
accounting standards applicable to financial guarantee insurance contracts and specifies certain disclosures. SFAS 163 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, except certain disclosures were effective for periods beginning after
June 30, 2008.

Table of Contents 96



Edgar Filing: CERIDIAN CORP /DE/ - Form PRRN14A

Berkshire is continuing to evaluate the impact that these new accounting standards will have on its consolidated financial statements but
currently does not anticipate that the adoption of these accounting pronouncements will have a material effect on its consolidated financial
position.
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(2) Significant business acquisitions

Berkshire s long-held acquisition strategy is to purchase businesses with consistent earning power, good returns on equity and able and honest
management at sensible prices. During the last three years, Berkshire acquired several businesses which are described in the following
paragraphs.

On February 28, 2006, Berkshire acquired Business Wire, a leading global distributor of corporate news, multimedia and regulatory filings. On
March 21, 2006, PacifiCorp, a regulated electric utility providing service to customers in six Western states, was acquired for approximately
$5.1 billion in cash. In conjunction with the acquisition of PacifiCorp, Berkshire acquired additional common stock of MidAmerican for $3.4
billion, which increased its ownership interest in MidAmerican from approximately 83% to approximately 88%. On May 19, 2006, Berkshire
acquired 85% of Applied Underwriters, an industry leader in integrated workers compensation solutions. On July 5, 2006, Berkshire acquired
80% of the Iscar Metalworking Companies ( IMC ) for cash in a transaction that valued IMC at $5 billion. IMC, headquartered in Israel, is an
industry leader in the metal cutting tools business. IMC provides a comprehensive range of tools for the full scope of metalworking applications.
IMC s products are manufactured through a global network of world-class, technologically advanced manufacturing facilities and are sold
worldwide. On August 2, 2006, Berkshire acquired Russell Corporation, a leading branded athletic apparel and sporting goods company.
Consideration paid for all businesses acquired in 2006 was approximately $10.1 billion.

On March 30, 2007, Berkshire acquired TTI, Inc., a privately held electronic components distributor headquartered in Fort Worth, Texas. TTI,
Inc. is a leading distributor specialist of passive, interconnect and electromechanical components. Effective April 1, 2007, Berkshire acquired the
intimate apparel business of VF Corporation. Berkshire also acquired several other relatively smaller businesses during 2007. Consideration paid
for all businesses acquired in 2007 was approximately $1.6 billion.

On March 18, 2008, Berkshire acquired 60% of Marmon Holdings, Inc. ( Marmon ), a private company owned by trusts for the benefit of
members of the Pritzker Family of Chicago, for $4.5 billion. In the second quarter of 2008, Berkshire acquired additional shares and currently
owns 63.6% of Marmon. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, Berkshire will acquire the remaining minority interests in Marmon
between 2011 and 2014 for consideration to be based on the future earnings of Marmon. Berkshire also acquired several other relatively small
businesses during 2008. Consideration paid for all businesses acquired in 2008 was approximately $6.1 billion.

Marmon consists of approximately 130 manufacturing and service businesses that operate independently within eleven diverse business sectors.
These sectors are: Engineered Wire & Cable, serving energy related markets, residential and non-residential construction and other industries;
Building Wire, producing copper electrical wiring for residential, commercial and industrial buildings; Transportation Services & Engineered
Products, including railroad tank cars and intermodal tank containers; Highway Technologies, primarily serving the heavy-duty highway
transportation industry; Distribution Services for specialty pipe and steel tubing; Flow Products, producing a variety of metal products and
materials for the plumbing, HVAC/R, construction and industrial markets; Industrial Products, including metal fasteners, safety products and
metal fabrication; Construction Services, providing the leasing and operation of mobile cranes primarily to the energy, mining and petrochemical
markets; Water Treatment equipment for residential, commercial and industrial applications; Retail Store Fixtures, providing store fixtures and
accessories for major retailers worldwide; and Food Service Equipment, providing food preparation equipment and shopping carts for
restaurants and retailers worldwide. Marmon operates more than 250 manufacturing, distribution and service facilities, primarily in North
America, Europe and China. The Marmon purchase price allocation is summarized below (in millions).

Assets: Liabilities and net assets acquired:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 217 Accounts payable and other liabilities $ 1,040

Accounts receivable 970 Notes payable and other borrowings 1,071

Inventories 855 Income taxes, principally deferred 1,733

Property, plant and equipment and leased assets 6,280 Minority shareholders interest 1,568

Other, primarily goodwill and intangible assets 1,875 Net assets acquired 4,785
$10,197 $ 10,197
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(2) Significant business acquisitions (Continued)

The results of operations for each of these businesses are included in Berkshire s consolidated results from the effective date of each acquisition.
The following table sets forth certain unaudited pro forma consolidated earnings data for 2008 and 2007, as if each acquisition occurring during
2008 and 2007 was consummated on the same terms at the beginning of each year. Amounts are in millions, except earnings per share.

Total revenues
Net earnings
Earnings per equivalent Class A common share

(3) Investments in fixed maturity securities

Investments in securities with fixed maturities as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are shown below (in millions).

2008

Insurance and other:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. government corporations and agencies
States, municipalities and political subdivisions

Foreign governments

Corporate bonds and redeemable preferred stocks
Mortgage-backed securities

Finance and financial products:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. government corporations and agencies
States, municipalities and political subdivisions

Corporate bonds

Mortgage-backed securities

2007

Insurance and other:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. government corporations and agencies
States, municipalities and political subdivisions

Foreign governments

Corporate bonds and redeemable preferred stocks
Mortgage-backed securities

Finance and financial products:

Table of Contents

Amortized
Cost

$ 2,100
3,192
9,106

10,230
2,990

$ 27,618

1,312
568
2,410

$ 4,297

$ 3487
2,120
9,529
8,400
3,597

$ 27,133

2008 2007

$ 109,180 $ 125,904

5,098 13,326

3,291 8,621

Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Gains Losses * Value

$ 123 $ 2) $ 2,221
242 5) 3,429
343 59) 9,390
373 (1,500) 9,103
70 (88) 2,972
$ 1,151 $ (1,654) $27,115
$ $ $ 7
1,312
21 (68) 521
268 (D) 2,677
$ 289 % ©9) $ 4,517
$ 59 % $ 3,546
107 3) 2,224
76 @7 9,558
1,187 48) 9,539
62 (11) 3,648
$ 1,491 $ (109) $28,515
100
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Corporate bonds $ 420 $ 63 $ $ 483
Mortgage-backed securities 2,521 228 1) 2,748
$ 2941 $ 291  $ () $ 3231

* Includes gross unrealized losses of $176 million at December 31, 2008 and $60 million at December 31, 2007 related to securities that have
been in an unrealized loss position for 12 months or more.

As of December 31, 2008, fixed maturity investments included approximately $2.7 billion (Insurance and other ~ $1.4 billion and Finance and

financial products ~ $1.3 billion) of investment grade auction rate bonds and variable rate demand notes issued by various municipalities and

political subdivisions. The interest rates are periodically reset at up to 35 day intervals. While substantially all of these securities are insured by

third parties, acquisitions were limited to securities where Berkshire concluded that the underlying credit of the issuers was good without the

benefit of an insurer s guarantee.
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(3) Investments in fixed maturity securities (Continued)

Approximately 65% of these securities were rated A or higher without the benefit of an insurer guarantee (and approximately 54% of the
remaining securities were not rated on an underlying basis). Berkshire held no investments in these securities as of December 31, 2007.

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of securities with fixed maturities at December 31, 2008 are summarized below by contractual
maturity dates. Actual maturities will differ from contractual maturities because issuers of certain of the securities retain early call or prepayment
rights. Amounts are in millions.

Mortgage-backed

Due 2009 Due 2010 2013 Due 2014 2018 Due after 2018 securities Total
Amortized cost $ 4,027 $ 13,239 $ 4,808 $ 4,441 $ 5,400 $31,915
Fair value 4,091 13,373 3,822 4,697 5,649 31,632

(4) Investments in equity securities
Investments in equity securities are summarized below (in millions).

2008 2007
Cost $40,140  $44,695
Gross unrealized gains 14,782 31,289
Gross unrealized losses * (5,849) (985)
Fair value $49,073  $74,999
* Substantially all of the gross unrealized losses pertain to security positions that have been held for less than 12 months.
(5) Other Investments
A summary of other investments as of December 31, 2008 follows (in millions).
Unrealized Fair Carrying

Cost Gain Value Value
Other fixed maturity and equity investments $14452 $ 36  $14,488 $ 14,675
Equity method investments 5,919 352 6,271 6,860

$20,371 $ 388  $20,759  $ 21,535

During 2008, Berkshire acquired newly issued equity and debt instruments issued by Wm. Wrigley Jr. Company ( Wrigley ), The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc. ( GS ) and The General Electric Company (  GE ). These securities are reflected in other fixed maturity and equity investments in the
preceding table. In addition, Berkshire adopted the equity method with respect to its investments in Burlington Northern Santa Fe Corporation
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( BNSF ) and Moody s Corporation ( Moody s ).

On October 6, 2008, Berkshire acquired $4.4 billion par amount of 11.45% subordinated notes due 2018 of Wrigley ( Wrigley Notes ) and $2.1
billion of preferred stock of Wrigley ( Wrigley Preferred ). The Wrigley Notes and Wrigley Preferred were acquired in connection with Mars,
Incorporated s acquisition of Wrigley. Berkshire may not transfer, sell or assign the Wrigley Notes or Wrigley Preferred to third parties.
Berkshire has classified the Wrigley Notes as held-to-maturity and accordingly is carrying the Wrigley Notes at cost. Dividends are payable on
the Wrigley Preferred at a rate of 5% per annum. The Wrigley Preferred is subject to certain put and call arrangements in 2016 and annually
beginning in 2021. The redemption amount of the Wrigley Preferred is based upon the future earnings of Wrigley.

On October 1, 2008, Berkshire acquired 50,000 shares of 10% Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock of GS ( GS Preferred ) and Warrants to
purchase 43,478,260 shares of common stock of GS ( GS Warrants ) for an aggregate cost of $5 billion. The GS Preferred may be redeemed at
any time by GS at a price of $110,000 per share ($5.5 billion in aggregate). The GS Warrants expire in 2013 and can be exercised for an
aggregate cost of $5 billion ($115/share).
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(5) Other Investments (Continued)

On October 16, 2008, Berkshire acquired 30,000 shares of 10% Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock of GE ( GE Preferred ) and Warrants to
purchase 134,831,460 shares of common stock of GE ( GE Warrants ) for an aggregate cost of $3 billion. The GE Preferred may be redeemed
beginning in October 2011 by GE at a price of $110,000 per share ($3.3 billion in aggregate). The GE Warrants expire in 2013 and can be
exercised for an aggregate cost of $3 billion ($22.25/share).

Berkshire began acquiring common shares of BNSF in 2006 and prior to December 31, 2008 accounted for this investment as an
available-for-sale equity security recorded in the financial statements at fair value. During the fourth quarter of 2008, Berkshire acquired
additional shares of BNSF common stock and increased its economic and voting interest to 20.7% (70.1 million shares) as of December 31,
2008. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2008, Berkshire adopted the equity method of accounting with respect to this investment.

Berkshire has owned 48 million shares of Moody s common stock since 2000. Prior to December 31, 2008, this investment was accounted for as
an available-for-sale equity security recorded in the financial statements at fair value. Over the last several years, Berkshire s voting and
economic interest has steadily increased due to share repurchases by Moody s and as of December 31, 2008, Berkshire s voting and economic
interest was 20.4%. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2008, Berkshire adopted the equity method of accounting with respect to this investment.

The cumulative effect of adopting the equity method with respect to the investments in Moody s and BNSF was recorded in the financial
statements as of December 31, 2008 and prior years financial statements have not been restated. As a result of adopting the equity method,
Berkshire s shareholders equity increased by $626 million as compared to the amount that would have been recorded had these investments
continued to be recorded at fair value.

As of December 31, 2008, Berkshire s equity in net assets of BNSF and Moody s was $2,106 million and the excess of Berkshire s carrying value
over its equity in net assets of BNSF and Moody s was $4,754 million. BNSF is engaged primarily in the freight rail transportation business and
operates one of the largest North American rail networks with about 32,000 route miles in 28 states and two Canadian provinces. BNSF

transports coal and a wide range of consumer, industrial and agricultural products. Moody s is a provider of credit ratings and related research,

data and analytical tools, quantitative credit risk measures, risk scoring software and credit portfolio management solutions. Berkshire does not
engage in significant business transactions with BNSF or Moody s. However, Berkshire has periodically engaged Moody s to provide credit
ratings in connection with debt issuances by Berkshire and certain subsidiaries.

(6) Investment gains/losses
Investment gains/losses are summarized below (in millions).

2008 2007 2006
Fixed maturity securities
Gross gains from sales and other disposals $ 212 $ 657 $ 279
Gross losses from sales and other disposals (20) (35) )
Equity securities
Gross gains from sales and other disposals 1,256 4,880 1,562
Gross losses from sales (530) @) 44)
Losses from other-than-temporary impairments (1,813) (142)
Other 255 103 165

$ (640) $5,598 $1,811

Net investment gains/losses are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as follows.
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Insurance and other $(647) $ 5405 $ 1,697
Finance and financial products 7 193 114

$(640) $ 5598 §$ 1,811
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(7) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables of insurance and other businesses are comprised of the following (in millions).

2008 2007
Insurance premiums receivable $ 4961 $ 47215
Reinsurance recoverables 3,235 3,171
Trade and other receivables 7,141 6,179
Allowances for uncollectible accounts 412) (408)

$14,925 $13,157

Loans and finance receivables of finance and financial products businesses are comprised of the following (in millions).

2008 2007
Consumer installment loans and finance receivables $13,190 $11,506
Commercial loans and finance receivables 1,050 1,003
Allowances for uncollectible loans (298) (150)

$13942 $12,359

Allowances for uncollectible loans primarily relate to consumer installment loans. Provisions for consumer loan losses were $305 million in
2008 and $176 million in 2007. Loan charge-offs were $215 million in 2008 and $197 million in 2007. Consumer loan amounts are net of
acquisition discounts of $684 million at December 31, 2008 and $452 million at December 31, 2007.

(8) Inventories
Inventories are comprised of the following (in millions).

2008 2007
Raw materials $1,161 $ 897
Work in process and other 607 479
Finished manufactured goods 2,580 1,781
Purchased goods 3,152 2,636

$7,500 $5,793

9) Goodwill
A reconciliation of the change in the carrying value of goodwill for 2008 and 2007 is as follows (in millions).
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2008 2007
Balance at beginning of year $32,862 $32,238
Acquisitions of businesses and other 919 624
Balance at end of year $33,781 $32,862
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(10) Property, plant, equipment and assets held for lease
Property, plant, equipment and assets held for lease of insurance and other businesses is comprised of the following (in millions).

Ranges of
estimated useful life 2008 2007

Land $ 751 $ 607
Buildings and improvements 3 40 years 4,351 3,611
Machinery and equipment 3 25years 11,009 9,507
Furniture, fixtures and other 3 20 years 1,856 1,670
Assets held for lease 12 30 years 5,311

23,278 15,395
Accumulated depreciation (6,575) (5,426)

$16,703 $ 9,969

Assets held for lease consist primarily of railroad tank cars, intermodal tank containers and other equipment in the transportation and equipment
services businesses of Marmon, which were acquired by Berkshire in March 2008. As of December 31, 2008, the minimum future lease rentals
to be received on the equipment lease fleet (including rail cars leased from others) were as follows (in millions): 2009  $660; 2010  $528; 2011
$392;2012 $281;2013 $181; and thereafter $384.

Property, plant and equipment of utilities and energy businesses is comprised of the following (in millions).

Ranges of
estimated useful life 2008 2007

Utility generation, distribution and transmission system 5 85years $ 32,795 $ 30,369
Interstate pipeline assets 3 67 years 5,649 5,484
Independent power plants and other assets 3 30 years 1,228 1,330
Construction in progress 1,668 1,745

41,340 38,928
Accumulated depreciation (12,886) (12,707)

$ 28,454 $ 26,221

The utility generation, distribution and transmission system and interstate pipeline assets are the regulated assets of public utility and natural gas
pipeline subsidiaries. At December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, accumulated depreciation and amortization related to regulated assets was
$12.5 billion and $12.3 billion, respectively. Substantially all of the construction in progress at December 31, 2008 and 2007 related to the
construction of regulated assets.
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(11) Derivatives

Derivative contracts of Berkshire s finance and financial products businesses, with limited exceptions, are not designated as hedges for financial
reporting purposes. Changes in the fair values of such contracts that do not qualify as hedges are reported in the Consolidated Statements of
Earnings as derivative gains/losses. A summary of these contracts as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 follows (in millions).

2008 2007
Notional Notional
Assets @  Liabilities  Value®  Assets @ Liabilities  Value @
Equity index put options $ $ 10,022 $37,134) $ $ 4,610 $35,0430)
Credit default obligations:
High yield indexes 3,031 7,8923) 1,838 4,6603)
Individual corporate 105 3,900,
States/municipalities 958 18,364
Other 503 528 749 489
Counterparty netting and funds held as collateral (295) 32) (50) (50)
$ 208 $ 14,612 $699 $ 6,887

) Not discounted for time value.

(2 Represents the aggregate undiscounted amount payable at the contract expiration dates assuming that the value of each index is zero at
the contract expiration date.

() Represents the maximum undiscounted future value of losses payable under the contracts, assuming a sufficient number of credit defaults
occur. The number of losses required to exhaust contract limits under substantially all of the contracts is dependent on the loss recovery
rate related to the specific obligor at the time of the default.

@ Included in other assets of finance and financial products businesses.

As of December 31, 2008, Berkshire has written equity index put option contracts on four major equity indexes, including three indexes outside
of the United States. These contracts are European style options (exercisable only at the expiration date) and at inception had durations of 15 to
20 years. At December 31, 2008, the weighted average remaining life of these contracts was approximately 13.5 years with expiration dates
between September 2019 and January 2028. Substantially all of these contracts were written on an at-the-money basis (i.e. strike price equaled
market price when contract was written). Future payments, if any, under these contracts will be based on the decline in the underlying index
value below the strike price at the contract expiration date. Premiums on these contracts were received at the contract inception dates and
therefore Berkshire has no counterparty credit risk.

At December 31, 2008, the intrinsic value of the equity index put option contracts was $10.8 billion. The intrinsic value represents Berkshire s
undiscounted liability at December 31, 2008, assuming these contracts are settled on their future expiration dates based on the December 31,
2008 index values. However, these contracts generally may not be terminated or fully settled before the expiration dates and therefore the
ultimate amount of cash basis gains or losses on these contracts will not be known for years.

Berkshire has written credit default contracts on various high-yield indexes, state/municipal debt issuers and individual corporations. These
contracts cover the loss in value of specified debt obligations of the issuers arising from default events which are usually for non-payment or
bankruptcy. Loss amounts are subject to contract limits.
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High yield indexes are comprised of specified corporate issuers (usually 100 in number) in North America whose obligations are rated below
investment grade. These contracts generally cover the loss in value of a referenced obligation upon a default by an issuer over the contract period
(usually 5 years). The weighted average contract duration at December 31, 2008 was approximately 2 !/3 years. Payments by Berkshire under
these contracts are limited to specified amounts per issuer as well as aggregate limits.

In 2008, Berkshire also wrote a small number of contracts providing for payments upon defaults on debt issued by several states and
municipalities. The weighted average contract duration at December 31, 2008 was approximately 12 years.
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(11) Derivatives (Continued)

Premiums on the high yield index and state/municipality contracts were received at the inception dates of the contracts and as a result Berkshire
has no counterparty credit risk. Berkshire s payment obligations under certain of these contracts are on a first loss basis. Several other contracts
are subject to an aggregate loss deductible that must be satisfied before Berkshire has any payment obligations or contain provisions that
otherwise delay payment obligations arising from defaults.

During 2008, Berkshire also wrote credit default contracts on individual issuers in North America whose obligations are primarily rated as
investment grade and where installment premiums are due from counterparties over the terms of the contracts. In most instances, premiums are
due from counterparties on a quarterly basis. Most individual issuer contracts had a five year term when written.

The equity index put option contracts and credit default contracts were entered into with the expectation that amounts ultimately paid to
counterparties will be less than the premiums received. Berkshire views these contracts as economically similar to insurance contracts,
notwithstanding the fair value accounting requirements for derivatives contracts.

Most of Berkshire s equity index put option and credit default contracts contain no collateral posting requirements with respect to changes in
either the fair value or intrinsic value of the contracts and/or a downgrade of Berkshire s credit rating. Under certain conditions, a few contracts
require that Berkshire post collateral. At December 31, 2008, Berkshire had posted collateral of approximately $550 million with counterparties,
related to these contracts.

Berkshire is also exposed to variations in the market prices in the purchases and sales of natural gas and electricity and in commodity fuel costs
with respect to its regulated utility operations. Derivative instruments, including forward purchases and sales, futures, swaps and options are
used to manage these commodity price risks. Unrealized gains and losses under these contracts are either probable of recovery through rates and
therefore are recorded as a regulatory net asset or liability or are accounted for as cash flow hedges and therefore are recorded as accumulated
other comprehensive income or loss. Derivative contract assets included in other assets of utilities and energy businesses were $324 million and
$397 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Derivative contract liabilities included in accounts payable, accruals and other
liabilities of utilities and energy businesses were $729 million and $765 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(12) Supplemental cash flow information
A summary of supplemental cash flow information for each of the three years ending December 31, 2008 is presented in the following table (in
millions).

2008 2007 2006
Cash paid during the year for:
Income taxes $3530 $5,895 $ 4,959
Interest of finance and financial products businesses 537 569 514
Interest of utilities and energy businesses 1,172 1,118 937
Interest of insurance and other businesses 182 182 195
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Investments received in connection with the Equitas reinsurance transaction 6,529
Liabilities assumed in connection with acquisitions of businesses 4,763 612 12,727
Fixed maturity securities sold or redeemed offset by decrease in directly related repurchase agreements 599 460
Equity/fixed maturity securities exchanged for other securities/investments 2,329 258
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(13) Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses

The balances of unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are based upon estimates of the ultimate claim costs associated with property and
casualty claim occurrences as of the balance sheet dates including estimates for incurred but not reported ( IBNR ) claims. Considerable judgment
is required to evaluate claims and establish estimated claim liabilities.

Supplemental data with respect to unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses of property/casualty insurance subsidiaries is as follows (in
millions).

2008 2007 2006
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses:
Gross liabilities at beginning of year $ 56,002 $ 47,612 $ 48,034
Ceded losses and deferred charges at beginning of year (7,126) (4,833) (5,200)
Net balance at beginning of year 48,876 42,779 42,834
Incurred losses recorded during the year:
Current accident year 17,399 22,488 13,680
Prior accident years (1,140) (1,478) 612)
Total incurred losses 16,259 21,010 13,068
Payments during the year with respect to:
Current accident year (6,905) (6,594) (5,510)
Prior accident years (8,486) (8,865) (9,345)
Total payments (15,391) (15,459) (14,855)
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses:
Net balance at end of year 49,744 48,330 41,047
Ceded losses and deferred charges at end of year 7,133 7,126 4,833
Foreign currency translation adjustment (616) 534 608
Acquisitions 359 12 1,124
Gross liabilities at end of year $ 56,620 $ 56,002 $ 47,612

Incurred losses prior accident years reflects the amount of estimation error charged or credited to earnings in each calendar year with respect to
the liabilities established as of the beginning of that year. The beginning of the year net losses and loss adjustment expenses liability was reduced
by $1,690 million in 2008, $1,793 million in 2007 and $1,071 million in 2006. In each year, the reductions in loss estimates for occurrences in
prior years were primarily due to lower than expected severities and frequencies on reported and settled claims in primary private passenger and
commercial auto lines and lower than expected reported reinsurance losses in both property and casualty lines. Accident year loss estimates are
regularly adjusted to consider emerging loss development patterns of prior years losses, whether favorable or unfavorable.

Prior accident years incurred losses also include amortization of deferred charges related to retroactive reinsurance contracts incepting prior to
the beginning of the year. Amortization charges included in prior accident years losses were $451 million in 2008, $213 million in 2007 and
$358 million in 2006. Certain workers compensation loss reserves are discounted. Net discounted liabilities at December 31, 2008 and 2007
were $2,403 million and $2,436 million, respectively, reflecting net discounts of $2,616 million and $2,732 million, respectively. Periodic
accretions of these discounts are also a component of incurred prior accident years losses. The accretion of discounted liabilities related to prior
years losses was approximately $99 million in 2008, $102 million in 2007 and $101 million in 2006.
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Berkshire s insurance subsidiaries are exposed to environmental, asbestos and other latent injury claims arising from insurance and reinsurance
contracts. Loss reserve estimates for environmental and asbestos exposures include case basis reserves and also reflect reserves for legal and
other loss adjustment expenses and IBNR reserves. IBNR reserves are determined based upon Berkshire s historic general liability exposure base
and policy language, previous environmental loss experience and the assessment of current trends of environmental law, environmental cleanup
costs, asbestos liability law and judgmental settlements of asbestos liabilities.

75

Table of Contents 113



Edgar Filing: CERIDIAN CORP /DE/ - Form PRRN14A

Table of Conten

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(13) Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses (Continued)

The liabilities for environmental, asbestos and latent injury claims and claims expenses net of reinsurance recoverables were approximately
$10.7 billion at December 31, 2008 and $11.2 billion at December 31, 2007. These liabilities included approximately $9.2 billion at

December 31, 2008 and $9.7 billion at December 31, 2007 of liabilities assumed under retroactive reinsurance contracts. Liabilities arising from
retroactive contracts with exposure to claims of this nature are generally subject to aggregate policy limits. Thus, Berkshire s exposure to
environmental and latent injury claims under these contracts is, likewise, limited. Berkshire monitors evolving case law and its effect on
environmental and latent injury claims. Changing government regulations, newly identified toxins, newly reported claims, new theories of
liability, new contract interpretations and other factors could result in significant increases in these liabilities. Such development could be
material to Berkshire s results of operations. It is not possible to reliably estimate the amount of additional net loss or the range of net loss that is
reasonably possible.

In November 2006, the Berkshire Hathaway Reinsurance Group s lead insurance entity, National Indemnity Company ( NICO ) and Equitas, a
London based entity established to reinsure and manage the 1992 and prior years non-life insurance and reinsurance liabilities of the Names or
Underwriters at Lloyd s of London, entered into an agreement for NICO to initially provide up to $5.7 billion and potentially provide up to an
additional $1.3 billion of reinsurance to Equitas in excess of its undiscounted loss and allocated loss adjustment expense reserves as of

March 31, 2006. The transaction became effective on March 30, 2007. The agreement requires that NICO pay all claims and related costs that
arise from the underlying insurance and reinsurance contracts of Equitas, subject to the aforementioned excess limit of indemnification. On the
effective date, the aggregate limit of indemnification, which does not include unallocated loss adjustment expenses, was $13.8 billion. A
significant amount of loss exposure associated with Equitas is related to asbestos, environmental and latent injury claims.

NICO received substantially all of Equitas assets as consideration under the arrangement. The fair value of such consideration was $7.1 billion
and included approximately $540 million in cash and miscellaneous receivables plus a combination of fixed maturity and equity securities which
were delivered in April 2007. The cash and miscellaneous receivables received are included in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows for 2007 as components of operating cash flows. The investment securities received are reported as a non-cash investing activity.

The Equitas agreement was accounted for as reinsurance in accordance with SFAS No. 113  Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of
Short-Duration and Long-Duration Contracts. Accordingly, premiums earned of $7.1 billion and losses incurred of $7.1 billion are reflected in
the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. Losses incurred consisted of an estimated liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses of
$9.3 billion less an asset for unamortized deferred charges reinsurance assumed of $2.2 billion. The deferred charge asset is being amortized
over the expected remaining loss settlement period using the interest method and the periodic amortization is being charged to earnings as a
component of losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred.

(14) Notes payable and other borrowings
Notes payable and other borrowings of Berkshire and its subsidiaries are summarized below (in millions).

2008 2007
Insurance and other:
Issued or guaranteed by Berkshire due 2009-2035 $2,275 $1,682
Issued by subsidiaries and not guaranteed by Berkshire due 2009-2041 2,074* 998

$ 4,349 $2,680

* Includes $1.1 billion of debt of subsidiaries acquired in 2008.
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2008 2007
Utilities and energy:
Issued by MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company ( MidAmerican ) and its subsidiaries and not guaranteed by Berkshire:
MidAmerican senior unsecured debt due 2009-2037 $ 5121 $ 5471
Subsidiary debt due 2009-2038 13,573 13,227
Other 451 304

$ 19,145 $19,002
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(14) Notes payable and other borrowings (Continued)

Subsidiary debt of utilities and energy businesses represents amounts issued by subsidiaries of MidAmerican pursuant to separate financing
agreements. All or substantially all of the assets of certain utility subsidiaries are or may be pledged or encumbered to support or otherwise
secure the debt. These borrowing arrangements generally contain various covenants including, but not limited to, leverage ratios, interest
coverage ratios and debt service coverage ratios. As of December 31, 2008, MidAmerican and its subsidiaries were in compliance with all
applicable covenants. During 2008, MidAmerican and its subsidiaries issued $2.15 billion of notes with maturities ranging from 2012 to 2038.

2008 2007
Finance and financial products:
Issued by Berkshire Hathaway Finance Corporation ( BHFC ) and guaranteed by Berkshire $10,778 $ 8,886
Issued by other subsidiaries and guaranteed by Berkshire due 2009-2027 706 804
Issued by other subsidiaries and not guaranteed by Berkshire 2009-2030 1,904 2,454

$13,388 $12,144

Debt issued by BHFC matures between 2010 and 2018. During 2008, BHFC issued $5.0 billion of senior notes, and repaid $3.1 billion of
maturing notes. Borrowings by BHFC are used to provide financing for consumer installment loans.

Berkshire subsidiaries in the aggregate have approximately $3.8 billion of available unused lines of credit and commercial paper capacity to
support their short-term borrowing programs and provide additional liquidity. Generally, Berkshire s guarantee of a subsidiary s debt obligation is
an absolute, unconditional and irrevocable guarantee for the full and prompt payment when due of all present and future payment obligations of
the issuer.

Principal payments expected during the next five years are as follows (in millions).

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Insurance and other $2365 $ 240 $ 110 $ 98 $ 101
Utilities and energy 1,258 121 1,134 1,457 633
Finance and financial products 301 2,150 1,632 1,633 3,557

$3,924 $2511 $2.876 $3,188 $4,291

(15) Income taxes
The liability for income taxes as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 as reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets is as follows (in
millions).

2008 2007
Payable currently $ 161 $ (182)
Deferred 9,316 18,156
Other 303 851

Table of Contents 116



Table of Contents

Edgar Filing: CERIDIAN CORP /DE/ - Form PRRN14A

71

$ 10,280

$ 18,825

117



Edgar Filing: CERIDIAN CORP /DE/ - Form PRRN14A

Table of Conten

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(15) Income taxes (Continued)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31,

2008 and 2007 are shown below (in millions).

Deferred tax liabilities:

Investments unrealized appreciation and cost basis differences
Deferred charges reinsurance assumed

Property, plant and equipment and assets held for lease

Other

Deferred tax assets:

Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
Unearned premiums

Accrued liabilities

Derivative contract liabilities

Other

Net deferred tax liability

Deferred income taxes have not been established with respect to undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries. Earnings expected to

2008

$ 4,805
1,373
7,004
4,024

17,206

(896)
(495)
(1,698)
(2,144)
(2,657)

(7,890)

$ 9316

2007
$ 13,501
1,395

4,890
2,743

22,529
(756)
(425)

(1,259)

(1,933)

(4,373)

$ 18,156

remain reinvested indefinitely were approximately $3,430 million as of December 31, 2008. Upon distribution as dividends or otherwise, such
amounts would be subject to taxation in the United States as well as foreign countries. However, U.S. income tax liabilities could be offset, in
whole or in part, by tax credits allowable from taxes paid to foreign jurisdictions. Determination of the potential net tax due is impracticable due

to the complexities of hypothetical calculations involving uncertain timing and amounts of taxable income and the effects of multiple taxing

jurisdictions.

The Consolidated Statements of Earnings reflect charges for income taxes as shown below (in millions).

Federal
State
Foreign

Current
Deferred

Table of Contents

2008

$ 915
249
814

$ 1,978

$ 3,811
(1,833)

$ 1,978

2007
$5,740
234
620

$ 6,594

$5,708
886

$6,594

2006
$4,752
153
600

$5,505

$ 5,030
475

$ 5,505
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(15) Income taxes (Continued)

Charges for income taxes are reconciled to hypothetical amounts computed at the U.S. Federal statutory rate in the table shown below (in
millions).

2008 2007 2006
Earnings before income taxes $7.574 $20,161 $16,778
Hypothetical amounts applicable to above computed at the Federal statutory rate $2,651 $ 7,056 $ 5,872
Tax-exempt interest income (88) (33) 44)
Dividends received deduction 415) (306) (224)
State income taxes, less Federal income tax benefit 162 152 99
Foreign tax rate differences (59) (36) (45)
Effect of income tax rate changes on deferred income taxes * (90)
Non-taxable exchange of investment (154)
Other differences, net (119) (149) (153)
Total income taxes $1978 $ 6,594 $ 5,505

*  Relates to adjustments made to deferred income tax assets and liabilities in 2007 upon the enactment of reductions to corporate income tax
rates in the United Kingdom and Germany.
Berkshire or its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state, local and foreign jurisdictions. Berkshire
subsidiaries are under examination in many of these jurisdictions. With few exceptions, Berkshire and its subsidiaries have settled tax return
liabilities with U.S. federal, state, local, or foreign tax authorities for years before 1999. During 2008, Berkshire and the U.S. Internal Revenue
Service ( IRS ) have tentatively resolved all proposed adjustments for the 1999 through 2001 tax years at the IRS Appeals level. The IRS has
completed the examination of the consolidated U.S. federal income tax returns for the 2002 through 2004 tax years. The proposed adjustments,
predominantly related to timing of deductions for insurance subsidiaries, are currently being reviewed in the IRS appeals process. The IRS is
currently auditing our consolidated U.S. federal income tax returns for the 2005 and 2006 tax years. While it is reasonably possible that certain
of the income tax examinations will be settled within the next twelve months, management believes that there are no jurisdictions in which the
outcome of unresolved issues or claims is likely to be material to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007 net unrecognized tax benefits were $803 million and $851 million, respectively. Included in the balance at
December 31, 2008, are approximately $650 million of tax positions that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate. The remaining
balance in net unrecognized tax benefits principally relates to tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which
there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. Because of the impact of deferred tax accounting, other than interest and penalties, the
disallowance of the shorter deductibility period would not affect the annual effective tax rate but would accelerate the payment of cash to the
taxing authority to an earlier period. As of December 31, 2008, management does not expect any material changes to the estimated amount of
unrecognized tax benefits in the next twelve months.

(16) Dividend restrictions Insurance subsidiaries
Payments of dividends by insurance subsidiaries are restricted by insurance statutes and regulations. Without prior regulatory approval,
insurance subsidiaries may declare up to approximately $9 billion as ordinary dividends before the end of 2009.
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Combined shareholders equity of U.S. based property/casualty insurance subsidiaries determined pursuant to statutory accounting rules
(Statutory Surplus as Regards Policyholders) was approximately $51 billion at December 31, 2008 and $62 billion at December 31, 2007. The
decline in statutory surplus in 2008 was primarily due to declines in market values of equity securities.

Statutory surplus differs from the corresponding amount determined on the basis of GAAP. The major differences between statutory basis
accounting and GAAP are that deferred charges reinsurance assumed, deferred policy acquisition costs, unrealized gains and losses on
investments in fixed maturity securities and related deferred income taxes are recognized under GAAP but not for statutory reporting purposes.
In addition, statutory accounting for goodwill of acquired businesses requires amortization of goodwill over 10 years, whereas under GAAP,
goodwill is not amortized and is subject to periodic tests for impairment.
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(17) Fair value measurements

The estimated fair values of Berkshire s financial instruments as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are shown in the following table (in millions).
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities are deemed to be
reasonable estimates of their fair values.

Carrying Value Fair Value

2008 2007 2008 2007
Insurance and other:
Investments in fixed maturity securities $27,115 $28,515 $27,115 $28,515
Investments in equity securities 49,073 74,999 49,073 74,999
Other investments 21,535 20,759
Notes payable and other borrowings 4,349 2,680 4,300 2,709
Finance and financial products:
Investments in fixed maturity securities 4,517 3,056 4,517 3,231
Derivative contract assets (/) 208 699 208 699
Loans and finance receivables 13,942 12,359 14,016 12,612
Notes payable and other borrowings 13,388 12,144 13,820 12,317
Derivative contract liabilities 14,612 6,887 14,612 6,887
Utilities and energy:
Derivative contract assets (/) 324 397 324 397
Notes payable and other borrowings 19,145 19,002 19,144 19,834
Derivative contract liabilities % 729 765 729 765

D Included in Other assets

) Included in Accounts payable, accruals and other liabilities

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as
of the measurement date. Fair value measurements assume the asset or liability is exchanged in an orderly manner; the exchange is in the
principal market for that asset or liability (or in the most advantageous market when no principal market exists); and the market participants are
independent, knowledgeable, able and willing to transact an exchange. Nonperformance risk (credit risk) is considered in valuing liabilities.

Fair values for substantially all of Berkshire s financial instruments were measured using market or income approaches. Considerable judgment
may be required in interpreting market data used to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not
necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in an actual current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or
estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value.

SFAS 157 establishes a framework for measuring fair value by creating a hierarchy for observable independent market inputs and unobservable
market assumptions. The hierarchy consists of three levels, ranging from the category the FASB deems to be most reliable to a category where
fair value is measured using significant unobservable inputs because of the lack of observable market prices for the instrument, or Levels 1
through 3, respectively. A further description of the inputs used in the valuation of assets and liabilities under the three levels are as follows.

Level 1 Inputs represent unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities exchanged in active markets. Substantially all of Berkshire s
equity investments are traded on an exchange in active markets and fair value is based on the closing price as of the balance sheet date.

Level 2 Inputs include directly or indirectly observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities
exchanged in active or inactive markets; quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities exchanged in inactive markets; other inputs that are
considered in fair value determinations of the assets or liabilities, such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted
intervals, volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss severities, credit risks and default rates; and inputs that are derived principally from or
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corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. Fair values for Berkshire s investments in fixed maturity securities are
primarily based on market prices and market data available for instruments with similar characteristics since active markets are not common for
many instruments. Pricing evaluations are based on yield curves for instruments with similar characteristics, such as credit rating, estimated
duration, and yields for other instruments of the issuer or entities in the same industry sector.
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(17) Fair value measurements (Continued)

Level 3 Inputs include unobservable inputs used in the measurement of assets and liabilities. Management is required to use its own
assumptions regarding unobservable inputs because there is little, if any, market activity in the assets or liabilities or related observable inputs
that can be corroborated at the measurement date. Measurements of non-exchange traded derivative contracts and certain other investments
carried at fair value are based primarily on valuation models, discounted cash flow models or other valuation techniques that are believed to be
used by market participants. Unobservable inputs require management to make certain projections and assumptions about the information that
would be used by market participants in pricing assets or liabilities. Berkshire values its equity index put option contracts based on the
Black-Scholes option valuation model which Berkshire believes is used widely by market participants. Credit default contracts are primarily
valued based on indications of bid or offer data as of the balance sheet date. These contracts are not exchange traded and certain of the terms of
Berkshire s contracts are not standard in derivatives markets. In particular, Berkshire is not required to post collateral under most of its contracts.
For these reasons, Berkshire has classified these contracts as Level 3.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the financial statements as of December 31, 2008 are summarized in the following table
by the type of inputs applicable to the fair value measurements (in millions).

Quoted Significant Other Significant
Total Prices Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Insurance and other:

Investments in fixed maturity securities $ 27,115 $ 4,961 $ 21,650 $ 504
Investments in equity securities 49,073 48,666 79 328
Other investments 8,223 8,223
Finance and financial products:

Investments in fixed maturity securities 4,517 4,382 135
Net derivative contract liabilities 14,404 288 14,116
Utilities and energy:

Net derivative contract liabilities 405 2 403

A reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis with the use of significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) from
January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008 follows (in millions).

Investments Net
in fixed Investments derivative
maturity in equity Other contract
securities securities investments liabilities
Balance at January 1, 2008 $ 393 $ 356 $ $ (6,784)
Gains (losses) included in:
Earnings * 3 (6,765)
Other comprehensive income (16) (29) 223 1
Regulatory assets and liabilities (110)
Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements 259 8,000 (874)
Transfers into (out of) Level 3 1 13
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 639 $ 328 $ 8223 $ (14,519)
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* Gains and losses related to changes in valuations are included in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as a component of investment
gains/losses, derivative gains/losses or other revenues as appropriate. Substantially all of the losses included in earnings were unrealized
losses related to liabilities outstanding as of December 31, 2008.
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(18) Common stock
Changes in issued and outstanding Berkshire common stock during the three years ended December 31, 2008 are shown in the table below.

Class A, $5 Par Value Class B, $0.1667 Par Value

(1,650,000 shares authorized) (55,000,000 shares authorized)

Shares Issued and Outstanding Shares Issued and Outstanding

Balance December 31, 2005 1,260,920 8,394,083
Conversions of Class A common stock to Class B

common stock and other (143,352) 4,358,348

Balance December 31, 2006 1,117,568 12,752,431
Conversions of Class A common stock to Class B

common stock and other (36,544) 1,247,649

Balance December 31, 2007 1,081,024 14,000,080
Conversions of Class A common stock to Class B

common stock and other (22,023) 706,916

Balance December 31, 2008 1,059,001 14,706,996

Each share of Class B common stock has dividend and distribution rights equal to one-thirtieth (1/30) of such rights of a Class A share.
Accordingly, on an equivalent Class A common stock basis there are 1,549,234 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and 1,547,693
shares as of December 31, 2007.

Each share of Class A common stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into thirty shares of Class B common stock. Class B common
stock is not convertible into Class A common stock. On July 6, 2006, Berkshire s Chairman and CEO, Warren E. Buffett converted 124,998
shares of Class A common stock into 3,749,940 shares of Class B common stock. Each share of Class B common stock possesses voting rights
equivalent to one-two-hundredth (1/200) of the voting rights of a share of Class A common stock. Class A and Class B common shares vote
together as a single class.

(19) Pension plans

Several Berkshire subsidiaries individually sponsor defined benefit pension plans covering certain employees. Benefits under the plans are
generally based on years of service and compensation, although benefits under certain plans are based on years of service and fixed benefit rates.
The companies generally make contributions to the plans to meet regulatory requirements plus additional amounts as determined by
management based on actuarial valuations.

The components of net periodic pension expense for each of the three years ending December 31, 2008 are as follows (in millions).

2008 2007 2006
Service cost $ 176 $ 202 $ 199
Interest cost 452 439 390
Expected return on plan assets (463) (444) (393)
Other 20 65 67
Net pension expense $ 185 $ 262 $ 263
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(19) Pension plans (Continued)

The accumulated benefit obligation is the actuarial present value of benefits earned based on service and compensation prior to the valuation
date. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the accumulated benefit obligation was $6,693 million and $6,990 million, respectively. The projected
benefit obligation is the actuarial present value of benefits earned based upon service and compensation prior to the valuation date and, if
applicable, includes assumptions regarding future compensation levels. Information regarding the projected benefit obligations is shown in the
table that follows (in millions).

2008 2007

Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year $7,683 $7,926
Service cost 176 202
Interest cost 452 439
Benefits paid (455) 476)
Business acquisitions 249

Actuarial (gain) or loss and other (518) (408)
Projected benefit obligation, end of year $ 7,587 $ 7,683

Benefit obligations under qualified U.S. defined benefit plans are funded through assets held in trusts and are not included as assets in Berkshire s
Consolidated Financial Statements. Pension obligations under certain non-U.S. plans and non-qualified U.S. plans are unfunded. As of

December 31, 2008, projected benefit obligations of non-qualified U.S. plans and non-U.S. plans which are not funded through assets held in
trusts were $604 million. A reconciliation of the changes in plan assets and a summary of plan assets held as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 is
presented in the table that follows (in millions).

2008 2007 2008 2007
Plan assets at beginning of year $ 7,063 $6,792  Cash and equivalents $ 517 $ 427
Employer contributions 279 262  U.S. Government obligations 121 186
Benefits paid (455) (476) Mortgage-backed securities 282 390
Actual return on plan assets (1,244) 447  Corporate obligations 942 1,005
Business acquisitions 188 Equity securities 2,864 4,169
Other and expenses (509) 38  Other 596 886
Plan assets at end of year $ 5322 $7,063 $5,322 $7,063

Pension plan assets are generally invested with the long-term objective of earning sufficient amounts to cover expected benefit obligations, while
assuming a prudent level of risk. There are no target investment allocation percentages with respect to individual or categories of investments.
Allocations may change as a result of changing market conditions and investment opportunities. The expected rates of return on plan assets
reflect Berkshire s subjective assessment of expected invested asset returns over a period of several years. Berkshire generally does not give
significant consideration to past investment returns when establishing assumptions for expected long-term rates of returns on plan assets. Actual
experience will differ from the assumed rates.

The defined benefit plans expect to pay benefits to participants over the next ten years, reflecting expected future service as appropriate, as
follows (in millions): 2009  $405; 2010  $398;2011 $413;2012 $431;2013 $446; and 2014 to 2018 - $2,460. Sponsoring subsidiaries expect
to contribute $245 million to defined benefit pension plans in 2009.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the net funded status of the plans is summarized in the table that follows (in millions).
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2008 2007
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:
Other liabilities $2,357 $ 981
Other assets 92) (361)

$2,265 $ 620
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(19) Pension plans (Continued)

A reconciliation of amounts not yet recognized in net periodic benefit expense for the years ending December 31, 2008 and 2007 follows (in
millions).

2008 2007
Net amount included in accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of year $(164) $(303)
Amount included in net periodic pension expense 10 25
Gains/losses current period (699) 114
Net amount included in accumulated other comprehensive income, end of year $(853)" $(164)

s

Includes $42 million that is expected to be included in net periodic pension expense in 2009.
Weighted average interest rate assumptions used in determining projected benefit obligations were as follows. These rates are substantially the
same as the weighted average rates used in determining the net periodic pension expense.

2008 2007
Discount rate 6.3% 6.1%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 6.9 6.9
Rate of compensation increase 4.2 4.4

Several Berkshire subsidiaries also sponsor defined contribution retirement plans, such as 401(k) or profit sharing plans. Employee contributions
to the plans are subject to regulatory limitations and the specific plan provisions. Several of the plans require that the subsidiary match these
contributions up to levels specified in the plans and provide for additional discretionary contributions as determined by management. The total
expenses related to employer contributions for these plans were $519 million, $506 million and $498 million for the years ended December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(20) Contingencies and Commitments

Berkshire and its subsidiaries are parties in a variety of legal actions arising out of the normal course of business. In particular, such legal actions
affect Berkshire s insurance and reinsurance businesses. Such litigation generally seeks to establish liability directly through insurance contracts
or indirectly through reinsurance contracts issued by Berkshire subsidiaries. Plaintiffs occasionally seek punitive or exemplary damages.
Berkshire does not believe that such normal and routine litigation will have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.
Berkshire and certain of its subsidiaries are also involved in other kinds of legal actions, some of which assert or may assert claims or seek to
impose fines and penalties in substantial amounts.

a)  Governmental Investigations
Berkshire, General Re Corporation ( General Re ) and certain of Berkshire s insurance subsidiaries, including General Reinsurance Corporation
( General Reinsurance ) and National Indemnity Company ( NICO ) have been continuing to cooperate fully with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission ( SEC ), the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Attorney for the Eastern District of Virginia and the New York State Attorney
General ( NYAG ) in their ongoing investigations of non-traditional products. General Re originally received subpoenas from the SEC and
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NYAG in January 2005. Berkshire, General Re, General Reinsurance and NICO have been providing information to the government relating to
transactions between General Reinsurance or NICO (or their respective subsidiaries or affiliates) and other insurers in response to the January
2005 subpoenas and related requests and, in the case of General Reinsurance (or its subsidiaries or affiliates), in response to subpoenas from
other U.S. Attorneys conducting investigations relating to certain of these transactions. In particular, Berkshire and General Re have been
responding to requests from the government for information relating to certain transactions that may have been accounted for incorrectly by
counterparties of General Reinsurance (or its subsidiaries or affiliates). The government has interviewed a number of current and former officers
and employees of General Re and General Reinsurance as well as Berkshire s Chairman and CEO, Warren E. Buffett, in connection with these
vestigations.

In one case, a transaction initially effected with American International Group ( AIG ) in late 2000 (the AIG Transaction ), AIG has corrected its
prior accounting for the transaction on the grounds, as stated in AIG s 2004 10-K, that the transaction was done to accomplish a desired

accounting result and did not entail sufficient qualifying risk transfer to support reinsurance accounting. General Reinsurance has been named in
related civil actions brought against AIG. As part of their ongoing investigations, governmental authorities have also inquired about the

accounting by certain of Berkshire s insurance subsidiaries for certain assumed and ceded finite reinsurance transactions.
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(20) Contingencies and Commitments (Continued)

In June 2005, John Houldsworth, the former Chief Executive Officer of Cologne Reinsurance Company (Dublin) Limited ( CRD ), a subsidiary of
General Re, and Richard Napier, a former Senior Vice President of General Re who had served as an account representative for the AIG

account, each pleaded guilty to a federal criminal charge of conspiring with others to misstate certain AIG financial statements in connection

with the AIG Transaction and entered into a partial settlement agreement with the SEC with respect to such matters.

On February 25, 2008, Ronald Ferguson, General Re s former Chief Executive Officer, Elizabeth Monrad, General Re s former Chief Financial
Officer, Christopher Garand, a former General Reinsurance Senior Vice President and Robert Graham, a former General Reinsurance Senior
Vice President and Assistant General Counsel, were each convicted in a trial in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut on charges
of conspiracy, mail fraud, securities fraud and making false statements to the SEC in connection with the AIG Transaction. These individuals
have the right to appeal their convictions. Following their convictions, each of these individuals agreed to a judgment of a forfeiture allegation
which required them to be jointly and severally liable for a payment of $5 million to the U.S. Government. This $5 million amount, which
represented the fee received by General Reinsurance in connection with the AIG Transaction, was paid by General reinsurance in April 2008.
Each of these individuals, who had previously received a Wells notice in 2005 from the SEC, is also the subject of an SEC enforcement action
for allegedly aiding and abetting AIG s violations of the antifraud provisions and other provisions of the federal securities laws in connection
with the AIG Transaction. The SEC case is presently stayed. Joseph Brandon, who resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of General Re
effective on April 14, 2008, also received a Wells notice from the SEC in 2005.

Berkshire understands that the government is evaluating the actions of General Re and its subsidiaries, as well as those of their counterparties, to
determine whether General Re or its subsidiaries conspired with others to misstate counterparty financial statements or aided and abetted such
misstatements by the counterparties. Berkshire believes that government authorities are continuing to evaluate possible legal actions against
General Re and its subsidiaries.

Various state insurance departments have issued subpoenas or otherwise requested that General Reinsurance, NICO and their affiliates provide
documents and information relating to non-traditional products. The Office of the Connecticut Attorney General has also issued a subpoena to
General Reinsurance for information relating to non-traditional products. General Reinsurance, NICO and their affiliates have been cooperating
fully with these subpoenas and requests.

CRD is also providing information to and cooperating fully with the Irish Financial Services Regulatory Authority in its inquiries regarding the
activities of CRD. The Office of the Director of Corporate Enforcement in Ireland is conducting a preliminary evaluation in relation to CRD
concerning, in particular, transactions between CRD and AIG. CRD is cooperating fully with this preliminary evaluation.

Berkshire cannot at this time predict the outcome of these matters and is unable to estimate a range of possible loss and cannot predict whether
or not the outcomes will have a material adverse effect on Berkshire s business or results of operations for at least the quarterly period when these
matters are completed or otherwise resolved.

b)  Civil Litigation
Litigation Related to ROA

General Reinsurance and several current and former employees, along with numerous other defendants, have been sued in thirteen federal
lawsuits involving Reciprocal of America ( ROA ) and related entities. ROA was a Virginia-based reciprocal insurer and reinsurer of physician,
hospital and lawyer professional liability risks. Nine are putative class actions initiated by doctors, hospitals and lawyers that purchased
insurance through ROA or certain of its Tennessee-based risk retention groups. These complaints seek compensatory, treble, and punitive
damages in an amount plaintiffs contend is just and reasonable.

General Reinsurance is also subject to actions brought by the Virginia Commissioner of Insurance, as Deputy Receiver of ROA, the Tennessee
Commissioner of Insurance, as Receiver for purposes of liquidating three Tennessee risk retention groups, a state lawsuit filed by a
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Missouri-based hospital group that was removed to federal court and another state lawsuit filed by an Alabama doctor that was also removed to
federal court. The first of these actions was filed in March 2003 and additional actions were filed in April 2003 through June 2006. In the action
filed by the Virginia Commissioner of Insurance, the Commissioner asserts in several of its claims that the alleged damages are believed to
exceed $200 million in the aggregate as against all defendants.
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(20) Contingencies and Commitments (Continued)

All of these cases are collectively assigned to the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Tennessee for pretrial proceedings. General
Reinsurance filed motions to dismiss all of the claims against it in these cases and, in June 2006, the court granted General Reinsurance s motion
to dismiss the complaints of the Virginia and Tennessee receivers. The court granted the Tennessee receiver leave to amend her complaint, and
the Tennessee receiver filed her amended complaint on August 7, 2006. General Reinsurance has filed a motion to dismiss the amended
complaint in its entirety and that motion was granted, with the court dismissing the claim based on an alleged violation of RICO with prejudice
and dismissing the state law claims without prejudice. One of the other defendants filed a motion for the court to reconsider the dismissal of the
state law claims, requesting that the court retain jurisdiction over them. That motion is pending.

The Tennessee Receiver subsequently filed three Tennessee state court actions against General Reinsurance, essentially asserting the same state
law claims that had been dismissed without prejudice by the Federal court. General Reinsurance removed those actions to Federal court, and the
Judicial Panel on Multi-District Litigation ultimately transferred these actions to the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Tennessee.

The Virginia receiver has moved for reconsideration of the dismissal and for leave to amend his complaint, which was opposed by General
Reinsurance. The court affirmed its original ruling but has given the Virginia receiver leave to amend. In September 2006, the court also
dismissed the complaint filed by the Missouri-based hospital group. The Missouri-based hospital group has filed a motion for reconsideration of
the dismissal and for leave to file an amended complaint. General Reinsurance has filed its opposition to that motion and awaits a ruling by the
court. The court has also not yet ruled on General Reinsurance s motions to dismiss the complaints of the other plaintiffs. The parties have
commenced discovery.

General Reinsurance filed a Complaint and a motion in federal court to compel the Tennessee and Virginia receivers to arbitrate their claims
against General Reinsurance. The receivers filed motions to dismiss the Complaint. These motions are pending.

Actionsrelated to AIG
General Reinsurance is a defendant in In re American International Group Securities Litigation, Case No. 04-CV-8141-(LTS), United States
District Court, Southern District of New York, a putative class action (the AIG Securities Litigation ) asserted on behalf of investors who
purchased publicly-traded securities of AIG between October 1999 and March 2005. The complaint, originally filed in April 2005, asserts
various claims against AIG and certain of its officers, directors, investment banks and other parties, including Messrs. Ferguson, Napier and
Houldsworth (whom the Complaint defines, together with General Reinsurance, as the General Re Defendants ). The Complaint alleges that the
General Re Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 in connection with the AIG Transaction. The
Complaint seeks damages and other relief in unspecified amounts. General Reinsurance has answered the Complaint, denying liability and
asserting various affirmative defenses. Discovery is ongoing, with a current discovery cut-off of December 1, 2009. Lead plaintiffs filed a
motion for class certification on February 20, 2008. Various defendants, including General Reinsurance, have filed oppositions to class
certification. The court has not yet ruled on the motion. On May 29, 2008, General Reinsurance filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings.
Plaintiffs filed an opposition to that motion on June 30, 2008. The court has not ruled on that motion. The lead plaintiffs and General
Reinsurance have reached agreement concerning the terms of a settlement that would resolve all claims against the General Re Defendants in
exchange for a payment by General Reinsurance of $72 million. This settlement remains subject to court approval.

A member of the putative class in the litigation described in the preceding paragraph has asserted similar claims against General Re and

Mr. Ferguson in a separate complaint, Florida State Board of Administration v. General Re Corporation, et al., Case No. 06-CV-3967, United
States District Court, Southern District of New York. The claims against General Re and Mr. Ferguson closely resemble those asserted in the
class action. The complaint does not specify the amount of damages sought. General Re has answered the Complaint, denying liability and
asserting various affirmative defenses. No trial date has been established. The parties are coordinating discovery and other proceedings among
this action, a similar action filed by the same plaintiff against AIG and others, the class action described in the preceding paragraph, and the
shareholder derivative actions described in the next two paragraphs.

On July 27, 2005, General Reinsurance received a Summons and a Verified and Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint in In re American
International Group, Inc. Derivative Litigation, Case No. 04-CV-08406, United States District
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Court, Southern District of New York. The complaint, brought by several alleged shareholders of AIG, seeks damages, injunctive and
declaratory relief against various officers and directors of AIG as well as a variety of individuals and entities with whom AIG did business,
relating to a wide variety of allegedly wrongful practices by AIG. The allegations relating to General Reinsurance focus on the AIG Transaction,
and the complaint purports to assert causes of action in connection with that transaction for aiding and abetting other defendants breaches of
fiduciary duty and for unjust enrichment. The complaint does not specify the amount of damages or the nature of any other relief sought.
Subsequently, this derivative litigation was stayed by stipulation between the plaintiffs and AIG. That stay remains in place.

In August 2005, General Reinsurance received a Summons and First Amended Consolidated Shareholders Derivative Complaint in In re
American International Group, Inc. Consolidated Derivative Litigation, Case No. 769-N, Delaware Chancery Court. In June 2007, AIG filed an
Amended Complaint in the Delaware Derivative Litigation asserting claims against two of its former officers, but not against General
Reinsurance. On September 28, 2007, AIG and the shareholder plaintiffs filed a Second Combined Amended Complaint, in which AIG asserted
claims against certain of its former officers and the shareholder plaintiffs asserted claims against a number of other defendants, including
General Reinsurance and General Re. The claims asserted in the Delaware complaint are substantially similar to those asserted in the New York
derivative complaint, except that the Delaware complaint makes clear that the plaintiffs are asserting claims against both General Reinsurance
and General Re. General Reinsurance and General Re filed a motion to dismiss on November 30, 2007. Various parties moved to stay discovery
and/or all proceedings in the Delaware derivative litigation. At a hearing held on February 12, 2008, the Court ruled that discovery would be
stayed pending the resolution of the claims asserted against AIG in the AIG Securities Litigation. The briefing on the motions filed by General
Reinsurance and General Re was completed by September 8, 2008. The court heard argument on certain other defendants motions to dismiss on
November 7, 2008 and issued a decision on February 10, 2009 granting some defendants motions and denying others. The court has not yet
heard oral argument on the motions filed by General Reinsurance and General Re and has not ruled on those motions.

FAI/HIH Matter
In December 2003, the Liquidators of both FAI Insurance Limited ( FAI ) and HIH Insurance Limited ( HIH ) advised GRA and Cologne Re that
they intended to assert claims arising from insurance transactions GRA entered into with FAI in May and June 1998. In August 2004, the
Liquidators filed claims in the Supreme Court of New South Wales in order to avoid the expiration of a statute of limitations for certain
plaintiffs. The focus of the Liquidators allegations against GRA and Cologne Re are the 1998 transactions GRA entered into with FAI (which
was acquired by HIH in 1999). The Liquidators contend, among other things, that GRA and Cologne Re engaged in deceptive conduct that
assisted FAI in improperly accounting for such transactions as reinsurance, and that such deception led to HIH s acquisition of FAI and caused
various losses to FAI and HIH. The Liquidator of HIH served its Complaint on GRA and Cologne Re in June 2006 and discovery has been
ongoing. The FAI Liquidator dismissed his complaint against GRA and Cologne Re. GRA and Cologne Re recently entered into a settlement in
principle with the HIH Liquidator. The parties are still formulating a settlement deed, which will be subject to court approval.

Berkshire has established reserves for certain of the legal proceedings discussed above where it has concluded that the likelihood of an
unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. For other legal proceedings discussed above, either
Berkshire has determined that an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible but it is unable to estimate a range of possible losses or it is unable
to predict the outcome of the matter. Management believes that any liability to the Company that may arise as a result of current pending civil
litigation, including the matters discussed above, will not have a material effect on Berkshire s financial condition or results of operations.

c¢)  Commitments
Berkshire subsidiaries lease certain manufacturing, warehouse, retail and office facilities as well as certain equipment. Rent expense for all
leases was $725 million in 2008, $648 million in 2007 and $578 million in 2006. Minimum rental payments for operating leases having initial or
remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year are as follows. Amounts are in millions.
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2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2013 Total
$583 $ 483 $ 406 $ 340 $ 247 $ 1,056 $ 3,115

Several of Berkshire s subsidiaries have made long-term commitments to purchase goods and services used in their businesses. The most
significant of these relate to NetJets commitments to purchase up to 556 aircraft through 2018 and
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MidAmerican s commitments to purchase coal, electricity and natural gas. As of December 31, 2008, commitments under all such subsidiary
arrangements were approximately $6.6 billion in 2009, $4.0 billion in 2010, $2.9 billion in 2011, $2.5 billion in 2012, $2.1 billion in 2013 and
$7.2 billion after 2013.

Berkshire is obligated to acquire the remaining minority shareholders interests of Marmon (36.4%) in stages between 2011 and 2014. Based
upon the initial purchase price, the cost to Berkshire of the minority shareholders interest would be approximately $2.7 billion. However, the
consideration payable for the minority shareholders interest is contingent upon future operating results of Marmon and the per share cost could
be greater than or less than the initial per share price.

Berkshire is also obligated under certain conditions to acquire minority ownership interests of certain consolidated, but not wholly-owned
subsidiaries, pursuant to the terms of certain shareholder agreements with the minority shareholders. The consideration payable for such interests
is generally based on the fair value of the subsidiary. If Berkshire acquired all such outstanding minority ownership interest holdings as of
December 31, 2008, the cost to Berkshire would have been approximately $4 billion. However, the timing and the amount of any such future
payments that might be required are contingent on future actions of the minority owners and future operating results of the related subsidiaries.

(21) Business segment data

Berkshire s reportable business segments are organized in a manner that reflects how management views those business activities. Certain
businesses have been grouped together for segment reporting based upon similar products or product lines, marketing, selling and distribution
characteristics, even though those business units are operated under separate local management.

The tabular information that follows shows data of reportable segments reconciled to amounts reflected in the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Intersegment transactions are not eliminated in instances where management considers those transactions in assessing the results of
the respective segments. Furthermore, Berkshire management does not consider investment and derivative gains/losses or amortization of
purchase accounting adjustments in assessing the performance of reporting units. Collectively, these items are included in reconciliations of
segment amounts to consolidated amounts.

Business Identity Business Activity

GEICO Underwriting private passenger automobile insurance mainly by
direct response methods

General Re Underwriting excess-of-loss, quota-share and facultative
reinsurance worldwide

Berkshire Hathaway Reinsurance Group Underwriting excess-of-loss and quota-share reinsurance for
property and casualty insurers and reinsurers

Berkshire Hathaway Primary Group Underwriting multiple lines of property and casualty insurance
policies for primarily commercial accounts

BH Finance, Clayton Homes, XTRA, CORT and other financial services  Proprietary investing, manufactured housing and related consumer
( Finance and financial products ) financing, transportation equipment leasing, furniture leasing, life
annuities and risk management products

Marmon An association of approximately 130 manufacturing and service

businesses that operate within 11 diverse business sectors
McLane Company Wholesale distribution of groceries and non-food items
MidAmerican
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Regulated electric and gas utility, including power generation and
distribution activities in the U.S. and internationally; domestic real
estate brokerage

Shaw Industries Manufacturing and distribution of carpet and floor coverings under
a variety of brand names
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Other businesses not specifically identified with reportable business segments consist of a large, diverse group of manufacturing, service and
retailing businesses.

Manufacturing Acme Building Brands, Benjamin Moore, H.H. Brown Shoe Group,
CTB, Fechheimer Brothers, Forest River, Fruit of the Loom, Garan,
IMC, Johns Manville, Justin Brands, Larson-Juhl, MiTek, Richline,
Russell and Scott Fetzer

Service Buffalo News, Business Wire, FlightSafety, International Dairy
Queen, Pampered Chef, NetJets and TTI

Retailing Ben Bridge Jeweler, Borsheims, Helzberg Diamond Shops, Jordan s
Furniture, Nebraska Furniture Mart, See s, Star Furniture and R.C.
Willey

A disaggregation of Berkshire s consolidated data for each of the three most recent years is presented in the tables which follow on this and the

following two pages (in millions).

Earnings (loss) before taxes

Revenues and minority interests

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Operating Businesses:
Insurance group:
Premiums earned:
GEICO $ 12479 $ 11,806 $11,055 $ 916 $ 1,113 $ 1,314
General Re 6,014 6,076 6,075 342 555 526
Berkshire Hathaway Reinsurance Group 5,082 11,902 4,976 1,324 1,427 1,658
Berkshire Hathaway Primary Group 1,950 1,999 1,858 210 279 340
Investment income 4,759 4,791 4,347 4,722 4,758 4,316
Total insurance group 30,284 36,574 28,311 7,514 8,132 8,154
Finance and financial products 4,947 5,119 5,124 787 1,006 1,157
Marmon * 5,529 733
McLane Company 29,852 28,079 25,693 276 232 229
MidAmerican 13,971 12,628 10,644 2,963 1,774 1,476
Shaw Industries 5,052 5,373 5,834 205 436 594
Other businesses 25,666 25,648 21,133 2,809 3,279 2,703

115,301 113,421 96,739 15,287 14,859 14,313

Reconciliation of segments to consolidated amount:

Investment and derivative gains/losses (7,461) 5,509 2,635 (7,461) 5,509 2,635
Interest expense, not allocated to segments 35) 52) (76)
Eliminations and other 54) (685) (835) 217) (155) ©
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